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payments by the Registrant.
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This document comprises the annual report on Form 20-F and the annual report to shareholders for the year ended 30 June 2003
of Diageo plc (the 2003 Form 20-F). Reference is made to the cross reference to Form 20-F table on page 144 hereof (the
Form 20-F Cross reference table). Only (i) the information in this document that is referenced in the Form 20-F Cross reference
table, (ii) the cautionary statement concerning forward-looking statements on page 18 and (iii) the Exhibits, shall be deemed to be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission for any purpose, including incorporation by reference into the Registration
Statements on Form F-3 (File Nos. 333-10410, 333-14100 and 333-110804) and Registration Statements on Form S-8 (File Nos.
333-08090, 333-08092, 333-08094, 333-08096, 333-08098, 333-08100, 333-08102, 333-08104, 333-08106, 333-09770,
333-11460 and 333-11462), and any other documents, including documents filed by Diageo plc pursuant to the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, which purport to incorporate by reference the 2003 Form 20-F. Any information herein which is not referenced
in the Form 20-F Cross reference table, or the Exhibits themselves, shall not be deemed to be so incorporated by reference.
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This is the annual report on Form 20-F of Diageo plc for the year ended 30 June 2003.

The market data contained in this document is taken from independent industry sources in the markets in which Diageo operates.
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The reporting format has been revised to separate goodwill amortisation from exceptional items. Goodwill amortisation is now included in the �before
exceptional items� column of the profit and loss account.

This document contains forward-looking statements that involve risk and uncertainty. There are a number of factors that could cause actual results
and developments to differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements, including factors beyond Diageo�s
control. For more details, please refer to the cautionary statement concerning forward-looking statements on page 18.

This report includes names of Diageo�s products, which constitute trademarks or trade names which Diageo owns or which others own and licence
to Diageo for use. In this report, the term �company� refers to Diageo plc and the terms �group� and �Diageo� refer to the company and its consolidated
subsidiaries, except as the context otherwise requires. A glossary of terms used in this report is included at the end of the document.

Diageo�s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United Kingdom
(UK GAAP), which is the group�s primary reporting framework. Unless otherwise indicated all other financial information contained in this document
has been prepared in accordance with UK GAAP. The principal differences between UK and US GAAP are discussed in the operating and financial
review and set out in the consolidated financial statements.
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Explanatory Note

     The purpose of this amendment is to amend Diageo�s US GAAP treatment for deferred tax associated with minimum pension liabilities as of
and for the year ended 30 June 2003. The amendment results in a deferred tax charge of £53 million being reclassified from other comprehensive
deficit to net income and a reversal of deferred tax of £118 million previously charged to other comprehensive deficit. The overall effect is
therefore a reduction of £53 million in net income, a reduction in the comprehensive deficit of £118 million and an increase in shareholders�
equity of £118 million. The amendment does not affect operating income or cash flow under US GAAP nor does it affect Diageo�s principal
financial information prepared under UK GAAP.

     Diageo is including certain certifications of the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer.

     This amendment amends �Item 3 � Key Information�, �Item 5 � Operating and Financial Review and Prospects�, �Item 18 � Financial Statements� and
�Item 19 � Exhibits�.

     Other than as expressly set forth above, this Form 20-F/A does not, and does not purport to, amend, update or restate the information in any
other Item of the Form 20-F filed on 26 November 2003 or reflect any events that have occurred after the Form 20-F was filed.

     Diageo intends to announce its results for the six months ended 31 December 2003 on 19 February 2004.
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Five year information

The following table presents selected consolidated financial data for Diageo for the five years ended 30 June 2003 and as at the
respective year ends. The UK GAAP data for the five years ended 30 June 2003 and the US GAAP data for the three years ended
30 June 2003 have been derived from Diageo�s consolidated financial statements, which have been audited by Diageo�s
independent auditor. The US GAAP data for the two years ended 30 June 2000 has been extracted from Diageo�s US GAAP
audited consolidated financial statements.

Year ended 30 June
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Profit and loss account data(1)
£

million £ million £ million £ million £ million
UK GAAP
Turnover:
Premium drinks 8,961 8,704 7,580 7,117 7,163
Discontinued operations(2) 479 2,578 5,241 4,753 4,632
Total turnover 9,440 11,282 12,821 11,870 11,795
Operating profit before exceptional items:(3)(4)
Premium drinks 1,976 1,766 1,430 1,285 1,240
Discontinued operations(2) 53 340 671 678 659
Total operating profit before exceptional items 2,029 2,106 2,101 1,963 1,899
Exceptional items charged to operating profit(4) (168) (453) (228) (181) (382)
Operating profit 1,861 1,653 1,873 1,782 1,517
Other exceptional items(4) (1,334) 758 (4) (166) 86
Profit for the year 76 1,617 1,207 990 937
US GAAP(2)

Sales 9,153 10,760 11,868 11,015 11,579
Gains/(losses) on disposals of businesses 16 1,843 (8) 75 (35)
Net income (2003 restated(11)) 434 2,554 758 798 392

Per share data pence pence pence pence pence
UK GAAP
Dividend per share(6) 25.6 23.8 22.3 21.0 19.5
Earnings per share:
Basic 2.4 48.8 35.7 29.2 26.5
Diluted 2.4 48.7 35.7 29.1 26.4
Earnings before exceptional items per ordinary share:
Basic 49.0 43.2 41.6 37.3 33.5
Diluted 49.0 43.1 41.6 37.3 33.3
US GAAP (2003 restated(11))
Basic earnings per ordinary share 13.9 77.0 22.4 23.5 11.1
Diluted earnings per ordinary share 13.9 77.0 22.4 23.5 11.0
Basic earnings per ADS 55.6 308.0 89.6 94.0 44.4
Diluted earnings per ADS 55.6 308.0 89.6 94.0 44.0
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As at 30 June
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Balance sheet data(1) £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
UK GAAP
Net current (liabilities)/assets(7) (392) (32) 226 (115) (941)
Total assets 16,197 18,493 17,644 16,089 16,216
Net borrowings(7) 4,870 5,496 5,479 5,545 6,056
Shareholders� equity 4,954 6,001 5,123 4,664 3,964
Called up share capital(8) 897 930 987 990 992
US GAAP
Total assets(9) 24,071 26,153 25,955 24,868 25,586
Long term obligations(7) 3,149 3,892 4,029 3,753 3,431
Shareholders� equity (2003 restated(11)) 9,344 11,316 11,880 11,802 11,690

million million million million million
Number of ordinary shares(8) 3,100 3,215 3,411 3,422 3,428

Notes to the selected consolidated financial data

1 Seagram The results and balance sheets for the two years ended 30 June 2003 have been affected by the acquisition of the
Seagram spirits and wine businesses on 21 December 2001. See �Operating and financial review � Operating results�.

2 Discontinued operations Included within UK GAAP discontinued operations are the quick service restaurants business (Burger
King sold 13 December 2002) and the packaged food businesses (Pillsbury sold 31 October 2001). The quick service restaurants
and packaged food businesses have been included in continuing operations under US GAAP. There are no discontinued
operations under US GAAP.
3 Brands and goodwill amortisation An analysis of goodwill amortisation charged to UK GAAP operating profit is as follows:

Year ended 30 June
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

£
million £ million £ million £ million £ million

Continuing operations � premium drinks (2) (2) (2) (1) �
Discontinued operations (2) (10) (24) (16) (4)

(4) (12) (26) (17) (4)

An analysis of brands and goodwill amortisation charged to US GAAP operating income is as follows:
Year ended 30 June

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
£

million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Premium drinks � � (220) (222) (230)
Quick service restaurants � � (70) (40) (39)
Packaged food � � (145) (130) (123)

� � (435) (392) (392)
The group adopted the requirements of SFAS No. 141 and SFAS No. 142 for the first time on 1 July 2001. Accordingly amortisation
of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives ceased from that date. In addition, in the year ended 30 June 2002 an impairment in
the carrying value of goodwill attributable to the group�s quick service restaurants business of £135 million was recognised.
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4 Exceptional items An analysis of exceptional items before taxation under UK GAAP is as follows:
Year ended 30 June

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
£

million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Exceptional items charged to operating profit
Continuing operations � premium drinks:
Seagram integration costs (177) (164) � � �
Guinness/UDV integration costs (48) (48) (74) � �
GrandMet/Guinness merger integration costs � � � (83) (262)
Other integration and restructuring costs � � (79) � �
Bass distribution rights 57 � � � �
José Cuervo settlement � (220) � � �
Share option funding costs � � � � (43)

(168) (432) (153) (83) (305)
Discontinued operations:
Restructuring, reorganisation and other net costs � (21) (75) (98) (77)

(168) (453) (228) (181) (382)
Other exceptional items
Charged to associates (21) (41) � (3) (8)
(Losses)/gains on disposal of fixed assets (43) (22) 19 5 (10)
(Losses)/gains on disposal and termination of businesses (1,270) 821 (23) (168) 104

(1,334) 758 (4) (166) 86
Exceptional items under UK GAAP do not represent extraordinary items under US GAAP.

5 Unusual items An analysis of unusual (charges)/income, excluding gains/(losses) on disposal of businesses and (losses)/gains
on disposal of fixed assets, included in, and affecting the comparability of, US GAAP operating income, is as follows:

Year ended 30 June
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

£
million £ million £ million £ million £ million

Seagram integration costs (154) (82) � � �
Other integration and restructuring costs (48) (48) (169) (115) (272)
Bass distribution rights 57 � � � �
José Cuervo settlement � (194) � � �
Derivative instruments in respect of General Mills shares (4) 166 � � �
Burger King impairment charges and transaction costs (750) (135) � � �
Other impairment charges � � � � (74)

(899) (293) (169) (115) (346)
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6 Dividends The Diageo plc board expects that Diageo will pay an interim dividend in April and a final dividend in October of each
year. Approximately 40% of the total dividend in respect of any financial year is expected to be paid as an interim dividend and
approximately 60% as a final dividend. The payment of any future dividends, subject to shareholder approval, will depend upon
Diageo�s earnings, financial condition and such other factors as the Diageo plc board deems relevant.

The table below sets out the amounts of interim, final and total cash dividends paid by Diageo plc on each ordinary share. The
dividends are translated into US dollars per ADS (each ADS representing four ordinary shares) at the noon buying rate on each of
the respective dividend payment dates.

Year ended 30 June
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

pence pence pence pence pence
Per ordinary share Interim 9.9 9.3 8.9 8.4 7.8

Final 15.7 14.5 13.4 12.6 11.7
Total 25.6 23.8 22.3 21.0 19.5

$ $ $ $ $
Per ADS Interim 0.61 0.54 0.51 0.53 0.50

Final 1.06 0.90 0.78 0.72 0.76
Total 1.67 1.44 1.29 1.25 1.26

7 Definitions Net current (liabilities)/assets is defined as current assets less current liabilities. Net borrowings is defined as total
borrowings (i.e. short term borrowings and long term borrowings plus finance lease obligations) less cash at bank and liquid
resources, interest rate and foreign currency swaps and current asset investments. Long term obligations is defined as long term
borrowings and capital lease obligations which fall due after more than one year.

8 Share capital The called up share capital represents the number of ordinary shares in issue. During the year ended 30
June 2003 the group repurchased for cancellation 116 million ordinary shares at a cost of £852 million (2002 � 198 million ordinary
shares, cost of £1,658 million; 2001 � 18 million ordinary shares, cost of £108 million; 2000 � 10 million ordinary shares, cost of £54
million; 1999 � 175 million shares, cost of £1,211 million (including £15 million for �B� shares)).

9 Burger King Under UK GAAP, the sale of Burger King has been accounted for as a disposal and the results prior to disposal are
presented within discontinued operations. Under US GAAP, the transaction is not accounted for as a disposal due to the size of the
investment made by the buyer and Diageo�s continuing involvement through the guarantee provided by Diageo in respect of the
acquisition finance. Under US GAAP, the results of Burger King prior to 13 December 2002 (the completion date) are presented as
continuing operations in the income statement and, on the completion of the transaction, a charge for impairment has been
recognised rather than a loss on disposal. Following the completion date, Diageo does not recognise profits of Burger King in its
income statement but will, generally, reflect losses as an impairment charge against the assets retained on the balance sheet. In
the US GAAP balance sheet, the total assets and total liabilities of Burger King at 30 June 2003 (including consideration deferred
under US GAAP) classified within �other long term assets� and �other long term liabilities� were each £1.3 billion. The transaction will
be accounted for as a disposal when the uncertainties related to the guarantee provided in respect of the acquisition finance have
been substantially resolved and/or the buyer�s cumulative investment meets or exceeds minimum levels.
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10 Exchange rates A substantial portion of the group�s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses is denominated in currencies
other than pound sterling, principally US dollars. For a discussion of the impact of exchange rate fluctuations on the company�s
financial condition and results of operations, see �Operating and financial review � Risk management�.

The following table shows, for the periods indicated, information regarding the US dollar/pound sterling exchange rate, based on
the noon buying rate, expressed in US dollars per £1.

Year ended 30 June
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Period end 1.65 1.52 1.41 1.51 1.58
Average rate (a) 1.59 1.45 1.45 1.59 1.64

(a) The average of the noon buying rates on the last business day of each month during the year. These rates have been provided
for your convenience. They are not necessarily the rates that have been used in this document for currency translations or in the
preparation of the financial statements. See note 2 (i)(c) to the consolidated financial statements for the actual rates used.

     The following table shows period end and average US dollar/pound sterling noon buying exchange rates by month, for the
period to 31 October 2003, expressed in US dollars per £1.

2003
October September August July June May April

Period end 1.70 1.66 1.58 1.61 1.65 1.64 1.60
Average rate 1.68 1.62 1.59 1.62 1.66 1.62 1.57
The average rate for the period 1 to 14 November 2003 was £1=$1.68 and the noon buying rate on 14 November 2003 was
£1=$1.68.

11 Restatement The US GAAP selected consolidated financial information for the year ended 30 June 2003 has been restated to
reflect an adjustment to deferred tax associated with minimum pension liabilities. The restatement results in a reduction in net
income of £53 million, a reduction in basic and diluted earnings per share of 1.7p for the year ended 30 June 2003 and an increase
in shareholders� equity at 30 June 2003 of £118 million. The adjustment does not affect Diageo�s financial information prepared
under UK GAAP or any other reported period. See note 32 of the consolidated financial statements.
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Discontinued operations

Quick service restaurants Diageo completed the disposal of Burger King on 13 December 2002. See �Operating and financial
review � Off-balance sheet arrangements�. Burger King is a leading company in the worldwide quick service restaurant industry. In
the year ended 30 June 2003, Burger King contributed turnover of £479 million and operating profit of £53 million to Diageo.

Packaged food Diageo completed the disposal of Pillsbury to General Mills on 31 October 2001. Pillsbury contributed turnover of
£1,455 million and operating profit before exceptional items of £184 million in the year ended 30 June 2002. As a division of
Diageo, Pillsbury produced and distributed leading food brands including Pillsbury�s refrigerated dough and other dough based
goods, Old El Paso Mexican foods, Progresso soups, Green Giant vegetables and Häagen-Dazs ice cream, and, in addition,
operated a foodservice business.
     In connection with the disposal of Pillsbury Diageo has guaranteed the debt of a third party up to an amount of $200 million
(£121 million).

Risk factors

Diageo faces competition that may reduce its market share and margins Diageo faces competition from several international
companies as well as local and regional companies in the countries in which it operates. Diageo competes with drinks companies
across a wide range of consumer drinking occasions. Within a number of categories, consolidation or realignment is taking place.
Consolidation is also taking place amongst Diageo�s customers in many countries. Increased competition and unanticipated actions
by competitors or customers could lead to downward pressure on prices and/or a decline in Diageo�s market share in any of these
categories, which would adversely affect Diageo�s results and hinder its growth potential.

Diageo may not be able to derive the expected benefits from its strategy to focus on premium drinks or its change and
cost-saving programmes designed to enhance earnings On 17 July 2000, Diageo announced the integration of its spirits, wine
and beer businesses to create a premium drinks business as part of an integrated strategy to be a focused premium drinks
company. In line with this strategy, Diageo acquired on 21 December 2001 certain of the Seagram spirits and wine businesses.
There can be no assurance that Diageo�s strategic focus on premium drinks will result in better opportunities for growth and
improved margins.
     Following the acquisition of the Seagram spirits and wine businesses, Diageo has been consolidating the Diageo and former
Seagram brands into a single distributor in each US state. This consolidation has given rise and could continue to give rise to legal
actions. See �Business description � Premium drinks � Marketing and distribution � North America�.
     It is possible that the pursuit of this strategic focus on premium drinks could give rise to further acquisitions. There can be no
guarantee that any such acquisition would deliver the benefits intended.
     Certain change programmes have been initiated (especially in the United States, Ireland and Great Britain) designed to improve
the effectiveness and efficiency of end-to-end operating, administrative and financial systems and processes. This includes moving
transaction processing from a number of markets to shared service centres. There can be no certainty that these programmes will
deliver the expected benefits. There is likely to be disruption caused to production processes and possibly to administrative and
financial systems as these changes are effected. They could also lead to adverse customer or consumer reaction. Any failure of
information systems could adversely impact Diageo�s ability to operate.

Regulatory decisions and changes in the legal and regulatory environment could increase Diageo�s costs and liabilities or
limit its business activities Diageo�s operations are subject to extensive regulatory requirements regarding production, product
liability, distribution, marketing, labelling, advertising and labour and environmental issues. Changes in laws, regulations or
governmental policy, could cause Diageo to incur material additional costs or liabilities that could adversely affect its business. In
particular, governmental bodies in countries where Diageo operates may impose new labelling, product or production requirements,
limitations on the advertising activities used to market beverage alcohol, restrictions on retail outlets or other restrictions on
marketing and distribution. Regulatory authorities under whose laws Diageo operates may also have enforcement power that can
subject the group to actions such as product recall, seizure of products or other sanctions, which could have an adverse effect on
its sales or damage its reputation.
     In addition, beverage alcohol products are the subject of national import and excise duties in many countries around the world.
An increase in import or excise duties could have a significant adverse effect on Diageo�s sales revenue or margin, both through
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reducing overall consumption and by encouraging consumers to switch to lower-taxed categories of beverage alcohol.
     Companies in the beverage alcohol industry may also be exposed to class action or other litigation relating to alcohol abuse
problems or health consequences from the misuse of alcohol. If the industry were to be involved in such litigation, Diageo�s
business could be materially adversely affected.
     US regulatory authorities are considering possible changes to the regulation of flavored malt beverages. Discussions are taking
place in respect of possible rule changes related to the alcohol content in flavored malt beverages. Revised rules could result in
changes in the methods by which Diageo currently produces flavored malt beverages and therefore increase the costs of
production and/or distribution of these products. In addition, possible regulatory changes could impose adverse federal tax
consequences on the import and sale of flavored malt beverages. Flavored malt beverages form a component of Diageo�s growth
strategy within the United States and it is possible that the implementation of any regulatory changes by the US authorities could
have an adverse effect on Diageo�s future profitability.
     Diageo�s reported after tax income is calculated based on extensive tax and accounting requirements in each of its relevant
jurisdictions of operation. Changes in tax law (including tax rates), accounting policies and accounting standards could materially
reduce Diageo�s reported after tax income.
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Demand for Diageo�s products may be adversely affected by changes in consumer preferences and tastes Diageo�s portfolio
includes certain of the world�s leading beverage alcohol brands as well as brands of local prominence. Maintaining Diageo�s
competitive position depends on its continued ability to offer products that have a strong appeal to consumers. Consumer
preferences may shift due to a variety of factors, including changes in demographic and social trends, changes in travel, vacation
or leisure activity patterns and a downturn in economic conditions, which may reduce consumers� willingness to purchase premium
branded products. In addition, concerns about health effects due to negative publicity regarding alcohol consumption, negative
dietary effects, regulatory action or any litigation or customer complaints against companies in the industry may have an adverse
effect on Diageo�s profitability.
     The competitive position of Diageo�s brands could also be affected adversely by any failure to achieve consistent, reliable quality
in the product or service levels to customers.
     In addition, both the launch and ongoing success of new products is inherently uncertain especially as to their appeal to
consumers; the failure to launch a new product successfully can give rise to inventory write offs and other costs and can affect
consumer perception of an existing brand. Growth in Diageo�s business has been based on both the launch of new products and
the growth of existing products. Product innovation remains a significant aspect of Diageo�s plans for growth. There can be no
assurance as to Diageo�s continuing ability to develop and launch successful new products or variants of existing products or as to
the profitable lifespan of newly or recently developed products.
     Any significant changes in consumer preferences and failure to anticipate and react to such changes could result in reduced
demand for Diageo�s products and erosion of its competitive and financial position.

If the social acceptability of Diageo�s products declines, or if litigation is directed at the beverage alcohol industry,
Diageo�s sales volume could decrease and the business could be materially adversely affected In recent years, there has
been increased social and political attention directed to the beverage alcohol industry. Diageo believes that this attention is the
result of public concern over problems related to alcohol abuse, including drink driving, underage drinking and health
consequences from the misuse of alcohol. If the social acceptability of beverage alcohol were to decline significantly, sales of
Diageo�s products could materially decrease. Similarly, recent litigation against the tobacco industry has directed increased
attention to other industries, including the beverage alcohol industry. If the drinks industry were to become involved in litigation of
the type brought against other industries, such as tobacco, Diageo�s business could be materially adversely affected.
     Diageo learned on 20 November 2003 that a purported class action lawsuit, Hakki v. Adolph Coors Company et al., was
commenced against a number of alcohol beverage companies on 14 November 2003, including Diageo, in the Superior Court of
Washington, D.C. Diageo has not been served with a lawsuit. The complaint asserts claims under the District of Columbia
Consumer Protection Procedures Act (DCCPPA) and the common law of the District of Columbia that the defendants specifically
targeted the US advertising and marketing of certain of their products to individuals below the 21 year-old legal purchase age. The
complaint alleges that �at least 15-20% of all alcoholic beverages sold in the United States are consumed by underage drinkers�. The
complaint further alleges that profits earned by the defendants from the alleged illegal sales to underaged drinkers �greatly exceed
$1 billion per year�.
     The lawsuit seeks certification as a class action on behalf of (a) parents and guardians whose funds were used by their children
under 21 from 1982 to the present without their knowledge to purchase alcohol beverages marketed by the defendants, on whose
behalf monetary recovery is sought and (b) the parents and guardians of all children under 21, on whose behalf the complaint
requests that the Court enter an injunction prohibiting the defendants from marketing alcohol beverages to underage persons.
     The prayer for relief in the complaint seeks, among other matters, (i) that defendants each disgorge to the purported class all
amounts by which they have been allegedly unjustly enriched, plus costs and interest; (ii) rescission of the alleged transactions
whereby defendants allegedly obtained revenues from the illegal sale of alcoholic beverages to underage consumers and ordered
to pay such monies to the purported class; and (iii) to assess all defendants jointly and severally for all alleged actual damages
sustained by the purported plaintiff class plus treble damages or $1,500 per violation, whichever is greater, punitive damages,
attorneys fees, costs of suit, and interest.
     Diageo intends to strenuously defend this purported action.
     See �Additional information for shareholders � Legal proceedings� for further detail.

Diageo�s operating results may be adversely affected by increased costs or shortages of raw materials or labour or
disruption to production facilities The raw materials which Diageo uses for the production of its food and beverage products are
largely commodities that are subject to price volatility caused by changes in global supply and demand, weather conditions,
agricultural uncertainty or governmental controls. If commodity price changes result in unexpected increases in raw materials cost
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or the cost of packaging materials, Diageo may not be able to increase its prices to offset these increased costs without suffering
reduced volume, revenue and operating income. Diageo may be adversely affected by shortages of such raw materials or
packaging materials.
     Similarly, Diageo�s operating results could be adversely affected by labour or skill shortages or increased labour costs due to
increased competition for employees, higher employee turnover or increased employee benefit costs. Diageo�s success is
dependent on the capability of its employees. There is no guarantee that Diageo will continue to be able to recruit, retain and
develop the capabilities that it requires to deliver its strategy, for example in relation to sales and marketing capability within
markets or in its senior management.
     Diageo would be affected if there were a catastrophic failure of its major production facilities. See �Business description �
Premium drinks � Production� for a listing of Diageo�s principal production sites. In addition, the maintenance and development of
information systems may result in systems failures which may adversely affect business operations.
     Diageo has a substantial inventory of aged product categories, principally Scotch whisky and Canadian whisky, which mature
over periods of up to 30 years. As at 30 June 2003, the historical cost of Diageo�s maturing inventory amounted to £1,409 million.
The maturing inventory is stored primarily in Scotland, and the loss through contamination, fire or other natural disaster of all or a
portion of the stock of any one of those aged product categories could result in a significant reduction in supply of those products,
and consequently, Diageo would not be able to meet consumer demand for these products as it arises. In addition, there can be no
assurance that insurance proceeds would cover the replacement value of Diageo�s maturing inventory or other assets were such
assets to be lost due to contamination, fire or natural disasters or destruction resulting from negligence or the acts of third parties.

Diageo�s business may be adversely impacted by unfavourable economic conditions or political or other developments
and risks in the countries in which it operates Diageo�s business is dependent on general economic conditions in the United
States, Great Britain and other important markets. A significant deterioration in these conditions, including a reduction in consumer
spending levels, could have a material adverse effect on Diageo�s business and results of operations. In addition, Diageo may be
adversely affected by political and economic developments in any of the countries where Diageo has distribution networks,
production facilities or marketing companies. Diageo�s operations are also subject to a variety of other risks and uncertainties
related to trading in numerous foreign countries, including political or economic upheaval and the imposition of any import,
investment or currency restrictions, including tariffs and import quotas or any restrictions on the repatriation of earnings and capital.
Current examples of such potential upheaval are currency restrictions and potential further disruption to movement of goods into
and out of Venezuela, affecting both imports of goods (principally Scotch whisky into Venezuela) and export of rum (Cacique,
especially to Spain), unrest in the Middle East, and the impact on tourism and travel of both terrorist threats and ongoing fears of
global pandemics, such as SARS. These disruptions can affect Diageo�s ability to import or export products and ability to repatriate
funds as well as the levels of consumer demand (for example in duty free outlets at airports or in on trade premises in affected
regions) and therefore on Diageo�s levels of sales or profitability.
     Diageo may also be adversely affected by movements in the value of, and returns from, the investments held by its pension
funds.
     Diageo may be adversely affected by fluctuations in exchange rates. The results of operations of Diageo are accounted for in
pounds sterling. Approximately 35% of sales in the year ended 30 June 2003 were in US dollars, approximately 21% were in
sterling and approximately 22% were in euros. Movements in exchange rates used to translate foreign currencies into pounds
sterling may have a significant impact on Diageo�s reported results of operations from year to year.
     Diageo may also be adversely impacted by fluctuations in interest rates, mainly through an increased interest expense. To partly
delay any adverse impact from interest rate movements, Diageo maintains approximately 50% of its debt at fixed interest rates.
See �Operating and financial review � Risk management�.
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Diageo�s premium drinks operations may be adversely affected by failure to renegotiate distribution and manufacturing
rights on favourable terms Diageo�s premium drinks business has a number of distribution agreements for brands owned by it or
by other companies. These agreements vary depending on the particular brand, but tend to be for a fixed number of years. There
can be no assurance that Diageo will be able to renegotiate distribution rights on favourable terms when they expire or that
agreements will not be terminated. Failure to renew distribution agreements on favourable terms could have an adverse impact on
its revenues and operating income. In addition, Diageo�s sales may be adversely affected by any disputes with distributors of its
products.

Diageo may not be able to protect its intellectual property rights Given the importance of brand recognition to its business,
Diageo has invested considerable effort in protecting its intellectual property rights, including trademark registration and domain
names. Diageo�s patents cover some of its process technology, including some aspects of its bottle marking technology. Diageo
also uses security measures and agreements to protect its confidential information. However, Diageo cannot be certain that the
steps it has taken will be sufficient or that third parties will not infringe on or misappropriate its intellectual property rights. Moreover,
some of the countries in which Diageo operates offer less intellectual property protection than Europe or North America. Given the
attractiveness of Diageo�s brands to consumers, it is not uncommon for counterfeit products to be manufactured. Diageo cannot be
certain that the steps it takes to prevent, detect and eliminate counterfeit products will be effective in preventing material loss of
profits or erosion of brand equity resulting from lower quality or even dangerous counterfeit product reaching the market. If Diageo
is unable to protect its intellectual property rights against infringement or misappropriation, this could materially harm its future
financial results and ability to develop its business.

Diageo remains exposed to factors affecting the US food industry While Diageo�s strategy is to focus on premium drinks, it
remains exposed to factors affecting the US food industry through its equity interest in General Mills and its residual exposure to
Burger King. Following the disposal of Pillsbury to General Mills, Diageo now holds approximately 21% of General Mills� outstanding
share capital. The market value of this interest may be affected adversely by a variety of factors, including the performance of
General Mills and the extent to which that performance meets investors� expectations, economic conditions in the United States,
including the US financial markets, and the dilution of our holding as a result of future issues of shares by General Mills. On 15
October 2003, General Mills announced that it had received a formal request from the US Securities and Exchange Commission
(the SEC) concerning its sales practices and related accounting. General Mills stated that the SEC had advised the company that it
had not reached any conclusions related to the information request.
     In connection with the disposal of Burger King, Diageo has retained $212 million (£129 million) of subordinated debt, with a
10 year maturity, from the entity owning Burger King. In addition, Diageo has guaranteed up to $850 million (£515 million) of
borrowings of the Burger King company. These loans have a term of five years although Diageo and Burger King have structured
their arrangements to encourage refinancing by Burger King on a non-guaranteed basis prior to the end of the five years. There are
no assurances, however, that such refinancing will occur or that no liability will arise with respect to the financing of the Burger King
disposal. Both General Mills and Burger King may also be subject to factors affecting the food industry generally, including
increased competition, changes in consumer preferences and concerns over obesity and the potential for related litigation or
regulation. These factors could also affect Diageo�s ability over time to reduce its equity interest in, or affect the price it receives for,
General Mills shares. They could also result in Diageo not fully recovering the book value of its subordinated debt due from Burger
King and/or having to make payments under the guarantee of Burger King�s debt.

It may be difficult to effect service of US process and enforce US legal process against the directors of Diageo Diageo is a
public limited company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales. The majority of Diageo�s directors and officers, and
some of the experts named in this document, reside outside of the United States, principally in the United Kingdom. A substantial
portion of Diageo�s assets, and the assets of such persons are located outside of the United States. Therefore, it may not be
possible to effect service of process within the United States upon Diageo or these persons in order to enforce judgements of US
courts against Diageo or these persons based on the civil liability provisions of the US Federal Securities laws. There is doubt as to
the enforceability in England and Wales, in original actions or in actions for enforcement of judgements of US courts, of civil
liabilities solely based on the US Federal Securities laws.
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Cautionary statement concerning forward-looking statements

This document contains statements with respect to the financial condition, results of operations and business of Diageo and certain
of the plans and objectives of Diageo with respect to these items. These forward-looking statements are made pursuant to the �Safe
Harbor� provisions of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In particular, all statements that express
forecasts, expectations and projections with respect to future matters, including trends in results of operations, margins, growth
rates, overall market trends, the impact of interest or exchange rates, the availability of financing to Diageo and parties or consortia
who have purchased Diageo�s assets, actions of parties or consortia who have purchased Diageo�s assets, anticipated cost savings
or synergy and the completion of Diageo�s strategic transactions, are forward-looking statements. By their nature, forward-looking
statements involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that will occur in the future.
There are a number of factors that could cause actual results and developments to differ materially from those expressed or implied
by these forward-looking statements, including factors that are outside Diageo�s control.

These factors include, but are not limited to:

�increased competitive product and pricing pressures and unanticipated actions by competitors that could impact Diageo�s market
share, increase expenses and hinder growth potential;

�the effects of business combinations, partnerships, acquisitions or disposals, existing or future, and the ability to realise expected
synergy and/or costs savings;

�Diageo�s ability to complete future acquisitions and disposals;

�legal and regulatory developments, including changes in regulations regarding consumption of, or advertising for, beverage
alcohol, changes in accounting standards, taxation requirements, such as the impact of excise tax increases with respect to the
premium drinks business and environmental laws;

�changes in the food industry in the United States, including increased competition and changes in consumer preferences;

�changes in consumer preferences and tastes, demographic trends or perceptions about health related issues;

�changes in the cost of raw materials and labour costs;

�changes in economic conditions in countries in which Diageo operates, including changes in levels of consumer spending;

�levels of marketing and promotional expenditure by Diageo and its competitors;

�renewal of distribution rights on favourable terms when they expire;

�termination of existing distribution rights in respect of agency brands;

�technological, developments that may affect the distribution of products or impede Diageo�s ability to protect its intellectual
property rights; and

�changes in financial and equity markets, including significant interest rate and foreign currency rate fluctuations, which may
affect Diageo�s access to or increase the cost of financing.

All oral and written forward-looking statements made on or after the date of this document and attributable to Diageo are expressly
qualified in their entirety by the above factors and the �Risk factors� contained in this document for the year ended 30 June 2003.
     Past performance cannot be relied upon as a guide to future performance.
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Operating and financial review

Introduction

Information presented Diageo�s strategy is to focus on its branded drinks businesses with international potential. Diageo
completed the disposal of its quick service restaurants business on 13 December 2002 and the combination of its packaged food
business with General Mills on 31 October 2001.
     The consolidated information for the year ended 30 June 2003 presented in this annual report includes the results of the quick
service restaurants business for the five and a half months ended 13 December 2002. In accordance with UK GAAP, the results of
the quick service restaurants and, in the comparative periods, the packaged food businesses have been included within
discontinued operations.
     The following discussion is based on Diageo�s UK GAAP results for the year ended 30 June 2003 compared with the year ended
30 June 2002, and the year ended 30 June 2002 compared with the year ended 30 June 2001.
     There are a number of accounting differences between UK and US GAAP. A reconciliation of net income from UK to US GAAP
and an explanation of the differences between UK and US GAAP are set out in the US GAAP information in note 32 of the
consolidated financial statements, with a further explanation of significant reconciling items between UK and US GAAP net income
which is included in �Discussion of US GAAP differences� below.
     The US GAAP financial information for the year ended 30 June 2003 has been restated to reflect an adjustment to deferred tax
associated with minimum pension liabilities. The effects of this restatement are set out in �Discussion of US GAAP differences� below
and in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Presentation of information in relation to the premium drinks business In addition to describing the significant factors
impacting on the profit and loss account compared to the prior year for both of the years ended 30 June 2003 and 30 June 2002,
additional information is also presented on the operating performance of the premium drinks segment.

Volume Volume has been measured on an equivalent units basis to nine litre cases of spirits. Equivalent units are calculated as
follows: beer in hectolitres divide by 0.9, wine in nine litre cases divide by five, ready to drink in nine litre cases divide by 10. An
equivalent unit represents approximately 272 servings. A serving comprises 33ml of spirits, 165ml of wine, or 330ml of ready to
drink or beer.
     Reference is made to information regarding the premium distilled spirits market segments from Impact and other independent
industry sources in the markets in which Diageo operates. Impact collects information on the premium distilled spirits market from a
variety of sources, including brand owners, import and export enterprises, trade associations and government agencies such as the
US Commerce Department. Impact is aware of, and has consented to, being named in this document. Market data information is
taken from industry sources in the markets in which Diageo operates. Diageo believes that all of the information in this document
that is based on statements from Impact and other industry sources is reliable.

Non-GAAP measures Organic movement in volume, net sales (after deducting excise duties) and operating profit before
exceptional items are measures not specifically used in the consolidated financial statements themselves (non-GAAP measures).
The performance of the premium drinks segment is discussed using these measures.
     Since overall performance is the result of a number of factors, breaking these down into broad categories and discussing each
of these categories assists management and the reader in understanding the overall picture. Once factors such as the effect of
currency movements, excise duties and acquisitions and disposals have been discussed, the above measures enable the reader to
focus on the performance of the premium drinks brand portfolio which is common to both periods. Organic movement measures
also most closely reflect the way in which the business is managed, for the same reasons of achieving comparability between
periods. Diageo�s strategic planning and budgeting process is based on organic movement in volume, net sales (after deducting
excise duties) and operating profit before exceptional items, and these measures closely reflect the way in which operating targets
are defined and performance is monitored by the group�s management. These measures are chosen for planning, budgeting and
reporting purposes since, as explained further below, they represent those measures which local managers are most directly able
to influence and they enable consideration of the underlying business performance without the distortion caused by fluctuating
exchange rates, excise duties, acquisitions and disposals. In addition, management bonus targets are set based on the
performance of the business as measured by organic operating profit growth before exceptional items.
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     The group�s management believe these measures provide valuable additional information for users of the financial statements in
understanding the group�s performance since they provide information on those elements of performance which local managers are
most directly able to influence and focus on that element of the core brand portfolio which is common to both periods. However,
whilst these measures are important in the management of the business, they should not be viewed as replacements for, but rather
as complementary to, the comparable GAAP measures such as turnover and reported (rather than organic) movements in
individual profit and loss account captions. These GAAP measures reflect all of the factors which impact the business and the
discussion in relation to premium drinks should be read in the context of the discussion of the overall group performance.
     In the discussion of the performance of the premium drinks segment, net sales (after deducting excise duties) is presented in
addition to turnover, since turnover reflects significant components of excise duties which are set by external regulators and over
which Diageo has no control. Diageo incurs excise duties throughout the world. In some countries, such as the United States and
Canada, excise duties are based on sales and are separately identified on the face of the invoice to the external customer. In
others, such as the United Kingdom and Ireland, it is effectively a production tax, which is incurred when the spirit is removed from
bonded warehouses. In these countries it is part of the cost of goods sold and is not separately identified on the sales invoice.
Changes in the level of excise duties can significantly effect the level of reported turnover and cost of sales, without directly
reflecting changes in volume, mix or profitability that are the variables that impact on the element of turnover retained by the group.
     Also in the discussion of the performance of the premium drinks segment, certain information is presented using sterling
amounts on a constant currency basis. This strips out the translation effect of foreign exchange and enables an understanding of
the underlying performance of the market that is most closely influenced by the actions of the group�s management. The risk from
foreign exchange translation is managed centrally and is not a factor over which local managers have any control.
     During the last two years the group has undergone a major restructuring which has resulted in the disposal of its food
businesses (Pillsbury and Burger King) and its Malibu rum brand and the acquisition of the Seagram spirits and wine businesses.
As a consequence results are not comparable from period to period and require additional explanation. For this reason it is
necessary to separate the effects of acquisitions and disposals on the sales and profit of brands acquired or disposed of in order to
provide information on the underlying performance of individual markets.

Edgar Filing: DIAGEO PLC - Form 20-F/A

Table of Contents 21



Table of Contents

20 Diageo Annual Report 2003
Operating and financial review

Adjusting for these items enables group management to monitor performance over factors which local managers are most directly
able to influence in relation to the core ongoing brand portfolio. The underlying performance on a constant currency basis and
excluding the impact of acquisitions and disposals is referred to as �organic� performance, and further information on the calculation
of organic measures as used in the discussion of the premium drinks segment is included below.
     In order to assist the reader of the financial statements, the comparisons of both 2003 with 2002 and 2002 with 2001 include
tables which present the exchange, disposal, acquisition and organic components of the year on year movement for each of
turnover, net sales (after deducting excise duties) and operating profit before exceptional items.

Calculation of organic movement Where a business, brand distribution right or agency agreement was disposed of, or
terminated, in the current year, the group, under organic movement calculations, adjusts the results for the prior year to exclude the
amount the group earned in that period that it could not have earned in the current period (i.e. the period between the date in the
prior period, equivalent to the date of the disposal in the current period, and the end of the prior period). As a result, the organic
movement numbers reflect only comparable performance. Similarly, if a business was disposed of part way through the equivalent
prior period then its results would also be completely excluded from that prior period�s performance in the organic movement
calculation, since the group recognised no contribution from that business in the current year.
     For acquisitions, a similar adjustment is made in the organic movement calculations. For acquisitions in the current period, the
post acquisition results are excluded from the organic movement calculations. For acquisitions in the prior period, post acquisition
results are included in the prior period but are only included from the anniversary of the acquisition date in the current period.
     A further adjustment in organic movement is made to exclude the effect of exchange rate movements by recalculating the prior
period�s results as if they had been generated at the current period�s exchange rates.
     Organic movement percentages are calculated as the organic movement amount in £ million, expressed as the percentage of
the prior period results at current year exchange rates and after adjusting for disposals. The basis of calculation means that the
results used to measure organic growth for a given year will be adjusted when used to measure organic growth in the subsequent
year.

Operating results � 2003 compared with 2002

Summary consolidated profit and loss account
2003 2002

Before Before
exceptional Exceptional exceptional Exceptional

items items Total items items Total
£

million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Turnover 9,440 � 9,440 11,282 � 11,282
Operating costs (7,411) (168) (7,579) (9,176) (453) (9,629)
Operating profit 2,029 (168) 1,861 2,106 (453) 1,653
Share of profits of associates 478 (21) 457 324 (41) 283
Disposal of fixed assets and businesses � (1,313) (1,313) � 799 799
Interest payable (net) (351) � (351) (399) � (399)
Profit/(loss) before taxation 2,156 (1,502) 654 2,031 305 2,336
Taxation (539) 52 (487) (511) (121) (632)
Profit/(loss) after taxation 1,617 (1,450) 167 1,520 184 1,704
Minority interests (91) � (91) (87) � (87)
Profit/(loss) for the year 1,526 (1,450) 76 1,433 184 1,617
Note: Exceptional items under UK GAAP represent items which, in management�s judgement, are material items that arise from
events or transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the group and, by virtue of their size or incidence, should be
separately disclosed if the financial statements are to properly reflect the results for the period. Exceptional items under UK GAAP
do not represent extraordinary items under US GAAP.
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Turnover
Overall Turnover decreased by £1,842 million (16%) from £11,282 million in the prior year to £9,440 million in the year ended 30
June 2003, following the disposals of Pillsbury in October 2001 and Burger King in December 2002, both of which are accounted
for as discontinued operations and which contributed £479 million to turnover in the year ended 30 June 2003 compared with
£2,578 million in the prior year.

Continuing operations � premium drinks For continuing operations, which now represents Diageo�s premium drinks business,
turnover increased by £257 million (3%) from £8,704 million in the year ended 30 June 2002 to £8,961 million in the year ended 30
June 2003. The Seagram spirits and wine businesses, which were acquired on 21 December 2001, contributed £1,214 million to
turnover during the year, compared with £573 million in the six month period ended 30 June 2002. This increase attributable to the
acquired Seagram business was partly offset by the impact of brands which were disposed of during the two year period ended 30
June 2003 of £327 million, principally due to Malibu (impact of £107 million), North American wine brands (£42 million) which were
sold in May and April 2002 respectively, and the loss of the distribution rights of Jack Daniels and Southern Comfort in Great Britain
effective August 2002 (£108 million). Turnover was also adversely impacted by the effect of exchange rate movements, primarily
the US dollar, which reduced turnover by an estimated £329 million. The remaining £272 million increase in turnover reflects the
underlying performance of the ongoing brand portfolio which saw volume increase by 1%.

Discontinued operations Burger King contributed £479 million to turnover in the year ended 30 June 2003 compared with
£1,123 million, in the year ended 30 June 2002 following the disposal of Burger King in December 2002. Turnover in the year
ended 30 June 2002 also included £1,455 million from Pillsbury which was sold on 31 October 2001.
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Operating costs
Overall Operating costs decreased by £2,050 million (21% on a reported basis) from £9,629 million in the year ended 30
June 2002 to £7,579 million in the year ended 30 June 2003. This decrease was caused by the disposals of Pillsbury in
October 2001, which had £1,271 million operating costs in the prior year, and Burger King in December 2002, whose operating
costs fell by £562 million reflecting the reduction in the period of ownership by the group. Operating costs of premium drinks
decreased by £217 million.

Continuing operations � premium drinks For continuing operations, which now represents Diageo�s premium drinks business,
operating costs decreased by £217 million (3% on a reported basis) from £7,370 million in the year ended 30 June 2002 to
£7,153 million in the year ended 30 June 2003. Operating exceptional costs for continuing operations decreased by £264 million
from £432 million in the prior year to £168 million (these are discussed under exceptional operating costs below).
     Excluding the exceptional operating costs, continuing operating costs increased by £47 million (1%) from £6,938 million in the
year ended 30 June 2002 to £6,985 million in the year ended 30 June 2003. There were increases in operating costs compared
with the prior period arising from the acquisition of the Seagram spirits and wine businesses in December 2001 and from organic
increases in marketing and other costs. These were almost fully offset by reductions in costs from the movements in exchange
rates (£291 million), principally the US dollar, and from disposals (£254 million), principally the loss of the distribution rights for Jack
Daniels and Southern Comfort in Great Britain (£99 million) and Malibu (£67 million).
     Marketing investment for premium drinks increased by £58 million (5% ) to £1,185 million. Marketing investment on the global
priority brands grew 5%, to £803 million. The major drivers of the increase were higher spend on the Johnnie Walker, Baileys and
Smirnoff brands and behind the launch of Smirnoff Ice in key and venture markets. Marketing spend on JεB declined and spend on
Guinness was down as a result of a reduction in spend in Great Britain and in Ireland.

Operating profit before exceptional items
Overall Operating profit before exceptional items decreased by £77 million from £2,106 million to £2,029 million. The decrease
reflects an increase attributable to premium drinks of £210 million, offset by a reduced contribution of £287 million from
discontinued operations.

Continuing operations � premium drinks Operating profit before exceptional items for premium drinks increased by £210 million
(12%) from £1,766 million to £1,976 million. The Seagram businesses, in the six months ended 31 December 2002, contributed
£211 million, but this was offset by a £73 million impact of businesses disposed, primarily Malibu (impact of £40 million) and North
American wine brands (£5 million) which were sold in May and April 2002 respectively, and the loss of the distribution rights of Jack
Daniels and Southern Comfort in Great Britain effective August 2002 (£9 million). £110 million of the increase in operating profit
before exceptional items is attributable to the organic performance of the brand portfolio, discussed in more detail below. Exchange
rate movements, net of the effect of currency hedging, had an adverse impact on operating profit before exceptional items of
£38 million.

Discontinued operations The results for the year included an operating profit contribution of £53 million from discontinued
operations (Burger King only), compared with £340 million in the year ended 30 June 2002 (Burger King and Pillsbury).

Exceptional operating costs
Overall The operating profit for the year ended 30 June 2003 is after exceptional operating charges of £168 million compared to
£453 million (including £21 million in respect of discontinued operations) for the year ended 30 June 2002. This comprised
integration and restructuring costs of £225 million, offset by £57 million received on the termination of Bass distribution rights in the
United States.

Continuing operations � premium drinks In the year ended 30 June 2003, £177 million was incurred in respect of the integration
of the Seagram spirits and wine businesses, acquired in December 2001 (year ended 30 June 2002 � £164 million). Approximately
£43 million of these costs were employee related, £7 million were in respect of write downs of tangible fixed assets, £57 million
were incurred in putting in place new distributor and broker agreements as part of the Next Generation Growth programme in the
United States, and the balance included consultancy and systems costs. The majority of these costs were incurred in North
America and the United Kingdom. It is expected that the total programme cost of restructuring and integrating the business will be
approximately $700 million (£460 million) of which $590 million (£390 million) is expected to be cash. The majority of the balance of
the cost will be incurred in the year ending 30 June 2004 as an operating exceptional item. As a result of the amount charged to the
profit and loss account in the two years ended 30 June 2003, it is anticipated that approximately 2,200 jobs will be lost of which
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some 1,800 had been terminated by 30 June 2003. On completion of the programme it is anticipated that some 2,500 jobs will be
lost and that integration synergy will reduce Diageo�s annual cost base by approximately £115 million in the year ending 30
June 2005. The above merger synergy represents the latest management estimate and, as a forward-looking statement, involves
risk and uncertainty. The expected level of synergy is based on a number of assumptions, including certain expectations
concerning: the integration of back offices and sales forces in subsidiary regional offices resulting in headcount reductions and
rationalisation of facilities; headcount reductions in central and regional offices; and procurement savings through improvement of
supplier terms.
     £48 million (2002 � £48 million; 2001 � £74 million) was incurred in respect of the restructuring of the UDV (spirits and wine) and
the Guinness (beer) businesses. Approximately £28 million of the costs were employee related and the balance included legal and
professional costs. Total costs of this integration totalled £170 million charged to the profit and loss account over the three years
ended 30 June 2003, and no further costs are expected. As a result of the restructuring charge in the three years ended 30
June 2003, it is anticipated that approximately 750 jobs will be lost, of which approximately 600 had been terminated at 30
June 2003.
     Effective 30 June 2003, Diageo relinquished its distribution rights for Bass Ale in the United States. Under the distribution
agreement, Diageo had the right to continue selling and marketing the brand in the United States until July 2016. Consideration of
£57 million received has been accounted for as an exceptional operating item.
     In the year ended 30 June 2002, exceptional operating costs in relation to the premium drinks business included £164 million in
respect of the integration of the Seagram spirits and wine businesses, £48 million in respect of the restructuring of the UDV and
Guinness businesses and £220 million in respect of a settlement with José Cuervo following the termination of litigation and the
formalisation of new arrangements for the distribution by Diageo of José Cuervo brands in the United States.

Discontinued operations There were no exceptional operating costs in relation to discontinued operations in the year ended 30
June 2003. In the prior year, exceptional operating costs for discontinued operations comprised £21 million in relation to the
restructuring of franchisee loan financing arrangements in anticipation of the disposal of the Burger King business.
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Associates
The group�s share of profits of associates before exceptional items was £478 million for the year compared with £324 million for last
year. The 21% equity interest in General Mills contributed £287 million (£143 million in the eight months ended 30 June 2002).
Exceptional items for associates comprise £18 million for Diageo�s share of General Mills� exceptional costs incurred on its
restructuring of the acquired Pillsbury business, and £3 million in respect of restructuring within Moët Hennessy.

Interest
The net interest charge decreased by 12% from £399 million in the prior year to £351 million in the year ended 30 June 2003. The
net benefits of £76 million in respect of the disposal of businesses, of £27 million from exchange rate related movements, and of
£44 million from the reduction in interest rates were offset by other factors. These factors included an increase of £14 million in the
amount relating to the share of General Mills� interest charge, the effect of business acquisitions, principally the Seagram spirits and
wine businesses, of £60 million and the funding of the share repurchases which increased the interest charge by £43 million.

Non operating exceptional items
Non operating exceptional items before taxation comprise losses of £43 million on disposal of fixed assets and losses of
£1,270 million on disposal of businesses in the year ended 30 June 2003 compared with losses of £22 million and gains of
£821 million respectively in the prior year.
     Burger King was sold on 13 December 2002 for $1.5 billion (£0.9 billion).The sale resulted in a pre tax charge of £1,457 million,
after writing back goodwill previously written off to reserves of £673 million. Diageo retained $212 million (£129 million) of
subordinated debt, with a ten year maturity (2013), from the Burger King Company. In addition, Diageo has guaranteed up to
$850 million (£515 million) of borrowings of the Burger King Company. These loans have a term of five years from December 2002,
although Diageo and Burger King have structured their arrangements to encourage refinancing by Burger King on a
non-guaranteed basis prior to December 2007. The loss on disposal of Burger King was partially offset by the receipt of £171
million additional consideration on the disposal of Pillsbury. Gains on disposals of businesses in the year ended 30 June 2002
principally related to the disposal of Malibu (£532 million) and Pillsbury (£322 million).

Taxation
The effective rate of taxation on profit before exceptional items for the year ended 30 June 2003 was 25.0% compared with 25.2%
for the year ended 30 June 2002. After exceptional items the effective rate of taxation was 74.5% for the year ended 30 June 2003
compared with 27.1% for the year ended 30 June 2002. The effective rate of taxation for the year ended 30 June 2003 reflected the
fact that the pre tax loss on the disposal of Burger King was £1,457 million reduced by tax relief of £80 million.

Premium drinks The following discussion provides additional commentary on the trading performance of the premium drinks
business with the equivalent period in the prior year.
     In the discussion movements are segregated between �reported� or �organic� performance. �Reported� means that the measure
reflects movement in the number disclosed in the financial statements. �Organic� represents the movement excluding the impact of
exchange, acquisitions and disposals. In the discussion under �organic brand performance� for each market, movements given for
volume, turnover, net sales (after deducting excise duties) and marketing expenditure are organic movements. A further description
of organic movement, how it is calculated and why it is considered useful for the reader is set out on pages 19 and 20.
     The organic movement calculations for turnover, net sales (after deducting excise duties) and operating profit before exceptional
items for the year ended 30 June 2003 were as follows:

2002 Organic 2003 Organic
Reported Exchange Disposals Acquisitions movement Reported movement
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million %

Turnover
Major markets:
North America 2,669 (238) (105) 444 25 2,795 1
Great Britain 1,467 � (135) 17 80 1,429 6
Ireland 937 40 (15) 1 (10) 953 (1)
Spain 380 15 (11) 35 5 424 1
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5,453 (183) (266) 497 100 5,601 2
Key markets 2,078 (113) (30) 141 53 2,129 3
Venture markets 1,173 (33) (31) 12 110 1,231 10
Total premium drinks 8,704 (329) (327) 650 263 8,961 3
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2002 Organic 2003 Organic
Reported Exchange Disposals Acquisitions movement Reported movement
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million %

Net sales(after deducting excise duties)
Major markets:
North America 2,230 (197) (95) 373 24 2,335 1
Great Britain 896 � (84) 9 18 839 2
Ireland 625 27 (13) 1 (2) 638 �
Spain 298 12 (10) 26 (4) 322 (1)

4,049 (158) (202) 409 36 4,134 1
Key markets 1,631 (93) (27) 100 75 1,686 5
Venture markets 905 (33) (26) 9 120 975 14
Total premium drinks 6,585 (284) (255) 518 231 6,795 4
Excise duties 2,119 2,166
Turnover 8,704 8,961

Operating profit before exceptional items
Major markets:
North America 550 (2) (30) 154 57 729 11
Great Britain 204 � (17) 4 28 219 15
Ireland 151 6 (2) � (14) 141 (9)
Spain 94 1 (2) 11 (5) 99 (5)

999 5 (51) 169 66 1,188 7
Key markets 524 (41) (12) 39 12 522 3
Venture markets 243 (2) (10) 3 32 266 14
Total premium drinks 1,766 (38) (73) 211 110 1,976 7
Notes
(1) The exchange adjustments for turnover, net sales (after deducting excise duties) and operating profit before exceptional items
are principally in respect of the US dollar.

(2) Disposal adjustments for turnover, net sales (after deducting excise duties) and operating profit before exceptional items
respectively were in relation to the disposal of Malibu rum (£107 million, £93 million, £40 million); the termination of the distribution
rights for Jack Daniels and Southern Comfort (£113 million, £70 million, £10 million) in the United Kingdom; the sale of Glen
Ellen/MG Vallejo wines (£42 million, £38 million, £5 million); the transfer of distribution rights of Cuervo 1800 (£27 million,
£22 million, £10 million); the sale of Croft Inns (£10 million, £10 million, nil); the sale of Gilbey�s Green and White Label whiskies in
India (£9 million, £8 million, £1 million); the termination of distribution rights for Drambuie (£7 million, £4 million, £1 million); the sale
of Croft and Delaforce port and sherry brands (£5 million, £4 million, £2 million); and other disposals (£7 million, £6 million,
£4 million).

(3) Acquisition adjustments for turnover, net sales (after deducting excise duties) and operating profit before exceptional items
respectively were in respect of the purchase of the Seagram spirits and wine businesses (£650 million, £518 million, £211 million).

(4) In the calculation of operating profit before exceptional items the overheads included in disposals and acquisitions were directly
attributable to those businesses and do not result from subjective judgements of management.

(5) The organic movement percentage is the amount in the column headed organic movement in the table above expressed as a
percentage of the aggregate of the first three columns. The basis of the calculation of the organic movement is explained on
page 20.
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Organic brand performance
Net sales

(after
deducting

Equivalent Volume
excise
duties)

units movement movement
million % %

Smirnoff 23.0 6 8
Johnnie Walker 10.8 2 2
Guinness 11.4 2 6
Baileys 6.2 10 13
JεB 6.0 (5) (6)
Captain Morgan* 2.5 (1) (12)
José Cuervo 4.2 7 7
Tanqueray 1.9 3 7
Total global priority brands 66.0 3 5
Local priority brands 17.1 (1) 4
Category brands 26.8 (3) 1

109.9 1 4
Acquisitions 9.4
Total in year ended 30 June 2003 119.3
*Captain Morgan included for second half only with first half volume included in acquisitions.

Analysis by individual market

North America

Key measures:
Reported Organic

2003 2002 movement movement
£ million £ million % %

Volume 15 1
Turnover 2,795 2,669 5 1
Net sales (after deducting excise duties) 2,335 2,230 5 1
Marketing 405 408 (1) (3)
Operating profit before exceptional items 729 550 33 11

Reported performance Turnover in North America increased 5% from £2,669 million in the year ended 30 June 2002 to
£2,795 million in the year ended 30 June 2003. Operating profit before exceptional items increased 33% from £550 million in the
year ended 30 June 2002 to £729 million in the year ended 30 June 2003.

Organic performance The increase in turnover was primarily due to the turnover derived from the Seagram brands, acquired in
the joint acquisition of the Seagram spirits and wine businesses in December 2001, which contributed £444 million in the six
months ended 31 December 2002. The effect of brand disposals and of exchange rate movements in the US dollar reduced
turnover in the year ended 30 June 2003 by £105 million and £238 million, respectively. The disposal impact is primarily attributable
to the disposal of Malibu in May 2002 (£37 million), the Glen Ellen wine business in May 2002 (£37 million) and Cuervo 1800 in
September 2002 (£24 million).
     The acquired Seagram brands were the main factor in growing operating profit before exceptional items in North America from
£550 million last year to £729 million in the year ended 30 June 2003 contributing £154 million in the six months ended 31
December 2002.
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Organic brand performance:
Net sales

(after
deducting

Volume
excise
duties)

movement movement
% %

Smirnoff 4 (2)
Johnnie Walker 2 7
José Cuervo 10 9
Baileys 14 17
Tanqueray 2 7
Guinness 1 1
Captain Morgan (6) (17)
JεB (6) (6)
Total global priority brands 4 2
Local priority brands 1 4
Category brands (7) (3)
Total 1 1

�Smirnoff volume excluding ready to drink was up 9% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) were up 11%

�Excluding Captain Morgan Gold, volume of Captain Morgan was up 8% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) were up
10%

�Excluding ready to drink, total volume was up 3% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) were up 5%
Volume growth in North America was driven by the strong performance of the priority spirits brands. Global priority brand volume
excluding ready to drink grew 7%. Ready to drink volume, which includes flavored malt beverages and ready to drink in the United
States and ready to drink in Canada, was down 17%, representing a decline in Smirnoff ready to drink of 11% and the withdrawal
of Captain Morgan Gold.
     Smirnoff had another strong year despite weakness in Smirnoff ready to drink. Excluding ready to drink, volume was up 9%,
driven by strong growth in Smirnoff Red and the continued success of the Smirnoff Twist flavoured vodka range. Smirnoff Red
increased its share to 23.1%. The brand�s volume growth was driven by the success of the �What�s your mix� advertising campaign. In
addition, Smirnoff Red continues to benefit from spend behind Smirnoff ready to drink and Smirnoff Twist.
     Smirnoff ready to drink volume was down 11%. The launch of Smirnoff Ice Triple Black in January 2003 partially offset softness
in Smirnoff Ice.
     Volume of Johnnie Walker Red Label improved in the second half of the year. Johnnie Walker Black Label also gained share
although volume growth slowed from the first half. Net sales (after deducting excise duties) for the total brand were up 7% due to
volume growth of 2% and favourable price/mix variances of 5%, driven by a 3% price increase in certain markets.
     Baileys continued its impressive growth driven by national advertising around a very successful holiday programme, and the
continued success of initiatives to broaden the appeal of the brand to new occasions. The launch of Baileys Minis in May also
contributed incremental volume and revenue, as well as generating momentum for the brand.
     The strategy for JεB in North America is to maximise value and in the year operating profit from the brand increased as marketing
expenditure was reduced.
     José Cuervo continues to be the leader in US tequila sales. The key drivers of its growth were high consumer visibility, the
success of national advertising and an increased trial programme.
     The success of the �Distinctive Since� campaign was a key driver of the growth in Tanqueray. Both Tanqueray and Tanqueray
No. TEN increased their share of the category.
     Excluding Captain Morgan Gold ready to drink, Captain Morgan volume was up 8% and net sales (after deducting excise duties)
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were up 10% driven by increased advertising and media spending for Captain Morgan Original Spiced Rum.
     Guinness volume grew slightly in the year driven by strong performance by bottled Guinness Extra Stout and Guinness Draught
in Bottles.
     Local priority brand volume was up 1% for the year, with net sales (after deducting excise duties) up 4%. Crown Royal showed
strong gains, as did Sterling Vineyards, however these were partially offset by volume decline in Gordon�s Gin, Beaulieu Vineyard,
and other smaller brands. Volume of category brands was down 7% for the year, with net sales (after deducting excise duties)
down 3%. The decrease in volume was due to declines in Gordon�s vodka and other smaller category brands. Bass volume was
down versus the prior year; distribution of the brand was returned to Interbrew as of 30 June 2003. There has been a mix
improvement due to inclusion of the former Seagram brands and the launch of Cîroc.

Edgar Filing: DIAGEO PLC - Form 20-F/A

Table of Contents 31



Table of Contents

26 Diageo Annual Report 2003
Operating and financial review

Other business performance drivers:

�Almost 80% of Diageo�s volume now distributed through dedicated sales teams

�Ready to drink segment under pressure

�Efficiencies generated savings of over 10% in media planning and buying

�Share of US spirits brands increased by 0.3 percentage points to 27.3%
Diageo North America continued to progress its strategic initiatives. In particular its Next Generation Growth programme has made
excellent further progress. In the second half of the year, new distribution and brokerage agreements were reached in nine more
states and additional distributors established dedicated sales forces. Distributors and brokers in 34 states and Washington DC,
representing nearly 80% of Diageo�s volume, are now supporting Diageo�s brands with just under 2,000 sales personnel working in
teams solely dedicated to Diageo and S&S brands.
     Following two years of rapid growth, flavored malt beverages in the United States have slowed considerably and volume in the
segment was broadly level for the year. Of the new launches this year, Smirnoff Ice Triple Black was the most successful and it is
now the second best selling flavored malt beverage in the United States behind Smirnoff Ice. Flavored malt beverages currently
represent 2% of the beer category, of which Smirnoff ready to drink is estimated to constitute about a third.
     Diageo�s share of US spirits increased in the year to 27.3% as a result of share gains in most priority brands.
     Diageo has now consolidated to one media planning and buying agency resulting in a 10% reduction in media spend against
prior year cost levels. In addition a 15% reduction versus prior year was achieved in media production costs. Marketing spend at
£405 million was 3% below prior year while share of voice in the combined beer and spirits category increased.

Great Britain

Key measures:
Reported Organic

2003 2002 movement movement
£ million £ million % %

Volume (2) 5
Turnover 1,429 1,467 (3) 6
Net sales (after deducting excise duties) 839 896 (6) 2
Marketing 188 188 � 2
Operating profit before exceptional items 219 204 7 15

Reported performance Turnover in Great Britain was down 3% on a reported basis from £1,467 million last year to £1,429 million
in the year ended 30 June 2003. Operating profit before exceptional items was up £15 million from £204 million in the year ended
30 June 2002 to £219 million in the year ended 30 June 2003.

Organic performance The principal reason for the decrease in turnover was the termination of the distribution rights for Jack
Daniels and Southern Comfort in Great Britain in August 2002 which reduced turnover by £108 million. The acquired Seagram
brands contributed £17 million to turnover in the six months ended 31 December 2002. The organic increase in the year was
£80 million (6%).
     Increase in operating profit before exceptional items was due to organic growth of £28 million, partly offset by a net negative
impact resulting from acquisitions and disposals of £13 million.

Organic brand performance:
Net sales

(after
deducting
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Volume
excise
duties)

movement movement
% %

Smirnoff 7 (1)
Guinness (1) (1)
Baileys 29 30
Total global priority brands 6 2
Local priority brands (3) (11)
Category brands 14 14
Total 5 2

�Smirnoff volume excluding ready to drink was up 11% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) up 16%

�Excluding ready to drink total volume was up 6% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) up 7%
Great Britain has achieved solid volume growth in the year and again increased share driven by growth of the global priority spirits
brands. Growth in the spirits brands offset the decline in volume in ready to drink and beer.
     Smirnoff Red retained its leadership position in terms of share. Excluding ready to drink, volume grew 11%. In addition, a 6%
price increase was achieved in September 2002 against strong competition from the value end of the category.
     Smirnoff ready to drink volume fell 3% in the year and net sales (after deducting excise duties) declined by 11%. However, the
brand grew share by 2 percentage points. The ready to drink segment has been significantly impacted by the duty increase in
April 2002, with volume declining by 4% in the year ended 30 June 2003. Diageo absorbed the duty increase and as a result
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net sales (after deducting excise duties) value per equivalent unit reduced by 9%. In addition, the duty impact has been
exacerbated by a move towards value offerings and by shifts in consumer drinking habits away from the on trade and city centre
venues, which are the primary outlets for ready to drink occasions.
     Baileys continued its very strong growth. Share increased to 41% in the face of the introduction of two competing products into
the category. The launch of Baileys Minis and continued media awareness contributed to this growth as did brand building activity
focused on broadening consumer enjoyment of the brand into new occasions.
     Guinness performed well in a difficult beer market, with net sales (after deducting excise duties) down only 1%, compared with a
3% net sales (after deducting excise duties) decline in the beer category.
     Local priority brand volume declined 3%. Despite volume growth, net sales (after deducting excise duties) of Gordon�s, excluding
ready to drink, declined by 2%, due to increased competitive pressure in the off trade.
     The blended whisky segment continues to be driven by aggressive pricing but Bell�s has maintained its lead in the segment.
     Archers had a disappointing year with both its schnapps and ready to drink products showing volume decline. Archers volume
declined by 6%. Archers Aqua volume fell by 27% driven by the ready to drink segment downturn which was more pronounced in
the fruit flavoured ready to drink segment.
     Diageo�s category brands performance has been driven by excellent growth from Pimm�s, Piat d�Or and Blossom Hill.

Other business performance drivers:

�Increased resources behind sales execution
A comprehensive restructuring of the customer sales force drove growth in Great Britain. The new structure both increased
frequency of contact with customers and generated more effective sales promotions.

Ireland

Key measures:
Reported Organic

2003 2002 movement movement
£ million £ million % %

Volume (6) (5)
Turnover 953 937 2 (1)
Net sales (after deducting excise duties) 638 625 2 �
Marketing 67 65 3 �
Operating profit before exceptional items 141 151 (7) (9)

Reported performance In Ireland, turnover increased £16 million from £937 million in the prior year to £953 million in the year
ended 30 June 2003. Operating profit before exceptional items was £10 million lower than the previous year at £141 million.

Organic performance Exchange rate movements increased turnover by £40 million, partially offset by an organic decline in
turnover of £10 million. Operating profit before exceptional items was £10 million lower than the previous year at £141 million.
Favourable exchange rate movements on the euro of £6 million were more than offset by the weaker performance of the brands
compared to last year.

Organic brand performance:
Net sales

(after
deducting

Volume
excise
duties)

movement movement
% %

Guinness (4) �
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Smirnoff (5) (7)
Baileys (2) (1)
Total global priority brands (4) (1)
Local priority brands (5) (1)
Category brands (7) 1
Total (5) �
In a weakening market in Ireland, Diageo volume declined by 5% and Diageo Ireland lost some share. The loss of share is mainly
driven by the shift to at home consumption where Guinness and spirits are under represented. In addition, over 50% of Diageo�s off
trade volume is in premium beer which has been impacted by aggressive price discounting by competitors. There has also been a
shift in consumption towards wine and away from spirits and ready to drink since the duty increase.
     Guinness held share in the year for the first time in 10 years despite volume decline of 4%. Net sales (after deducting excise
duties) were level, benefiting from a price increase.
     The decline in spirits and ready to drink volume in the second part of the year reflects the impact of the duty increase of over
40% in spirits and nearly 100% in ready to drink implemented in December 2002. Smirnoff Red and Baileys both gained share.
Smirnoff ready to drink volume declined 6%, however Diageo�s share of ready to drink was maintained.
     Volume in each of the local priority brands, Budweiser, Smithwicks and Carlsberg, all declined. The duty increase also impacted
volume growth of the category brands, 45% of the volume of which is spirits. Volume of Diageo�s wine brands declined by 7%.
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Other business performance drivers:

�Continued decline in beverage alcohol market driven by a weakening economic environment

�Implementing a reorganisation to reduce costs and improve effectiveness
As previously described the beverage alcohol market in Ireland deteriorated further as a result of declining consumer confidence,
the continuing slowdown in economic growth and the excise duty increase on spirits and ready to drink which led to retail price
increases of around 20%. The social aspects of drinking are a significant issue in Ireland. As part of its ongoing social responsibility
programme, Diageo has participated fully in the establishment of MEAS � a new independent association established as part of the
social responsibility programme undertaken by the industry.
     In response to the changes in the beverage alcohol market in Ireland, Diageo is in the process of implementing a reorganisation
which is expected to result in a less complex and lower cost operating model. The cost of achieving this is not expected to give rise
to a charge to exceptional items.

Spain

Key measures:
Reported Organic

2003 2002 movement movement
£ million £ million % %

Volume 5 (1)
Turnover 424 380 12 1
Net sales (after deducting excise duties) 322 298 8 (1)
Marketing 70 71 (1) (9)
Operating profit before exceptional items 99 94 5 (5)

Reported performance Turnover in the Spanish market increased £44 million to £424 million in the year ended 30 June 2003
compared with the prior year. Operating profit before exceptional items was up £5 million to £99 million in the year ended 30
June 2003.

Organic performance The reasons for the increase in turnover are the favourable impact of exchange rate movements in the year
(£15 million) and the benefit of the acquired Seagram brands, principally Cacique, which contributed £35 million to turnover in the
six months ended 31 December 2002.
     Operating profit before exceptional items benefited from a £11 million contribution from the acquired Seagram brands, partially
offset by an organic decline of £5 million.

Organic brand performance:
Net sales

(after
deducting

Volume
excise
duties)

movement movement
% %

JεB (3) (7)
Baileys (2) 1
Johnnie Walker (4) (14)
Smirnoff (8) (2)
Total global priority brands (4) (7)
Local priority brands 25 16
Category brands 3 13
Total (1) (1)
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Organic operating profit was down 5% as the volume increase in dark rum was partially offset by declines in Scotch. Marketing
investment declined by 9% mainly due to the decision to reschedule the JεB advertising campaign originally planned for April to
September 2003.
     The performance in the six months ended 30 June 2003 is in contrast to that of the first half of the year with volume up 14%
having been 11% down in the first half. This was primarily driven by 9% growth in the volume of JεB in the second half and the
inclusion of Cacique for the first time in organic growth in the second half.
     The decline in global priority brands in the first half was mainly driven by the poor economic environment and by the tough prior
year comparison driven by the duty increase in January 2002. Volume declined by 4% in the full year against a 13% decline in the
first half. Net sales (after deducting excise duties) decreased by 7% for the full year against a 11% decline in the first half.
     JεB volume was down 3% for the full year following a decline of 11% in the first half as volume in the second half grew 9%.
Johnnie Walker volume was down 4% for the full year having been down 13% in the first half, an increase of 10% in the second
half.
     The other major global priority brands in Spain, Smirnoff Red and Baileys, saw volume decline in the difficult environment of the
first six months. Volume and net sales (after deducting excise duties) increased in the second half.
     Cacique continued to make share gains partially through increased distribution and, benefiting from its leading position in a
growing category, volume was up 40%. In addition a price increase was implemented in May 2003. Cardhu volume grew 2%.
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Other business performance drivers:

�Market share gains on JεB, Baileys, Johnnie Walker Red Label and Cacique
In the Scotch segment Diageo�s brands gained share slightly with gains by JεB and Johnnie Walker Red Label partially offset by
share decline in VAT69.

Key markets

Key measures:
Reported Organic

2003 2002 movement movement
£ million £ million % %

Volume � (2)
Turnover 2,129 2,078 2 3
Net sales (after deducting excise duties) 1,686 1,631 3 5
Marketing 269 239 13 12
Operating profit before exceptional items 522 524 � 3

Reported performance In key markets, turnover increased £51 million from £2,078 million in the year ended 30 June 2002 to
£2,129 million in the year ended 30 June 2003. Operating profit before exceptional items was down £2 million at £522 million for
the year ended 30 June 2003.

Organic performance Turnover was boosted by the acquired Seagram brands which contributed £141 million in the six months
ended 31 December 2002, and by an organic increase of £53 million. However, unfavourable exchange variances of £113 million
(principally in respect of the Venezuelan Bolivar), and the impact of disposals of £30 million (principally Malibu £24 million) reduced
turnover.
     Operating profit before exceptional items was down £2 million at £522 million for the year ended 30 June 2003. Exchange
losses on the Venezuelan Bolivar of £30 million were more than offset by the impact of acquired Seagram brands which contributed
£39 million to operating profit before exceptional items in the six months ended 31 December 2002.

Organic brand performance:
Net sales

(after
deducting

Volume
excise
duties)

movement movement
% %

Johnnie Walker (1) (3)
Guinness 9 29
JεB (10) (9)
Smirnoff 2 11
Baileys (2) 2
Total global priority brands 1 5
Local priority brands (3) 15
Category brands (5) (1)
Total (2) 5
The volume growth in overall global priority brands was led by a continued strong performance of Guinness in Africa. Johnnie
Walker volume declined as growth in Johnnie Walker Red Label, up 2%,was offset by a 6% decline in Johnnie Walker Black Label.
Johnnie Walker Black Label was impacted by the tough trading environment in Latin America. Excluding Latin America, Johnnie
Walker Black Label volume was up 4%. Ready to drink volume was up 26% driven by further strong performance of Diageo�s ready
to drink brands in Australia and by the Smirnoff Ice launches in Taiwan, France, Japan and Global Duty Free.
     Local priority brand volume fell as strong performance on Bundaberg Rum, up 16%, and Guinness Malta, up 17%, only partially
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compensated for the decline in Buchanans in Venezuela and for the impact which the change of distributor arrangements for
Dimple in South Korea had on sales of that brand in the first half. Volume of category brands fell by 5% driven by the decline in
VAT69 in Venezuela and by the decline in Spey Royal in Thailand in the first half. This was partially offset by growth in category
brand volume in Africa.
     While overall volume declined, net sales (after deducting excise duties) grew reflecting the benefit of strong price increases
gained on the Guinness brand in Africa. Marketing investment grew by 12% driven by increased spend behind new brand launches
and the relaunches of Johnnie Walker and Dimple in South Korea.

Other business performance drivers:

�Strong performance in Africa

�Strong volume growth in Australia

�Continued impact of difficult economic situation in Latin America

�Impact of SARS in Asia and Global Duty Free

�Competitor pricing in Portugal

Edgar Filing: DIAGEO PLC - Form 20-F/A

Table of Contents 39



Table of Contents

30 Diageo Annual Report 2003
Operating and financial review

As previously noted, several of Diageo�s key markets are in geographies which have faced the most difficult challenges of the last
year. The overall profitability of the key markets in Latin America declined. This was partially offset by growth in Africa and in South
Korea while other key markets broadly maintained operating profit year on year.
     Africa, which is Diageo�s second largest market by volume, and its third largest market by operating profit, gained further
momentum in the second half. Volume was up 6% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) up 18% for the full year. Guinness
volume was up 10% driven by the continued success of the Michael Power campaign. Guinness Malta volume increased by 17%
as distribution improved in Nigeria and Cameroon. Additional packaging and brewing capacity resulting from recent investment in
Nigeria and Cameroon was also a major contributory factor behind the growth of both Guinness and Guinness Malta. Further
capacity expansion projects are planned for the year to come. There was growth across all global priority spirits brands, with the
exception of Smirnoff which was impacted by weak economic conditions in South Africa.
     In Latin America overall volume and operating profit declined by 16% and 30% respectively. This reflects a dramatic decline in
the Venezuelan business and a 7% volume decline in other Latin American markets. Despite a tough environment all markets
remain profitable and there have been successes for a number of brands. For example, Smirnoff Red volume in Brazil grew by
12% as the brand benefited from increased marketing investment. Mexico�s performance was also strong with volume up by 22%,
driven by JεB and Baileys which were moved to in-house distribution during the year.
     In South Korea, Windsor, the leading Scotch whisky brand, gained share in the year and volume grew by 1% in the six months
ended 30 June 2003. The structure of the acquisition of the Windsor brands has delivered an operating profit margin improvement.
The in-house distribution arrangements for Dimple, the third largest Scotch whisky brand, are now fully operational. Dimple
distribution was rebuilt from 53% to over 80% of target accounts. The performance of the Scotch whisky category slowed in the
second half, impacted by the weaker economic environment.
     Global Duty Free volume was level despite the impact of the Iraqi conflict and the SARS outbreak on world travel. This reflects
extremely strong customer and consumer activities and continued investment in priority brands in this high profile market. Smirnoff
Ice was launched in the year in a number of duty free markets and Tanqueray No. TEN was launched with very strong impact.
     In Australia Diageo�s leadership position was reinforced as overall share of spirits grew by over 7 percentage points in the year
as all the priority brands gained share. Diageo�s spirits business in Australia has benefited from focus on programmes to improve
quality of serve in the on trade and to improve merchandising in both the on and off trade. Overall volume increased 16% and net
sales (after deducting excise duties) were up 14%. Net sales (after deducting excise duties) per equivalent unit were slightly down
due to the decision to reposition the prices of ready to drink brands to an appropriate price premium to beer. The strong volume
growth was driven by Johnnie Walker up 35%, Baileys up 7% and Bundaberg up 16%. Diageo�s ready to drink business grew by
30%. Dark spirits ready to drink performed exceptionally well with both Johnnie Walker and Bundaberg Premix increasing their
share of the total ready to drink category. Despite the strong volume performance, operating profit growth was constrained by
higher marketing investment and higher pension costs.
     Despite a reduction in general consumer confidence the beverage alcohol market in Greece was stable and Diageo volume
grew 3%. Volume growth was principally driven by Johnnie Walker Red Label up 5% and Johnnie Walker Black Label up 10%, as
both gained share. Ready to drink volume grew 4% as growth in Smirnoff Ice up 8%, and Gordon�s Space up 5%, offset weakness
in Archers Aqua and Smirnoff Mule. Marketing expenditure was up 5% to support the launch of new campaigns on a number of
brands.
     In Taiwan the key driver of volume growth of 9% was again Johnnie Walker which increased 9%. Pricing remained flat in the
year but net sales (after deducting excise duties) grew 16% due to mix improvements.
     In Japan overall volume declined 1%, with Johnnie Walker down 17% and Old Parr down 15%. The Scotch category is in
decline and Diageo�s brands have also lost some share. This was offset by volume growth in Guinness, up 17%. Smirnoff Ice has
sold 51,000 equivalent units since its launch in May.
     In Portugal Diageo�s strategy has been to maintain price and not follow the aggressive discounting policy of competitors. In
addition a new route to market was introduced in the year which led to a reduction in stock held by distributors. Consequently
volume was down 36% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) were down 39%. The change in market dynamics is
considered to be long term and, as Diageo�s strategy is to maximise value not volume, Portugal has been managed as a venture
market since 1 July 2003.

Venture markets
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Key measures:
Reported Organic

2003 2002 movement movement
£ million £ million % %

Volume 2 6
Turnover 1,231 1,173 5 10
Net sales (after deducting excise duties) 975 905 8 14
Marketing 186 156 19 25
Operating profit before exceptional items 266 243 9 14

Reported performance Turnover in venture markets increased by £58 million from £1,173 million in the year ended 30 June 2002
to £1,231 million in the year ended 30 June 2003. Operating profit before exceptional items, at £266 million for the year ended 30
June 2003, was £23 million higher than in the previous year.

Organic performance The main factor for the improvement in turnover was the strong organic growth which added £110 million to
turnover compared with the previous year. However, this was offset by unfavourable exchange movements of £33 million and the
disposal of brands of £31 million (principally Malibu £17 million and Gilbey�s Green and White Label whiskies £9 million).
     The principal element of the increase in operating profit before exceptional items was organic growth of £32 million.
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Organic brand performance:
Net sales

(after
deducting

Volume
excise
duties)

movement movement
% %

Johnnie Walker 7 10
Smirnoff 25 82
Guinness 1 3
Baileys 11 10
JεB 4 4
Total global priority brands 11 22
Local priority brands (3) 10
Category brands (2) (1)
Total 6 14

�Smirnoff volume excluding ready to drink was up 4% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) was up 8%

�Excluding ready to drink, volume was up 2% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) up 4%
Volume growth reflected strong growth in global priority brands. In addition ready to drink was an important contributor to venture
markets� growth with further rollouts of Smirnoff Red and Black Ice as well as the full year benefit of last year�s launches.
     Johnnie Walker volume grew 7%, however growth slowed in the second half of the year due in part to the impact of the Iraqi
conflict and the SARS outbreak on travel. Johnnie Walker Black Label volume was up 12% and Johnnie Walker Red Label grew
4% driven by strong performance across most of the venture markets with the exception of Germany where volume was
constrained by competition from lower priced products.
     Smirnoff Red volume increased 4% as the brand continued to benefit from the improvement in brand equity which has resulted
from the launch of Smirnoff Ice across venture markets. In addition, marketing investment behind Smirnoff Red rose by 7%. Net
sales (after deducting excise duties) of Smirnoff benefited from the favourable mix impact of ready to drink.
     Guinness volume improved in the second half driven by strong performance in Malaysia. Volume of Red Stripe in Jamaica,
venture markets� only local priority brand, was impacted in the second half by the worsening economic conditions in Jamaica and
excise duty increases, but net sales (after deducting excise duties) benefited from price increases in the second half.
     Baileys volume grew by 11%, as the brand benefited from an extremely strong holiday programme and continued marketing
investment was increased by 15% versus the prior year.

Other business performance drivers:

�Marketing investment up 25% mainly behind ready to drink launches and longer term growth projects

�Operating profit growth led by the Caribbean, Middle East, Nordics and Germany
Marketing investment grew by 25% due to investment to support ready to drink launches as well as investment to support longer
term growth behind Baileys in Germany, Italy, the Caribbean and venture markets in Latin America and Johnnie Walker in Asia and
the Caribbean.
     The Caribbean and the Middle East markets performed strongly as a result of good performance across the global priority
brands with volume up on these brands 20% and 10%, respectively.
     In Norway, Diageo�s business was successfully maintained by a third party distributor during the six month suspension of
Diageo�s trading licence and volume grew. Diageo is now fully operational again in Norway following the reinstatement of the
trading licence in February and Smirnoff, Bell�s and Gordon�s have all gained share in the off trade, a segment which is showing
strong growth following a reduction in excise duty. Smirnoff Ice continues to perform well in the Nordics and full year volume was
100,000 equivalent units.
     In Germany ready to drink is currently the fastest growing segment in the spirits market and since its launch in February 2002,
Smirnoff Ice has sold nearly 500,000 equivalent units. Germany has been managed as a key market since 1 July 2003. In the
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Netherlands the second half performance was adversely impacted by an 18% duty increase in January and volume was down 2%.
     In the venture markets across Asia, overall volume grew by 1% despite the impact of the SARS outbreak. In India the sale of the
Gilbey�s Green and White Label whiskies in December 2002 has resulted in increased focus on the global priority brands. However
strong volume growth in India was offset by weakness in the Philippines where the decline in travel as a result of the SARS
outbreak impacted the duty free channel.
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Operating results � 2002 compared with 2001

Summary consolidated profit and loss account
2002 2001

Before Before
exceptional Exceptional exceptional Exceptional

items items Total items items Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

Turnover 11,282 � 11,282 12,821 � 12,821
Operating costs (9,176) (453) (9,629) (10,720) (228) (10,948)
Operating profit 2,106 (453) 1,653 2,101 (228) 1,873
Share of profits of associates 324 (41) 283 203 � 203
Disposal of fixed assets and businesses � 799 799 � (4) (4)
Interest payable (net) (399) � (399) (350) � (350)
Profit/(loss) before taxation 2,031 305 2,336 1,954 (232) 1,722
Taxation (511) (121) (632) (468) 33 (435)
Profit/(loss) after taxation 1,520 184 1,704 1,486 (199) 1,287
Minority interests (87) � (87) (80) � (80)
Profit/(loss) for the year 1,433 184 1,617 1,406 (199) 1,207
Note: Exceptional items under UK GAAP represent items which, in management�s judgement, are material items that arise from
events or transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the group and, by virtue of their size or incidence, should be
separately disclosed if the financial statements are to properly reflect the results for the period. Exceptional items under UK GAAP
do not represent extraordinary items under US GAAP.

Turnover
Overall Turnover decreased by £1,539 million (12%) from £12,821 million in the year ended 30 June 2001 to £11,282 million in the
year ended 30 June 2002. Increased turnover of £1,124 million in the premium drinks business and £81 million at Burger King were
more than offset by a decrease of £2,744 million attributable to Pillsbury.

Continuing operations � premium drinks Premium drinks generated turnover of £8,704 million in the year ended 30 June 2002,
an increase of £1,124 million (15%) from the £7,580 million reported in the year ended 30 June 2001. The acquisition of the
Seagram brands, which include Captain Morgan, Crown Royal, Seagram�s 7, Seagram�s VO, Cacique, Windsor Premier, Myers�s
Rum and Sterling Vineyards, completed on 21 December 2001. The results for the year ended 30 June 2002 include the trading
performance of that business for the six months ended 30 June 2002, and the acquired Seagram brands generated sales of
£573 million in the year ended 30 June 2002 with no contribution in the prior period. Other minor acquisitions contributed
£120 million of the increase in turnover, but this was more than offset by the impact of a number of disposals of non-core brands or
the termination of distribution rights which reduced turnover by £196 million, principally attributable to the loss of the distribution
rights of Stolichnaya in December 2000 (£94 million). Exchange rate movements had a small (£13 million beneficial impact on
turnover. The remaining £614 million increase in turnover is attributable primarily to brands owned throughout the two year period
ended 30 June 2002 and reflects strong volume performance of the global priority brands (which grew by 8%) and 2% volume
growth in local priority brands, offset by a 4% volume decline in category brands (all brands other than global priority brands and
local priority brands).

Discontinued operations The decrease in turnover at Pillsbury was primarily attributable to the disposal of the business, which
was sold in October 2001, and for which turnover is only included for the four months up to the date of disposal in the year ended
30 June 2002 compared with a full year in the prior period. Pillsbury contributed £1,455 million in the year ended 30 June 2002
compared with £4,199 million in the prior year. Burger King contributed turnover of £1,123 million in the year ended 30 June 2002,
compared with £1,042 million in the prior period, an increase of £81 million (8%) driven primarily by revenue generated by the
increase in the number of Burger King owned restaurants. Both Pillsbury and Burger King, following its disposal in December 2002,
are accounted for as discontinued operations under UK GAAP in the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2003.

Operating costs
Overall Operating costs decreased by £1,319 million (12% on a reported basis) from £10,948 million in the year ended 30
June 2001 to £9,629 million in the year ended 30 June 2002. This decrease was caused by a fall of £2,439 million in costs in
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respect of Pillsbury, which was sold on 31 October 2001. Operating costs of premium drinks increased by £1,067 million. Operating
costs in respect of Burger King increased £53 million to £988 million in the year ended 30 June 2002 due partly to a £44 million
(15%) increase in staff costs.

Continuing operations � premium drinks Operating costs of premium drinks increased by £1,067 million (17% on a reported
basis) from £6,303 million to £7,370 million in the year ended 30 June 2002. Operating exceptional costs for continuing operations
increased by £279 million from £153 million in the prior year to £432 million in the year ended 30 June 2002 (this is discussed
under exceptional operating costs below).
     Excluding the exceptional operating costs, continuing operating costs increased by £788 million (13% on a reported basis) from
£6,150 million in the year ended 30 June 2001 to £6,938 million in the year ended 30 June 2002. The main reason for the increase
was the effect of acquisitions, which contributed an additional £545 million to operating costs (principally Seagram £443 million).
This was partially offset by reductions in costs from the movements in exchange rates of £44 million and from disposals of
£138 million. Marketing investment increased by £147 million (15% on a reported basis) to £1,127 million. Marketing spend on
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the global priority brands grew by 10% to £764 million, particularly behind Smirnoff Ice in North America, the �Keep Walking�
campaign for Johnnie Walker, and continued investment behind the successful �Let Your Senses Guide You� campaign for Baileys.

Operating profit before exceptional items
Overall Operating profit before exceptional items increased £5 million from £2,101 million to £2,106 million. Premium drinks
operating profit before exceptional items increased by £336 million, offset by decreases in respect of Pillsbury and Burger King of
£315 million and £16 million, respectively.

Continuing operations � premium drinks Premium drinks accounted for £1,766 million of the operating profit before exceptional
items, compared with £1,430 million in the prior period, an increase of £336 million.
     Acquisitions represent £148 million of this increase, of which the Seagram spirits and wine businesses acquired on 21
December 2001 account for £130 million, whilst disposals adversely impacted profit by £58 million. Sales of Captain Morgan Gold
did not meet original expectations and the product was subsequently withdrawn from the market, and therefore the total Seagram
operating profit of £130 million before exceptional items earned in the period is after a provision of £24 million for the potential
diminution in the value of product stock. Captain Morgan Gold was launched in May 2002 and in the period volume was 245,000
equivalent units, net sales (after deducting excise duties) were £27 million and marketing costs were £16 million.
     The balance of the increase in the premium drinks contribution to operating profit before exceptional items of £246 million was
driven primarily by volume increases, an improvement in the operating margin before exceptional items which increased from
18.9% to 20.3%, and the beneficial impact of exchange rate movements of £57 million, comprising £26 million on translation of
overseas profits and £31 million on transactions.

Discontinued operations Pillsbury contributed £184 million in operating profit before exceptional items for the four months prior to
its disposal compared with £499 million in the year ended 30 June 2001. The decline in operating profit before exceptional items
primarily reflecting the reduced period of ownership in the year ended 30 June 2002 (four months) compared to the prior year (12
months).
     Burger King contributed £156 million to operating profit before exceptional items compared with £172 million in the prior year.
Worldwide comparable restaurant sales were flat for the year against a 4% decline in the prior year. Net restaurant numbers
increased by 83 against an increase of 211 in the prior year.

Exceptional operating costs
Overall Operating profit was impacted in the year by exceptional charges which amounted to £453 million in the year ended 30
June 2002 compared with £228 million in the year ended 30 June 2001. These exceptional charges primarily relate to integration
and restructuring costs, a settlement in relation to José Cuervo, and costs of the quick service restaurants business. This increase
in exceptional charges of £225 million accounts for the majority of the decrease in operating profit of £220 million.

Continuing operations � premium drinks The restructuring cost for the year ended 30 June 2002 included £48 million (2001 � £74
million) in respect of the integration of the UDV (spirits and wine) and the Guinness (beer) businesses to create premium drinks.
Approximately £18 million (2001 � £32 million) of the costs were employee related, principally redundancy,£9 million (2001 � £9
million) were legal and professional costs, £nil (2001 � £7 million) were asset write downs, and the balance included consultancy
and systems costs. The £48 million (2001 � £74 million) integration cost comprised £15 million (2001 � £32 million) in respect of
global corporate functions, £5 million (2001 � £15 million) on the integration of UDV and Guinness businesses in Great Britain, £12
million (2001 � £12 million) on business services and £16 million (2001 � £15 million) in other countries around the world. Incremental
synergy achieved in the year, as a result of the integration of UDV and Guinness businesses amounted to £43 million. As a result
of the amount charged to the profit and loss account in the two years ended 30 June 2002, it is expected that 680 jobs will be lost,
of which 340 had been terminated by 30 June 2002. The total costs of this integration were £170 million with the remaining charge
incurred in 2003 as an operating exceptional item.
     The restructuring cost for the year ended 30 June 2002 included £164 million in respect of the integration of the Seagram spirits
and wine businesses. Approximately £72 million of the costs were employee related, principally redundancies, £10 million were
legal and professional costs, £36 million were asset write downs, and the balance included consultancy and systems costs. Of the
£164 million integration cost, £20 million was in respect of global corporate functions, £114 million on the integration of the
Seagram businesses in North America, and £30 million in other countries around the world. As a result of the amount charged to
the profit and loss account in the year ended 30 June 2002, it is expected that approximately 1,200 jobs will be lost of which some
1,050 had been terminated by 30 June 2002.
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     On 5 February 2002, it was announced that Diageo and José Cuervo SA (José Cuervo) had agreed to terminate their litigation
in respect of a change of control issue which José Cuervo claimed arose as a result of the merger of GrandMet and Guinness, and
new arrangements were formalised for the distribution rights for the José Cuervo brands in the United States which now extend to
2013. The settlement in favour of José Cuervo involved the return of the group�s 45% interest in José Cuervo and a net cash
payment of £85 million. The exceptional charge of £220 million (before tax) comprises the write off of the group�s investment in José
Cuervo of £115 million, related goodwill previously written off to reserves of £20 million and the net cash payment to José Cuervo.
     In the year ended 30 June 2001, £79 million costs were incurred in the reorganisation of beer production facilities in England
and Ireland and the restructuring of ownership and management within premium drinks. Included in the costs were £35 million of
employee related costs, principally redundancy, and £26 million of tangible fixed asset write downs. The reorganisation included
the closure of the Dundalk packaging plant in Ireland, the restructuring of the Dundalk brewery and Belfast packaging plant both in
Ireland and the restructuring of the packaging plant in Runcorn in England. Jobs lost were approximately 550 of which 480 had
been terminated by 30 June 2002.
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Discontinued operations During 2002, in anticipation of the disposal of the Burger King business, its franchisee loan financing
arrangements were restructured. This resulted in an exceptional charge for credit enhancement, performance and service fees of
£21 million. In 2001, the exceptional items in respect of Burger King comprised provisions of £49 million made against certain fixed
assets, costs associated with litigation of £21 million, less £5 million of successor franchise fee income.
     During the year ended 30 June 2001, packaged food incurred restructuring costs of £10 million in respect of production facilities
in Pillsbury�s Bakeries and Foodservice division that have been classified as exceptional operating costs.

Associates
The group�s share of profits of associates after exceptional items but before interest was £283 million for the year ended 30
June 2002 compared with £203 million for the year ended 30 June 2001. The group�s 22% equity interest in General Mills
contributed £112 million in the eight months ended 30 June 2002. Share of the associates profits for the year ended 30 June 2002
was adversely impacted by exceptional charges of £41 million, including £31 million in respect of General Mills� restructuring of the
acquired Pillsbury business and of its cereal manufacturing operations and £10 million in respect of Moët Hennessy.

Interest
The interest charge in the year increased to £399 million from £350 million in the prior year. The net benefits of £45 million in
respect of the disposal and acquisition of businesses and of £34 million from the reduction in interest rates were offset by other
factors. These factors included the effect of exchange rate related movements of £35 million, the share of General Mills� interest
charge of £59 million (for the eight months ended 30 June 2002) and the funding of the share repurchases made during the year,
which increased the interest charge by £20 million.

Non operating exceptional items
Non operating exceptional items include losses on disposals of fixed assets of £22 million compared with gains of £19 million in the
prior year and net gains on the disposal of brands and businesses of £821 million in the year ended 30 June 2002 compared with
net losses of £23 million in the year ended 30 June 2001.
     Exceptional items in respect of the disposal of fixed assets in the year ended 30 June 2002, included losses of £23 million
relating to the disposal of tangible fixed assets in quick service restaurants.
     The disposal of the Malibu brand, which was a condition of the acquisition of the Seagram spirits and wine businesses, resulted
in a gain before taxes of £532 million. Pillsbury was sold on 31 October 2001 and generated a gain before taxes of £322 million,
after writing back goodwill previously written off to reserves of £1,671 million. Other disposals in the year ended 30 June 2002
included Glen Ellen wines in North America which resulted in a loss before tax of £52 million, Guinness World Records Ltd which
resulted in a gain before tax of £35 million and others which resulted in a loss before tax of £16 million.
     In the year ended 30 June 2001, the disposals of premium drinks brands in Latin America resulted in a profit of £28 million.
Professional fees, retention bonuses and other costs totalling £51 million were incurred in the year relating to the Pillsbury/General
Mills transaction.

Taxation
The group complied with FRS 19 � Deferred tax for the first time during the year ended 30 June 2002. The effective rate of taxation
on profit before exceptional items for the year ended 30 June 2002 was 25.2%, compared with 24.0% for the year ended 30
June 2001. The 2001 tax charge benefited from a two percentage point reduction, reflecting a low effective rate of taxation in
respect of associated companies, which did not recur in 2002.
     The effective rate of taxation on profit after exceptional items for the year ended 30 June 2002 was 27.1% compared with 25.3%
for the year ended 30 June 2001.
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Premium drinks
The following discussion provides additional commentary on the trading performance of the premium drinks business with the
equivalent period in the prior year.
     In the discussion movements are segregated between �reported� or �organic� performance. �Reported� means that the measure
reflects movement in the number disclosed in the financial statements. �Organic� represents the movement excluding the impact of
exchange, acquisitions and disposals. In the discussion under �organic brand performance� for each market, movements given for
volume, turnover, net sales (after deducting excise duties) and marketing expenditure are organic movements. A further description
of organic movement, how it is calculated and why it is considered useful for the reader is set out on pages 19 and 20.
     The organic movement calculations for turnover, net sales (after deducting excise duties) and operating profit before exceptional
items for the year ended 30 June 2002 were as follows:

2001 Organic 2002 Organic
Reported Exchange Disposals Acquisitions movement Reported movement
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million %

Turnover
Major markets:
North America 2,092 38 (134) 431 242 2,669 12
Great Britain 1,304 � (22) 8 177 1,467 14
Ireland 942 8 (1) 1 (13) 937 (1)
Spain 335 3 (1) 18 25 380 7

4,673 49 (158) 458 431 5,453 9
Key markets 1,807 (37) (30) 227 111 2,078 6
Venture markets 1,100 1 (8) 8 72 1,173 7
Total premium drinks 7,580 13 (196) 693 614 8,704 8

Net sales (after deducting excise duties)
Major markets:
North America 1,741 35 (119) 362 211 2,230 13
Great Britain 797 � (18) 5 112 896 14
Ireland 627 5 (1) 1 (7) 625 (1)
Spain 262 2 (1) 13 22 298 8

3,427 42 (139) 381 338 4,049 10
Key markets 1,450 (27) (22) 136 94 1,631 7
Venture markets 845 � (7) 6 61 905 7
Total premium drinks 5,722 15 (168) 523 493 6,585 9
Excise duties 1,858 2,119
Turnover 7,580 8,704

Operating profit before exceptional items
Major markets:
North America 363 65 (39) 95 66 550 17
Great Britain 162 � (7) 3 46 204 30
Ireland 155 (8) � � 4 151 3
Spain 85 (2) � 7 4 94 5

765 55 (46) 105 120 999 16
Key markets 447 2 (10) 41 44 524 10
Venture markets 218 � (2) 2 25 243 12
Total premium drinks 1,430 57 (58) 148 189 1,766 13
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Notes

(1) The exchange adjustments for turnover, net sales (after deducting excise duties) and operating profit before exceptional items
are principally in respect of the US dollar.

(2) Disposal adjustments for turnover, net sales (after deducting excise duties) and operating profit before exceptional items
respectively were in relation to the termination of the distribution rights for Stolichnaya vodka in the United States (£94 million,
£81 million, £32 million); the sale of Croft and Delaforce port and sherry brands (£18 million, £14 million, £7 million); the disposal of
Malibu rum (£12 million, £11 million, £6 million); the sale of Glen Ellen wines (£15 million, £14 million, £2 million); the disposal of
Guinness World Records (£22 million, £22 million, £4 million); the sale of Dreher brands in Brazil (£24 million, £16 million,
£6 million); and other disposals (£11 million, £10 million, £1 million).

(3) Acquisition adjustments for turnover, net sales (after deducting excise duties) and operating profit before exceptional items
respectively were in relation to the purchase of the Seagram spirits and wine businesses (£573 million, £451 million, £130 million);
and the acquisition of further equity interests in former associated companies which are now subsidiaries (£120 million, £72 million,
£18 million).

(4) In the calculation of operating profit before exceptional items the overheads included in disposals and acquisitions were directly
attributable to those businesses and do not result from subjective judgements of management.

(5) The organic movement percentage is the amount in the column headed organic movement in the table above expressed as a
percentage of the aggregate of the first three columns. The basis of the calculation of the organic movement is explained on
page 20.

Organic brand performance:
Net sales

(after
deducting

Equivalent Volume
excise
duties)

units movement movement
millions % %

Smirnoff 21.8 21 42
Johnnie Walker 10.6 1 4
Guinness 11.1 � 5
Baileys 5.7 10 9
JεB 6.3 2 3
José Cuervo 4.2 (2) 2
Tanqueray 1.9 � 1
Malibu (sold 22 May 2002) 2.2 7 6
Total global priority brands 63.8 8 13
Local priority brands 13.8 2 10
Category brands 26.6 (4) (1)

104.2 4 9

Acquisitions
Seagram brands 7.5
Other 2.0
Total 113.7

Analysis by individual markets

North America
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Key measures:
Reported Organic

2002 2001 movement movement
£ million £ million % %

Volume 18 7
Turnover 2,669 2,092 28 12
Net sales (after deducting excise duties) 2,230 1,741 28 13
Marketing 408 302 35 15
Operating profit before exceptional items 550 363 52 17

Reported performance Turnover in North America increased 28% on a reported basis from £2,092 million in the year ended 30
June 2001 to £2,669 million in the year ended 30 June 2002. Net sales (after deducting excise duties), a non-GAAP measure,
increased from £1,741 million to £2,230 million, an increase of 28%. Operating profit before exceptional items increased from
£363 million to £550 million, an increase of £187 million.
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Organic performance These increases were primarily due to acquisitions, which contributed an additional £431 million to turnover,
£362 million to net sales (after deducting excise duties) and £95 million to operating profit before exceptional items compared with
the prior year. The increases, were principally generated by the brands acquired with Seagram. These were partly offset by the
effect of disposals, which in the year ended 30 June 2001 contributed an incremental £134 million, £119 million and £39 million to
turnover, net sales (after deducting excise duties) and operating profit before exceptional items, respectively. This disposal impact
is primarily attributable to the termination of the distribution rights for Stolichnaya in the year ended 30 June 2001 (£94 million,
£81 million and £32 million impact on turnover, net sales (after deducting excise duties) and operating profit before exceptional
items, respectively) and to the disposal of the GlenEllen wine business which completed in May 2002 (£15 million, £14 million and
£2 million impact on turnover, net sales (after deducting excise duties) and operating profit before exceptional items, respectively).
     The US dollar was relatively stable against sterling, with the average rate moving from £1 = $1.45 to £1 = $1.44. After taking
account of the effect of the group�s hedges (see �Liquidity and capital resources � Currency risk�) exchange had a limited beneficial
impact on reported turnover and net sales (after deducting excise duties) (£38 million and £35 million respectively). However, the
beneficial impact on operating profit before exceptional items, affected by the losses arising from currency translation hedging
arrangements in the year ended 30 June 2001, was more significant (£65 million).

Organic brand performance:
Net sales

(after
deducting

Volume
excise
duties)

movement movement
% %

Smirnoff 34 68
Johnnie Walker 1 6
José Cuervo � 3
Baileys 7 4
Tanqueray (2) (1)
Guinness (1) 9
JεB (10) (7)
Total global priority brands 14 22
Local priority brands � (3)
Category brands (5) (7)
Total 7 13

�Volume of global priority brands up 14%

�Growth of new products and improvements in product mix
Global priority brands posted strong growth, with volume up 14% over the prior year. The growth principally comprised strong
performances by Smirnoff, Baileys and Johnnie Walker Black Label. Volume of JεB, Tanqueray, Johnnie Walker Red Label and
Guinness declined.
     Marketing spend increased over the prior year, by 15%, driven by investment in Smirnoff Ice as well as increases in Johnnie
Walker Black Label, Malibu and Tanqueray.
     Smirnoff continued to lead the global priority brand growth with strong performance in the core brand, where volume was up 9%,
and strong growth in Smirnoff Flavours and Smirnoff Ice. Total net sales (after deducting excise duties) growth was therefore 68%.
Smirnoff Ice has continued to show strong growth since its launch in January 2001 and volume grew from 1.1 million equivalent
units in the year ended 30 June 2001 to 2.8 million equivalent units.
     Guinness net sales (after deducting excise duties) grew 9% despite a 1% volume decline, due to price increases and a
favourable product mix. In its first nine months in the market, Guinness Draught in Bottles represented more than 10% of total
Guinness volume in the North American market.
     Johnnie Walker total volume grew 1%, whilst net sales (after deducting excise duties) grew 6% during the year due to a
favourable mix between Johnnie Walker Black Label, which grew net sales (after deducting excise duties) 11%, and Johnnie
Walker Red Label, where net sales (after deducting excise duties) declined 1%.
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     Baileys volume grew by 7% during the year however net sales (after deducting excise duties) growth was impacted by the
introduction of trial packaging formats and grew 4%.
     Volume of JεB declined 10% in the year and net sales (after deducting excise duties) were down 7% as a result of price
increases. Contribution after marketing improved, mainly as a result of reduction in marketing spend.
     Tanqueray volume declined by 2% while net sales (after deducting excise duties) declined only 1% as a result of a change in
product mix to more profitable product sizes and growing on-premise sales.
     José Cuervo volume was level for the year with net sales (after deducting excise duties) up 3% following the prior year�s price
increases to cover the rising agave prices. Towards the end of the year, volume performance improved following selective price
reductions.
     Volume of Captain Morgan, a former Seagram brand, was level in the year ended 30 June 2002 versus the year ended 30
June 2001, as a result of substantial de-stocking of the brand. On a depletion basis, against the six months ended 30 June 2001,
volume was up 9%. Captain Morgan gained 0.4 market share percentage points in the growing US rum category. The brand is
responding well to renewed distributor focus.
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Volume of Crown Royal, another former Seagram brand, declined 2% in the six months ended 30 June 2002, again as a result of
de-stocking and depletions were up 1%.
     Some of the local priority brands showed weak performance with volume declines in Gordon�s gin and Goldschlager. Overall,
volume was level and net sales (after deducting excise duties) declined 3% during the year. Category brands such as Popov and
Gordon�s vodka also declined during the year, with volume down 5% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) down 7%.

Other business performance drivers Innovation continued to impact the North American performance positively. During the year,
Smirnoff Ice volume showed strong selling growth, with the brand achieving a market share of approximately 1% of the US beer
market and maintaining its position as the number one selling ready to drink brand. Smirnoff Ice now represents nearly one-third of
the segment after just 18 months in the market. New product formats such as the 24-ounce format performed very well, as did the
16-ounce PET format that can be sold in sites where glass bottles are forbidden, such as sports arenas. The Smirnoff Ice six-pack
is now number one in terms of dollar sales of premium beer in the grocery channel. Launched in September 2001, Guinness
Draught in Bottles has exceeded initial targets for the brand with volume of over 100,000 equivalent units. Smirnoff Twist volume
more than doubled to over 700,000 equivalent units.
     The former Seagram wine business was transitioned into a new business, Diageo Chateau & Estates Wines, combining the
Seagram and existing Diageo wine businesses in North America.
     Diageo�s North American business has achieved substantial progress on its strategic agenda over the year. Most notably, the
Next Generation Growth (NGG) strategy was launched in the year. See �Business description � Premium drinks � North America� for
further information.

Great Britain

Key measures:
Reported Organic

2002 2001 movement movement
£ million £ million % %

Volume 9 11
Turnover 1,467 1,304 13 14
Net sales (after deducting excise duties) 896 797 12 14
Marketing 188 169 11 13
Operating profit before exceptional items 204 162 26 30

Reported performance Great Britain showed a very strong performance in the year ended 30 June 2002. Turnover was up 13%
on a reported basis from £1,304 million to £1,467 million. Net sales (after deducting excise duties), a non-GAAP measure, were up
£99 million (12%) to £896 million and operating profit before exceptional items increased 26% on a reported basis from £162 million
in the year ended 30 June 2001 to £204 million in the year ended 30 June 2002.

Organic performance The principal driver of this performance was organic growth, contributing £177 million to the turnover
improvement, £112 million to the net sales (after deducting excise duties) growth and £46 million to the rise in operating profit
before exceptional items.
     The impact of the Seagram brands acquired was minimal, although disposals, principally the Malibu brand in May 2002 and
Guinness World Records in July 2001, adversely affected turnover, net sales (after deducting excise duties) and operating profit
before exceptional items by £22 million,£18 million and £7 million, respectively. There was no impact from exchange rate
movements.

Organic brand performance:
Net sales

(after
deducting

Volume
excise
duties)
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movement movement
% %

Smirnoff 15 15
Guinness � 1
Baileys 27 18
Total global priority brands 9 9
Local priority brands 14 28
Category brands 12 18
Total 11 14

�Growth of global priority brands with volume up 9%

�14% volume growth of the local priority brands

�Favourable product mix
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Key growth drivers were an increase in marketing spend, up 13% during the year and successful innovation. Three global priority
brands, Smirnoff Red, Baileys and Johnnie Walker, continued to improve on the prior year�s strong performance.
     Smirnoff Red is the number one spirit in the GB market and volume was up 15% with net sales (after deducting excise duties)
up 15%. Market share in the vodka category increased to 34%.
     Baileys showed net sales (after deducting excise duties) growth of 18%, suggesting that the brand is beginning to benefit from
marketing aimed at reducing the seasonality of the product.
     Johnnie Walker, which sold over 50,000 equivalent units in Great Britain, had net sales (after deducting excise duties) growth of
16% during the year following an increase in marketing spend.
     Other brands also performed well. While Guinness volume was level due to weakness in the overall beer category, market
share increased in the on trade beer sector. Bell�s volume grew 4% and Gordon�s grew 7%. Pimm�s, another local priority brand,
showed strong growth, with volume up 18%, as innovation such as Pimm�s Draught broadened the reach of the brand. In addition,
the Diageo wine portfolio had an excellent year, with Blossom Hill volume growing 45%.

Other business performance drivers Innovation was an important element of the overall growth. There were new Smirnoff Ice
offerings, including new pack formats such as multi-packs and a larger 70cl bottle. Gordon�s Edge and Archers Aqua Raspberry
were also launched in the year. Great Britain has shown great success in the ready to drink category. Smirnoff Ice volume was up
19% year on year, significantly outpacing the growing ready to drink category and market share grew to 28%. Archers Aqua volume
grew 179,000 equivalent units, up from 41,000 equivalent units in the prior year. In April 2002, the excise duty rate for ready to
drink products was increased and was passed through into an increase in retail prices. Subsequent market data suggests a
negative impact on rate of sale in the on trade across the category as a consequence. Diageo has already responded to this new
challenge with the launch in August of Smirnoff Black Ice, a new vodka-based ready to drink designed to appeal to male
consumers, and increased marketing support behind Archers Aqua and Smirnoff Ice.

Ireland

Key measures:
Reported Organic

2002 2001 movement movement
£ million £ million % %

Volume (1) �
Turnover 937 942 (1) (1)
Net sales(after deducting excise duties) 625 627 � (1)
Marketing 65 63 3 3
Operating profit before exceptional items 151 155 (3) 3

Reported performance Ireland�s performance was broadly in line with the prior year. Turnover was down £5 million (1%) on a
reported basis, to £937 million and net sales (after deducting excise duties), a non-GAAP measure, were down £2 million at
£625 million. Operating profit before exceptional items was down £4 million (3% on a reported basis) from £155 million in the prior
year to £151 million in the year ended 30 June 2002.

Organic performance The impact of acquisitions and disposals was insignificant and the beneficial effect of exchange rate
movements on the euro (£1 = �1.61 in the year ended 30 June 2002 compared with £1 =�1.63 in the prior year) was largely offset by
organic performance of the brands at the turnover and net sales (after deducting excise duties) levels. However, there was an
adverse effect of exchange rate movements (after the impact of the group�s hedges � see �Liquidity and capital resources � Currency
risk�) of £8 million on operating profit before exceptional items, partly offset by organic growth of £4 million.

Organic brand performance:
Net sales

(after
deducting

Volume
excise
duties)

Edgar Filing: DIAGEO PLC - Form 20-F/A

Table of Contents 56



movement movement
% %

Guinness (3) �
Smirnoff 3 (2)
Baileys 7 6
Total global priority brands (1) �
Local priority brands � 5
Category brands 7 (10)
Total � (1)
In Ireland, Diageo�s overall share of the beverage alcohol market has been maintained, with market share increases for most
priority brands in their respective categories.
     The declining beer market and a continuing trend away from stout impacted Guinness sales, which account for 37% of Diageo�s
volume in the market. Although Guinness volume decreased during the year, increased advertising and marketing slowed the
decline, from 4% in the first half of the year to 2% in the second half. For the year, the brand had a 3% volume decline and net
sales (after deducting excise duties) were level.
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Volume of Smirnoff increased by 3% overall and it gained share. Smirnoff Red delivered strong performance with volume up 6%
while volume of Smirnoff Ice declined by 14% against a decline in the first half of 17%.Smirnoff Ice achieved virtually full distribution
at launch and after the high initial level of consumer trial, sales have settled to more normal levels. The rate of consumption in the
on trade was also impacted by aggressive trade price increases behind the brand�s number one market share and brand strength. A
trial of Smirnoff Ice on Draught began in over 400 outlets which has been met with a very positive response.
     Baileys strong growth continued with volume up 7% with success in both the on and off trade.
     Budweiser and Carlsberg, which are agency brands, each grew volume by 2% and made further market share gains in the
sector.

Spain

Key measures:
Reported Organic

2002 2001 movement movement
£ million £ million % %

Volume 8 4
Turnover 380 335 13 7
Net sales(after deducting excise duties) 298 262 14 8
Marketing 71 70 1 5
Operating profit before exceptional items 94 85 11 5

Reported performance Turnover in Spain was up £45 million (13%) on a reported basis to £380 million in the year ended 30
June 2002. Net sales (after deducting excise duties), a non-GAAP measure, grew £36 million (14%) to £298 million. Operating
profit before exceptional items was up £9 million (11%) on a reported basis to £94 million in the year ended 30 June 2002.

Organic performance The principal drivers of growth in Spain were the impact of the Seagram brands acquired in December 2001
and organic growth of continuing brands. In the six months ended 31 December 2002 the Seagram brands contributed turnover,
net sales (after deducting excise duties) and operating profit before exceptional items of £18 million, £13 million and £7 million,
respectively. Underlying growth of continuing brands added £25 million, £22 million and £4 million, respectively.
     Operating profit before exceptional items was up 11% to £94 million on a reported basis despite higher marketing costs on JεB
associated with preparation for the launch in June 2002 of JεB Twist and a year on year change in the basis of recharge of JεB
production costs to Spain. Exchange rate movements on the euro had little impact on reported results.

Organic brand performance:
Net sales

(after
deducting

Volume excise duties)
movement movement

% %
JεB 5 6
Baileys 11 13
Johnnie Walker (1) 9
Smirnoff (2) 14
Total global priority brands 6 9
Local priority brands 6 10
Category brands (6) 1
Total 4 8

�Volume and profit growth of priority brands
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�Marketing spend on JεB up over 25%
Global priority brands showed strong performance with net sales (after deducting excise duties) growth of 9% and with many of the
brands achieving market share gains. Performance in the year ended 30 June 2002 was somewhat softer than that achieved in the
first half as a result of the retailer buy-in during December in anticipation of an 8% duty increase in January.
     JεB, which represents nearly half of Diageo�s volume in Spain, has been the only exception to the aggressive pricing policy
pursued in Spain. The brand continues to build on its number one market position. Marketing spend increased 27%. As a result,
volume grew by 5%, net sales (after deducting excise duties) grew by 6% and market share increased slightly to 26%.
     Johnnie Walker Black Label continued its positive trend with a 32% volume increase and a similar net sales (after deducting
excise duties) increase. However, Johnnie Walker Red Label declined by 8% in volume and by 3% in net sales (after deducting
excise duties) during the year after a price increase.
     Following a 10% price increase, Smirnoff Red volume was down 3% although net sales (after deducting excise duties)
increased by 6%. Baileys volume grew 11% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) grew by 13%, supported by the �Let Your
Senses Guide You� campaign and off-premise marketing.
     Guinness, though still a relatively small proportion of Diageo�s business in Spain, showed a 33% increase in volume over the
year. Similarly, José Cuervo, another relatively small brand in Spain, had very strong growth, with volume up 37% and net sales
(after deducting excise duties) up 44%.
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Cardhu, a local priority brand, increased volume 6% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) 10%. In addition, volume of
Cacique, a former Seagram brand, increased 13% in the year ended 30 June 2002 in the growing rum category. Cacique is the
leader in this category by a clear margin and is making further share gains. Pampero showed continued strong growth, with volume
up 22% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) up 34%.
     Diageo launched its first ready to drink products across Spain in the year. JεB Twist was test marketed during the year and
launched in June 2002. Smirnoff Ice, targeted to tourist locations, delivered a very strong performance in the year contributing to a
14% increase in net sales (after deducting excise duties) of the Smirnoff brand overall.

Key markets

Key measures:
Reported Organic

2002 2001 movement movement
£ million £ million % %

Volume 3 �
Turnover 2,078 1,807 15 6
Net sales (after deducting excise duties) 1,631 1,450 12 7
Marketing 239 229 4 1
Operating profit before exceptional items 524 447 17 10

Reported performance In key markets, growth was based principally on the impact of the acquired Seagram brands and on strong
organic performances from the other brands. Turnover was up £271 million (15%) on a reported basis from £1,807 million in the
year ended 30 June 2001 to £2,078 million.
     Operating profit before exceptional items was up £77 million (17%) on a reported basis to £524 million in the year ended 30
June 2002.

Organic performance Turnover benefited from acquisitions by £227 million and from organic growth in continuing brands of
£111 million. The effect of disposals reduced turnover by £30 million, principally due to the sale of the Dreher brand in Brazil in
January 2001 (£24 million). Exchange rate movements, particularly the Venezuelan Bolivar, adversely affected turnover by £37
million. The drivers of net sales (after deducting excise duties) growth (up £181 million) were the same as those for turnover.
Organic growth in key markets was the result of very strong performance by several markets, most notably Africa, Australia,
Greece and Taiwan. Exchange rate movements had a positive effect of £2 million on operating profit before exceptional items.
     Operating profit benefited from acquisitions (£41 million) and organic growth (£44 million), offset by disposals (£10 million,
including Dreher £6 million).

Organic brand performance:
Net sales

(after
deducting

Volume
excise
duties)

movement movement
% %

Johnnie Walker 1 3
Guinness 6 21
JεB 3 7
Smirnoff 8 23
Baileys 7 9
Total global priority brands 4 10
Local priority brands (1) 10
Category brands (5) 1
Total � 7
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�Global priority brands volume up 4%

�Strong volume and profit growth in Africa, Australia and Taiwan

�Volume weakness in Latin America
Volume was level whilst net sales (after deducting excise duties) grew 7% over the period. This is a result of price and mix
improvement. Marketing investment increased by 1%.
     Global priority brands accounted for more than half of key market volume and showed volume growth of 4% and net sales (after
deducting excise duties) growth of 10% during the year. All of the global priority brands, with the exception of José Cuervo, grew
net sales (after deducting excise duties) with Guinness, Smirnoff, Baileys and Johnnie Walker Black Label performing particularly
well as a result of both volume growth and price increases. Ready to drink, including, but not limited to, Smirnoff Ice, also showed
strong performance.
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Africa, representing nearly 40% of the key market volume, grew 7% in volume and 19% in net sales (after deducting excise duties)
over the prior year. Guinness, which accounted for approximately a quarter of African volume, continued to perform well with
volume up 6% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) up 23% due to price increases implemented to counter capacity
constraints. Smirnoff, which accounts for 14% of the volume, grew 6% in volume terms and 25% in net sales (after deducting
excise duties). Ready to drink products showed strong growth, with volume up 71%. Cameroon and Nigeria were impacted by
capacity constraints and production was directed away from category management brands, towards the supply of higher margin
Guinness. These capacity constraints have been addressed with the commissioning of two new production lines.
     In Australia, volume grew 7% as a result of robust priority brand performance. Volume of priority brands increased with Johnnie
Walker volume up 11% and Baileys volume up 20%. Baileys market share grew by 4 percentage points as a result of successful
marketing programmes such as consumer sampling and Baileys �Perfect Pour�. Bundaberg Rum, a local priority brand, increased its
volume by more than 10% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) by more than 25%. Smirnoff Red volume was up 29% in
the year. Innovation, particularly around ready to drink products, is still a major factor in Australia�s growth. Diageo�s ready to drink
products grew volume 40%. Volume of Johnnie Walker Red Label & Cola and Bundaberg & Cola was up significantly. Volume of
Smirnoff Baltik, however, was down 37% in the year as a result of reduction in marketing spend. Volume of Stoli Ruski was up
12%, with the launch of a new flavour range. New products such as Archers Aqua and UDL Fusion were launched towards the end
of the year.
     Despite volatile economic and political conditions in Latin America, including economic crises in Brazil and Venezuela, operating
profit increased year on year primarily as a result of growth in the first half. While overall volume declined across the region,
Buchanan�s volume grew 31% during the year, driven by a focus on effective marketing spend and a new advertising campaign. In
Venezuela, Johnnie Walker volume was up 17% and Buchanan�s was up 58% despite the challenging conditions. However,
Johnnie Walker volume was down 12% across the region. One of the major factors in the volume decline was the performance of
VAT 69 in Venezuela, with volume down 37%. During the year the price of VAT 69 was increased. In certain Latin American
markets, Diageo mitigated risk by reducing stock levels and tightening credit terms. These actions, which substantially reduced
exposure to debt risk and the possibility of stock write offs, did impact volume performance. Additionally, Diageo reduced
promotional spending in certain Latin American countries while maintaining media spend.
     South Korea is now Diageo�s most profitable Asian market. Windsor Premier, previously owned by Seagram, continued to grow
strongly with volume up 13% in the year ended June 2002. However, Dimple, a local priority brand that was previously distributed
by a third party, declined by 22%. Since January 2003, Dimple has been distributed through Diageo�s own in-market company.
     In Taiwan, the continued success of the �Keep Walking� campaign, together with the innovations in route to market, resulted in
40% volume growth in Johnnie Walker. Overall volume growth in the market was 33% and contribution after marketing was also up
33%.
     In Thailand, continued weakness in the economy led to volume decline of 8% although net sales (after deducting excise duties)
were up 2%. Johnnie Walker, which represents nearly half of Diageo�s volume in Thailand, and other global priority brands,
continued to perform well, whilst Spey Royal, a local priority brand, suffered, with volume down 24%. Following test marketing
during the year, Johnnie Walker One, a ready to drink product, was launched and supported by an advertising campaign that was
implemented in July 2002.
     In Greece, volume grew 8%. Johnnie Walker volume increased with both Johnnie Walker Red Label and Johnnie Walker Black
Label showing strong off trade performance. Smirnoff delivered 15% volume growth due to increased marketing effectiveness, with
marketing spend up 7%, and overall category growth. Baileys also showed a marked increase, driven by on trade sales. Smirnoff
Ice volume nearly trebled, moving to the number two position in the Greek ready to drink segment, behind Diageo�s Gordon�s
Space.
     The Global Duty Free market, which accounts for 8% of key market volume, was heavily impacted by the decrease in
international travel following the September 11 attacks. Against this background, however, volume was down only 5% for the year
which represents a strong relative performance, and contribution after marketing was in line with the prior year as a result of price
and mix improvements.

Venture markets

Key measures:
Reported Organic

2002 2001 movement movement
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£ million £ million % %
Volume (1) �
Turnover 1,173 1,100 7 7
Net sales (after deducting excise duties) 905 845 7 7
Marketing 156 147 6 8
Operating profit before exceptional items 243 218 11 12

Reported performance In Diageo�s venture markets, turnover was up 7%, on a reported basis, from £1,100 million to
£1,173 million in the year ended 30 June 2002.

Organic performance The principal driver of this performance was the organic growth of the brands (up £72 million). Growth in
Asia, the Caribbean, the Middle East and across much of Europe was partially offset by a reduction in travel retail business and
tough economic conditions in Latin America and Germany.
     The growth in net sales (after deducting excise duties) of £60 million (7%) and in operating profit before exceptional items of
£25 million (11%) was due to the organic growth of the brands.
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Organic brand performance:
Net sales

(after
deducting

Volume
excise
duties)

movement movement
% %

Johnnie Walker 1 4
Smirnoff 17 74
Guinness (2) (3)
Baileys 7 9
JεB (2) (3)
Total global priority brands 5 10
Local priority brands (16) 16
Category brands (5) �
Total � 7

�Volume of global priority brands up 5%

�Strong growth in the Caribbean markets

�Latin American markets negatively impacted by poor economic conditions
Volume was level during the year, though net sales (after deducting excise duties) increased by 7% principally as a result of
volume growth in the global priority brands of 5%. In the year Smirnoff Ice was launched in Germany and contributed £9 million to
net sales (after deducting excise duties).
     Across the venture markets, Diageo�s global priority brands, which accounted for more than half of the volume, performed well,
with volume growth of 5% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) growth of 10%. Johnnie Walker Black Label volume
increased 5% with strong performance in Asia and the Caribbean as a result of sharper focus on marketing and improved route to
market. Baileys also continued its growth, with volume up 7% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) up 9% across the
venture markets despite a decline in Germany. During the year, local priority brands showed a decline of 16% in volume but an
increase of 16% in net sales (after deducting excise duties). There were only two local priority brands in the venture markets, Red
Stripe in Jamaica and Gilbey�s whisky in India. While Red Stripe volume was up 6% and net sales (after deducting excise duties) up
8%, Gilbey�s volume was down 28%. Category brands showed a decline in volume of 5%, largely driven by declines in Gilbey�s Gin
in the Philippines and secondary whisky brands in Latin America. However, as a result of strong performance by Pampero in Italy,
Buchanan�s Deluxe in the Caribbean and Tiger in Malaysia, net sales (after deducting excise duties) was level for category brands.
     Marketing expenditure increased by 8% over the prior year, driven by heavy investment behind Smirnoff Ice in Switzerland, the
Netherlands and Germany. Increases also occurred in Italy for Baileys and in the Caribbean market for Johnnie Walker Black
Label.
     In Latin America, especially in Argentina in the face of the economic crisis there, prices were increased on early signs of
currency devaluation, and overall volume declined over 25%.
     In Germany, volume of Johnnie Walker Red Label, Baileys and José Cuervo were all adversely impacted by price increases,
resulting in an overall volume decline of 5% in that market. Smirnoff Ice was launched in the second half of the year and has
performed well.
     In India, the global priority brands performed very well, with volume up 21%. Diageo is in the process of selling Gilbey�s Green
Label and White Label whiskies, a local priority brand.
     The Philippines market showed weakness, with overall volume down approximately 20%, led by the 22% volume decline in
Gilbey�s gin.

Trend information

The following comments were made by Paul Walsh on the current financial year at the Diageo AGM on 22 October 2003.

Edgar Filing: DIAGEO PLC - Form 20-F/A

Table of Contents 64



�Looking to the future, while the outlook for a sustained recovery of world economies is still unclear Diageo has demonstrated its
ability to generate growth even in challenging times. In addition, signs of improvement are evident in some markets particularly in
the United States, which is now our most important market. Continued share gains, even in difficult markets such as those in Latin
America, provide further evidence that Diageo is well positioned to achieve superior performance. Therefore, while recognising that
we are only three months into the current financial year, we have not seen any trends emerging which would lead us to change our
view of Diageo�s future prospects.�
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Liquidity and capital resources

Cash flow A summary of the cash flow and reconciliation to movement in net borrowings for the three years ended 30 June 2003 is
as follows:

Year ended 30 June
2003 2002 2001

£
million £ million £ million

Operating profit 1,861 1,653 1,873
Exceptional operating costs 168 453 228
Depreciation and other amortisation 276 314 403
Working capital (227) (125) (54)
Restructuring and integration (185) (148) (144)
Other items 77 (139) (30)
Operating cash flow 1,970 2,008 2,276
Interest (327) (360) (446)
Dividends from associates 60 87 101
Dividends paid to equity minority interests (28) (40) (31)
Taxation (105) (311) (230)
Own shares purchased for employee share schemes (65) (64) (54)
Net capital expenditure (361) (528) (396)
Free cash flow 1,144 792 1,220
Acquisitions and disposals 833 1,508 (105)
Equity dividends paid (767) (758) (725)
Issue of share capital 4 11 31
Own shares purchased for cancellation (852) (1,658) (108)
Redemption of guaranteed preferred securities � � (39)
Exchange 227 267 (229)
Non-cash items 37 (179) 21
Decrease/(increase) in net borrowings 626 (17) 66
The primary sources of the group�s liquidity over the last three fiscal years have been cash generated from operations and cash
received from disposals. A portion of these funds has been used to fund acquisitions, share repurchases, to pay interest, dividends
and taxes, and to fund capital expenditure.
     Free cash flow is a non-GAAP liquidity measure that comprises the net cash flow arising from operating activities, dividends
received from associates, returns on investments and servicing of finance, taxation, and capital expenditure and financial
investment. Free cash flow as used by the company covers all the items that are required by FRS1 to be on the face of the cash
flow statement down to, and including, capital expenditure and financial investment. It is therefore a natural sub-total but may not
be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies. The group�s management believe the measure assists users
of the financial statements in understanding the group�s cash generating performance as it comprises items which arise from the
running of the ongoing business. Where appropriate, separate discussion is given for the impacts of acquisitions and disposals of
businesses, equity dividends and purchase of own shares � each of which arises from decisions which are independent from the
running of the ongoing underlying business. The management regards capital expenditure as ultimately non-discretionary since
ongoing investment in plant and machinery is required to support the day-to-day operations, whereas acquisitions and disposals of
businesses are discretionary. However, free cash flow does not necessarily reflect all amounts which the group either has a
constructive or legal obligation to incur. The free cash flow measure is also used by management for their own planning, budgeting,
reporting and incentive purposes since it provides information on those elements of performance which local managers are most
directly able to influence.
     Free cash flow was £1,144 million, compared with £792 million in the year ended 30 June 2002 and £1,220 million in the year
ended 30 June 2001. Cash inflow, in the year ended 30 June 2003, from operating activities was £1,970 million (2002 �
£2,008 million; 2001 � £2,276 million). Discontinued operations contributed £76 million (2002 � £346 million; 2001 � £852 million) to
operating cash flow. Operating cash flow included £185 million of restructuring and integration costs compared with £148 million
and £144 million in the years ended 30 June 2002 and 30 June 2001 respectively. The increase in the year ended 30 June 2003
largely arose because of costs incurred on the integration of the Seagram spirits and wine businesses (up £64 million to £133
million) partly offset by a reduction in the GUDV integration and other reorganisation costs. Working capital increased by
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£227 million in the year ended 30 June 2003 compared to an increase of £125 million and £54 million in the comparative years.
Interest payments including dividends paid to non-equity minority interests were £327 million compared with £360 million in the
year ended 30 June 2002 and £446 million in the year ended 30 June 2001. Purchases of tangible fixed assets in the current year
amounted to £382 million (2002 � £585 million; 2001 � £439 million) and were attributable to the following segments: premium drinks
£315 million and discontinued operations of £67 million (2002 � £330 million, and £255 million, respectively; 2001 � £176 million and
£263 million, respectively). There were no individually significant expenditures on tangible fixed assets during the three years
ended 30 June 2003. The company spent £65 million on the purchase of its own ordinary
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shares for employee option schemes compared to £64 million in the prior year and £54 million in the year ended 30 June 2001. Tax
payments were lower in the year ended 30 June 2003 than the comparable years at £105 million due principally to repayments of
prior year corporation tax in the United Kingdom and United States. It is expected that tax payments will increase in the year ending
30 June 2004 as minimal tax refunds are anticipated. In the year ending 30 June 2004 it is anticipated that the group will make
contributions of approximately £100 million to the UK Diageo pension fund.
     Sale of businesses generated £912 million (2002 � £5,100 million; 2001 � £31 million), including £642 million from the disposal of
Burger King, and £173 million ($273 million) from the contingent value right received as final settlement from General Mills on the
sale of Pillsbury. In addition,£58 million ($89 million) was received from the call option agreements granted to General Mills over
29 million of General Mills� ordinary shares held by Diageo. The sale consideration received in the year ended 30 June 2002 arose
principally from the disposal of Pillsbury and the subsequent sale of shares in General Mills to General Mills, the Malibu brand
disposal and the subsequent sale of businesses acquired in connection with the Seagram acquisition. The sale consideration
received in the year ended 30 June 2001 included the net proceeds in respect of the sale of UDV Indústria e Comércio Ltda in
Brazil, less costs in respect of the combination of Pillsbury with General Mills.
     The consideration received in the year ended 30 June 2003 was offset by cash outflows in respect of acquisitions of
£137 million (2002 � £3,592 million; 2001 � £136 million). The acquisition of the Seagram spirits and wine businesses in the year
ended 30 June 2002 cost £3,533 million. The amounts spent on acquisitions in the year ended 30 June 2001 included £56 million
on the remaining 50% equity interest in Bundaberg Distilling Investments Pty Limited in Australia.

Capital repayments The group�s management is committed to enhancing shareholder value, both by investing in the businesses
and brands so as to improve the return on investment and by managing the capital structure so as to reduce the cost of capital,
while maintaining prudent financial ratios. See �Risk management� below.
     The company acquired, and subsequently cancelled,116 million (2002 � 198 million; 2001 � 18 million) ordinary shares during the
year ended 30 June 2003 for a consideration including expenses of £852 million (2002 � £1,658 million; 2001 � £108 million). The
group continues to review its capital structure and will continue to conduct share buy-backs when appropriate.

Borrowings In the year ended 30 June 2003 the group�s policy has been to maintain the proportion of borrowings maturing within
one year at below 60% of total borrowings, and to maintain the level of commercial paper at below 50% of total borrowings. In
addition, it is group policy to maintain backstop facility terms from relationship banks to support commercial paper obligations. In
June 2003 the board reviewed and agreed changes to debt maturity and liquidity policies to be implemented during the year ending
30 June 2004 to limit the proportion of borrowings maturing within 12 months to 50% of gross borrowings less money market
demand deposits and the level of commercial paper to 30% of gross borrowings less money market demand deposits.

The group�s net borrowings comprise the following:
As at 30 June

2003 2002 2001
£

million £ million £ million
Total borrowings (6,544) (7,429) (7,595)
Finance leases (1) (28) (41)
Offset by:
Cash and bank deposits 1,191 1,596 1,842
Interest rate and foreign currency swaps 484 365 315

(4,870) (5,496) (5,479)

The group�s net borrowings (after the impact of foreign currency swaps) were denominated in the following currencies:
Total US dollar Sterling Euro Other

£ million % % % %
Net borrowings
2003 (4,870) 87 (15) 26 2
2002 (5,496) 86 (9) 21 2
2001 (5,479) 81 (4) 21 2
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Cash and bank deposits were denominated in the following currencies (bank deposits represent amounts placed with financial
institutions which require notice of withdrawals of more than 24 hours to avoid an interest penalty):

Total US dollar Sterling Euro Other
£ million % % % %

Cash and bank deposits
2003 1,191 53 14 15 18
2002 1,596 46 33 7 14
2001 1,842 43 29 11 17
The effective interest rate for the year ended 30 June 2003, based on average monthly net borrowings and interest charge,
excluding the group�s share of associate interest was 5.3% (2002 � 7.4%; 2001 � 6.2%).
     The maturities of the borrowings due within one year (net of interest rate and foreign currency swaps) for 2003 were
£3,079 million (2002 � £3,687 million; 2001 � £3,587 million) and due after five years were £795 million (2002 � £624 million; 2001 �
£686 million).
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The following table summarises the group�s borrowings excluding overdrafts and net of interest rate, cross currency and foreign
currency swaps:

As at 30 June
2003 2002 2001

£ million £ million £ million
Global bonds 1,808 657 707
Yankee bonds 423 788 850
Zero coupon bonds 712 714 710
Guaranteed notes 242 263 497
Repurchase agreements � � 800
Preferred capital securities 455 493 532
Medium term notes 593 1,067 832
Commercial paper 863 1,600 1,310
Others (including swaps) 882 1,215 821

5,978 6,797 7,059
During the year ended 30 June 2003 the group borrowed £1,258 million in the form of global bonds and £126 million in the form of
medium term notes. The global bonds mature in 2007 and 2008. The medium term notes are repayable in 2018. During the year
ended 30 June 2002 the group borrowed £500 million in the form of guaranteed bonds and £449 million in the form of medium term
notes. The guaranteed bonds mature in December 2003 and the medium term notes were repaid during 2003. During the year
ended 30 June 2001 the group borrowed £832 million in the form of preferred capital securities and repurchase agreements and
£458 million in the form of medium term notes. The preferred capital securities (£532 million), and the repurchase agreements
(£300 million) were repayable on demand (with 30 and 5 days� notice, respectively). The medium term notes were repaid by
31 December 2002.
     The £626 million decrease in net borrowings from 30 June 2002 to 30 June 2003 reflects free cash flow (see Glossary of
£1,144 million noted above, net receipts for sales/purchases of businesses of £833 million and decreases due to exchange
movements of £227 million, less dividends paid of £767 million and own shares purchased for cancellation of £852 million. The
£17 million increase in net borrowings from 30 June 2001 to 30 June 2002 reflected free cash inflow of £792 million noted above,
net receipts for sales/purchases of businesses of £1,508 million and decreases due to exchange movements of £267 million, less
dividends paid of £758 million and own shares purchased for cancellation of £1,658 million.
     At 30 June 2003, the group had available undrawn committed bank facilities of £1,970 million (2002 � £2,105 million; 2001 �
£2,269 million). Of the facilities,£1,182 million expire in the period up to May 2004 and £788 million expire in the period up to
May 2007. Commitment fees are paid on the undrawn portion of these facilities. Borrowings under these facilities will be at
prevailing LIBOR rates plus an agreed margin, which is dependent on the period of drawdown. These facilities can be used for
general corporate purposes and, together with cash and cash equivalents, support the group�s commercial paper programmes. The
committed bank facilities are subject to a single financial covenant, being a minimum interest cover ratio of two times (defined as
the ratio of operating profit before exceptional items aggregated with share of profits of associates to net interest). They are also
subject to pari passu ranking and negative pledge covenants.
     Any non compliance with covenants underlying Diageo�s financing arrangements could, if not waived, constitute an event of
default with respect to any such arrangements, and any non compliance with covenants may, in particular circumstances, lead to
an acceleration of maturity on certain notes and the inability to access committed facilities. Diageo was in full compliance with all of
its financial covenants throughout each of the periods presented.
     Capital commitments not provided for at 30 June 2003 were estimated at £62 million (2002 � £43 million; 2001 � £69 million).
     Diageo management believes that it has sufficient funding for its working capital requirements.

Contractual obligations
Payments due by period

Less
than More than

1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years Total
£

million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Long term debt obligations 2,617 919 1,267 795 5,598
Operating leases 57 84 66 209 416
Purchase obligations 594 551 332 493 1,970
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Provisions for liabilities and charges and creditors greater
than one year 107 44 6 83 240

3,375 1,598 1,671 1,580 8,224
Long term debt obligations comprise borrowings (before deducting interest rate and foreign currency swaps) with an original
maturity of greater than one year. Purchase obligations include various long term purchase contracts entered into for the supply of
certain raw materials, principally grapes, cans and glass bottles. The contracts are used to guarantee supply of raw materials over
the long term and to enable more accurate predictions of future costs. It is expected that all contractual commitments be funded
from future operating cash flows and no new borrowings will be required to meet these obligations. Provisions for liabilities and
charges and creditors greater than one year exclude, £43 million in respect of vacant properties (included in operating leases),
£119 million for an onerous contract (included in purchase obligations), post employment provisions and deferred taxation.
     In addition the group has £343 million of 9.42% cumulative guaranteed preferred securities which are included in non-equity
minority interests on the consolidated balance sheet. The securities are redeemable only at the option of the company in or after
2004.
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Off-balance sheet arrangements
In connection with the disposal of non-core businesses the group has given guarantees of third party debt which were necessary to
complete the disposals on the most favourable terms. The directors are not aware of any instances of default by the borrowers at
present, but the ability of the borrowers to continue to be in compliance with the guaranteed debt instruments, and in particular
remaining current on payments of interest and repayments of principal, is significantly dependent on the current and future
operations of those borrowers and their affiliates. At 30 June 2003 Diageo had outstanding guarantees in respect of Burger King
and International Multifoods Corporation. Diageo has guaranteed up to $850 million (£515 million) of external borrowings of Burger
King. These loans have a term of five years from December 2002, although Diageo and Burger King have structured their
arrangements to encourage refinancing by Burger King on a non-guaranteed basis prior to the end of five years. The primary
covenants under the guarantee are pari passu ranking negative pledge. See �Additional information for shareholders � Material
contracts � Agreement for the sale of Burger King Corporation�, for further information. In connection with the disposal of Pillsbury in
October 2001, Diageo has guaranteed $200 million (£121 million) of International Multifoods Corporation�s debt, repayable in
November 2009.
     In addition, certain of the acquired Seagram businesses had pre-existing guarantees at the date of the acquisition in relation to
the solvency of a third party partnership. This partnership has outstanding loans of $100 million (£61 million). Vivendi has
indemnified the group against any losses relating to these arrangements.
     The above guarantees are unrelated to the ongoing operations of the group�s premium drinks business.
     The group also has unrecognised gains and losses of £386 million and £298 million, respectively, in respect of financial
instruments at 30 June 2003. For further disclosures with regard to financial instruments see note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.
     Save as disclosed above, neither Diageo plc nor any member of the Diageo group, has any off-balance sheet financing
arrangements that currently have or are reasonably likely to have a material future effect on the group�s financial condition, changes
in financial condition, results of operation, liquidity, capital expenditure or capital resources.

Risk management

The group�s funding, liquidity and exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks are managed by the group�s treasury
department. The treasury department uses a combination of derivative and conventional financial instruments to manage these
underlying treasury risks.
     Treasury operations are conducted within a framework of board-approved policies and guidelines, which are recommended and
subsequently monitored by the finance committee (this committee is described in the corporate governance report). These include
benchmark exposure and/or hedge cover levels for each of the key areas of treasury risk. The benchmarks and hedge cover levels
are reviewed by the board as deemed appropriate following significant business or strategic changes. In June 2002 the board
reviewed and approved changes to the group�s interest rate and foreign exchange risk management policies in the light of the
group�s transition to a focused premium drinks company, its managing for value principles and recent trends in accounting
standards. The transition to the revised policies, which are described below began during the year ended 30 June 2003. The
framework provides for limited defined levels of flexibility in execution to allow for the optimal application of the board-approved
strategies. Transactions giving rise to exposures away from the defined benchmark levels arising on the application of this flexibility
are separately monitored on a daily basis using value at risk analysis. They are carried at fair value and gains or losses are taken
to the profit and loss account as they arise. At 30 June 2003 gains and losses on these transactions were not material. In
June 2003, the board reviewed and approved changes to the group�s liquidity risk management policies. Transition to the new
policies, which are described below, will take place during the year ending 30 June 2004.
     The finance committee receives bi-monthly reports on the activities of the treasury department, including any exposures away
from the defined benchmarks. The internal control environment is reviewed regularly.

Currency risk The group publishes its financial statements in sterling and conducts business in many foreign currencies. As a
result, it is subject to foreign currency exchange risk due to exchange rate movements which will affect the group�s transaction
costs, and the translation of the results and underlying net assets of its foreign subsidiaries.
     The group hedges a substantial portion of its exposure to fluctuations on the translation into sterling of its foreign currency net
assets by holding net borrowings in foreign currencies and by using foreign currency swaps and cross currency interest rate swaps.
The group�s policy is to hedge currency exposure on its net assets before net borrowings at approximately the following
percentages � 90% for US dollars, 90% for euros and 50% for other significant currencies where a liquid foreign exchange market

Edgar Filing: DIAGEO PLC - Form 20-F/A

Table of Contents 72



exists. This policy leaves the remaining part of the group�s net assets before net borrowings subject to currency movements. During
the year ended 30 June 2003, Diageo increased the proportion of US dollar currency exposure being hedged from 75% to
approximately 90% in line with the revised policies agreed by the board in June 2002. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of foreign currency net borrowings and foreign exchange swaps are recognised in the statement of total recognised
gains and losses to match exchange differences on foreign equity investments, in accordance with SSAP 20.
     Following the June 2002 policy review, the group no longer undertakes profit translation hedging in respect of US dollar and
euro forecast future profit before exceptional items and tax. The change in policy means that from 1 July 2003 the group�s profit
before exceptional items and tax is exposed to the full impact of translation movements in exchange. During the year ended
30 June 2003 the group did have profit translation hedges in place against a proportion of its core premium drinks business at the
profit before exceptional items and tax level.
     For currencies in which there is an active market, the group hedges between 80% and 100% of transactional foreign exchange
rate risk, up to 18 months forward, using forward foreign currency exchange contracts. The gain or loss on the hedge is recognised
at the same time as the underlying transaction.

Interest rate risk The group has an exposure to interest rate risk and within this category of market risk, is most vulnerable to
changes in US dollar, sterling and euro interest rates. To manage interest rate risk, the group manages its proportion of fixed to
variable rate borrowings within limits approved by the board, primarily through issuing long term fixed rate bonds, medium term
notes and floating rate commercial paper, and by utilising interest rate swaps, cross currency interest rate swaps and swaptions.
The profile of fixed rate to floating rate net borrowings is maintained such that projected net borrowings are targeted to be fully
floating after five years, and are approximately 50% fixed and 50% floating on an amortising profile within five years. The floating
element of US dollar net borrowings within five years is partly protected using interest rate collars. Following the June 2002 policy
review, the level of interest rate collars will reduce. Remaining interest rate collars as at 30 June 2003 will take up to approximately
three years to expire. In addition, where appropriate, the group may use forward rate agreements
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to manage short term interest rate exposures. Swaps, swaptions, forward rate agreements and collars are accounted for as
hedges. Such management serves to increase the accuracy of the business planning process and to help manage the interest
cover ratio. Diageo has a target range for cash interest cover (defined as operating profit before exceptional items, interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation and share of profits of associates, and after dividends received from associates over net interest
cash flow including minority interest dividends) of five to eight times and under the current economic environment Diageo�s intention
is to move towards the higher end of this range.

Liquidity risk The group�s strategy with regard to the maturity profile of borrowings has been to maintain the proportion of
borrowings maturing within one year at below 60% of total borrowings, and to maintain the level of commercial paper at below 50%
of total borrowings. In June 2003 the board reviewed and agreed changes to debt maturity and liquidity policies to be implemented
during the year ending 30 June 2004 to limit the proportion of borrowings maturing within 12 months to 50% of gross borrowings
less money market demand deposits and the level of commercial paper to 30% of gross borrowings less money market demand
deposits. In addition, it is group policy to maintain backstop facility terms from relationship banks to support commercial paper
obligations.

Credit risk A large number of major international financial institutions are counterparties to the interest rate swaps, foreign
exchange contracts and deposits transacted by the group. Such transactions are only entered into with counterparties with a long
term credit rating of A or better. The group monitors its credit exposure to its counterparties, together with their credit ratings.

Commodity price risk The group uses commodity futures and options to hedge against price risk in certain commodities. All
commodity futures and options contracts hedge a projected future purchase of raw material. Commodity futures or options are then
either closed out at the time the raw material is purchased or they are exchanged with the company manufacturing the raw material
to determine the contract price. Commodity contracts are held in the balance sheet at fair value but any gains and losses are
deferred until the contracts are closed out or exchanged. Open contracts at 30 June 2003 and gains and losses realised in the year
or deferred at the balance sheet date were not significant. This activity has reduced following the disposal of the packaged food
businesses in October 2001.

Employee share schemes Awards and option grants vesting under the various employee share schemes are generally satisfied
by the transfer of existing shares. These awards and option grants are hedged through the purchase of shares or call options.
Exceptions to this policy are in respect of exercises under certain GrandMet and international schemes that are satisfied by the
issue of new equity.

Sensitivity analysis
For financial instruments held, the group has used a sensitivity analysis technique that measures the change in the fair value of the
group�s financial instruments from hypothetical changes in market rates.
     The amounts generated from the sensitivity analysis are forward-looking estimates of market risk assuming certain adverse
market conditions occur. Actual results in the future may differ materially from those projected results due to developments in the
global financial markets which may cause fluctuations in interest and exchange rates to vary from the hypothetical amounts
disclosed in the table below, which therefore should not be considered a projection of likely future events and losses.
     The estimated changes in the fair values of borrowings, the guaranteed preferred securities and the associated derivative
financial instruments at 30 June 2003 are set out in the table below. The fair values of quoted borrowings and guaranteed preferred
securities are based on year end mid-market quoted prices. The fair values of other borrowings, derivative financial instruments
and other financial liabilities and assets are estimated by discounting the future cash flows to net present values using appropriate
market rates prevailing at the year end. These are based on rates obtained from third parties.
     The estimated changes in fair values for interest rate movements are based on an instantaneous decrease of 1% (100 basis
points) in the specific rate of interest applicable to each class of financial instruments from the levels effective at 30 June 2003, with
all other variables remaining constant. The estimated changes in the fair value for foreign exchange rates are based on an
instantaneous 10% weakening in sterling against all other currencies from the levels applicable at 30 June 2003, with all other
variables remaining constant. Such analysis is for illustrative purposes only as in practice, market rates rarely change in isolation.

Sensitivity analysis table at 30 June 2003
Fair value changes arising from:
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1% fall 10%
Estimated in interest weakening

fair
value rates in sterling

£
million £ million £ million

Borrowings (6,974) (199) (680)
Interest rate contracts 429 156 45
Foreign exchange contracts:
Transaction 24 � (97)
Balance sheet translation 119 � (124)
Guaranteed preferred securities (370) (6) (41)
Written call options re General Mills, Inc shares* (70) (4) (2)
Other financial net assets 69 7 7
*Diageo has sold call options to General Mills giving General Mills the option to purchase 29 million of General Mills� shares held by
Diageo subject to certain limitations. The call options have a strike price of $51.56 and expire in October 2005. The estimated fair
value of the call options was derived using a Black Scholes model using market volatility, share price and interest rates as at 30
June 2003. It is estimated that a 15% increase in the share price of General Mills would increase the negative fair value by
£40 million.
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Critical UK GAAP accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgements. Diageo�s accounting policies are
set out in the notes to the consolidated financial statements of the annual report. Of these policies, the board considers that policies
in relation to the following areas are of greater complexity and/or particularly subject to the exercise of judgement.

Brands Acquired brands are held on the consolidated balance sheet at cost. Where brands are regarded as having indefinite
useful economic lives, they are not amortised. Assessment of the useful economic life of an asset, or that an asset has an indefinite
life, requires considerable management judgement. Impairment reviews are carried out to ensure that intangible assets, including
brands, are not carried at above their recoverable amounts. In particular, the group performs a discounted cash flow analysis
annually to compare discounted estimated future operating cash flows to the net carrying value of each acquired brand. Any
impairment write downs identified are charged to the profit and loss account. The test is dependent on management estimates and
judgements, in particular in relation to the forecasting of future cash flows, and the discount rate applied to these cash flows.

Post employment benefits Diageo accounts for post employment benefits under accounting standard SSAP 24, and provides
additional disclosures in accordance with FRS 17. Application of SSAP 24 requires the exercise of judgement in relation to
assumptions for future pay rises in excess of inflation, employee demographics and the future expected returns on assets. Diageo
determines the assumptions to be adopted in discussion with its actuaries, and believes these assumptions to be in line with UK
practice generally, but the application of different assumptions could have a significant effect on the amounts reflected in the profit
and loss account and balance sheet in respect of post employment benefits.

Operating exceptional items Operating exceptional items are those that, in management�s judgement, are material items that
arise from events or transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the group and by virtue of their size or incidence, should be
separately disclosed if the financial statements are to properly reflect the results for the period. The determination of which items
should be separately disclosed as operating exceptional items requires a significant degree of judgement. Exceptional items under
UK GAAP do not represent extraordinary items under US GAAP.

Financial instruments The group uses financial instruments to hedge its exposures to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates. Instruments accounted for as hedges are structured so as to reduce the market risk associated with the underlying
transaction being hedged and are designated as a hedge at the inception of the contract. While UK GAAP includes prescriptive
disclosure requirements in relation to financial instruments, it does not include a standard on hedge accounting. Nevertheless,
under UK GAAP, hedging principles are generally applied whereby the cash flows on hedge instruments are matched to the
underlying hedged risks with hedging instruments held in the balance sheet at amortised cost. In the absence of detailed guidance
under UK GAAP, judgement must be applied in the establishment and application of accounting policies in relation to financial
instruments accounted for as hedges.

New accounting standards

The financial information included in this annual report complies, to the extent detailed below, with the following Financial Reporting
Standard issued by the UK Accounting Standards Board. New US accounting standards that will impact the US GAAP information
are also set out below.

United Kingdom FRS 17 � Retirement benefits This standard replaces the use of actuarial values for assets in a pension
scheme in favour of a market-based approach. In order to cope with the volatility inherent in this measurement basis, the standard
requires that the profit and loss account shows the relatively stable ongoing service cost, interest cost and expected return on
assets. Fluctuations in market values and changes in actuarial assumptions are reflected in the statement of total recognised gains
and losses. The group has continued to account for pensions and other post employment benefits in accordance with SSAP 24 but
has complied with the transitional disclosure requirements of FRS 17 in its consolidated financial statements (see note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements) and will adopt this standard in its primary financial statements from 1 July 2003.
     Under FRS 17, Diageo�s net deficit before taxation, as at 30 June 2003, for all defined benefit plans, is approximately
£1.4 billion. It is estimated that as at the end of August 2003 the deficit is approximately £1.1 billion. The adoption of the accounting
provisions of FRS 17 for the year ending 30 June 2004, in respect of the principal post employment plans, is currently estimated to
result in a net charge to profit before exceptional items and taxation of approximately £120 million, compared to a restated
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£44 million net charge for the year ended 30 June 2003. In addition, in the year ending 30 June 2004 it is expected that there will
be a charge of some £8 million (2003 � £8 million) in respect of other post employment plans around the world and £20 million in
respect of the cost of augmenting pension benefits in Ireland.

United States In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FIN No. 45, Guarantor�s Accounting
and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. The interpretation provides
guidance on the guarantor�s accounting and disclosure requirements for guarantees, including indirect guarantees of indebtedness
of others. The accounting guidelines are applicable to guarantees issued or amended after 31 December 2002 and require that a
liability, at inception, be recorded for the fair value of such guarantees in the balance sheet. Subsequent to 31 December 2002
Diageo has not entered into or modified any guarantees.
     In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation � Transition and Disclosure � an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 123. This statement amends SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to
provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation and requires certain additional disclosures in respect of stock-based compensation. The group has
adopted the disclosure requirements of this standard.
     In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51. FIN
No. 46 requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in
the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to
finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. FIN No. 46 is effective immediately for all
new variable interest entities created or acquired after 31 January 2003. For variable interest entities created or acquired prior to 1
February 2003 the provisions of FIN No. 46 must be applied for the first interim or annual period beginning after 15 June 2003.
Diageo does not expect the adoption of FIN No. 46 to have a material effect on the group.
     In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.
This statement amends and clarifies reporting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other
contracts and for hedging activities, and is effective for contracts entered into or modified after 30 June 2003.
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In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities
and Equity. The statement requires issuers to classify as liabilities (or assets in some circumstances) three classes of freestanding
financial instruments that embody obligations for the issuer. Generally, SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered
into or modified after 31 May 2003 and is otherwise effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after 15
June 2003. The group did not enter into any financial instruments within the scope of the Statement during June 2003. The group
has not yet completed its evaluation of the impact of SFAS No. 150 on its existing financial instruments entered into on or before 31
May 2003.

Discussion of US GAAP differences

Diageo�s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK GAAP, which is the group�s primary
reporting framework. Reconciliations between UK and US GAAP are set out in the consolidated financial statements and this
section explains the principal differences.

Year ended 30 June
2003

(restated) 2002 2001
£

million £ million £ million
Turnover � UK GAAP 9,440 11,282 12,821
 � US GAAP 9,153 10,760 11,868
Effect on net income of significant differences between UK and US GAAP:
Net income in accordance with UK GAAP 76 1,617 1,207
Adjustments to conform with US GAAP:
Brands, goodwill and other intangibles (7) (2) (442)
Inventories (46) (58) (74)
Pension and other post employment benefits 37 19 28
Derivative instruments in respect of General Mills shares (4) 166 �
Other derivative instruments (189) (100) (17)
Burger King impairment charges and transaction costs 707 (135) �
Disposals of businesses (171) 1,022 �
Other items 46 99 (70)
Deferred taxation (15) (74) 126
Net income in accordance with US GAAP 434 2,554 758

The US GAAP financial information for the year ended 30 June 2003 has been restated to amend Diageo�s treatment for deferred
tax associated with minimum pension liabilities. The amendment results in a deferred tax charge of £53 million being reclassified
from other comprehensive deficit in net income and a reversal of deferred tax of £118 million previously charged to other
comprehensive deficit. The overall effect is therefore a reduction of £53 million to net income, a reduction in the comprehensive
deficit of £118 million and an increase in shareholders� equity of £118 million. The amendment does not affect operating income or
cash flow under US GAAP nor does it affect Diageo�s principal financial information prepared under UK GAAP.

Turnover
UK GAAP turnover (sales in US terminology) for the year ended 30 June 2003 was £287 million (2002 � £522 million; 2001 �
£953 million) higher than turnover under US GAAP, as (i) following the adoption of EITF 01-09, £74 million (2002 � £306 million of
which £217 million was in respect of Pillsbury; 2001 � £714 million of which £619 million was in respect of Pillsbury) of marketing
expenditure has been reclassified from selling, general and administrative expenses to a reduction in sales under US GAAP, and
(ii) the accounting treatment of joint arrangements (between the group and LVMH) is different. Under UK GAAP, the group includes
in turnover its attributable share of turnover of joint arrangements, measured according to the terms of the arrangement and sales
to joint arrangements by Diageo companies are eliminated on consolidation. Under US GAAP, joint arrangements are accounted
for under the equity method of accounting and the group�s share of sales of the joint arrangements is not included as part of group
sales. Sales to joint arrangements by Diageo companies are accounted for as part of turnover. All of the joint arrangements are
included in the premium drinks segment.

Edgar Filing: DIAGEO PLC - Form 20-F/A

Table of Contents 78



Net income
The significant reconciling items in net income are as follows:

Brands, goodwill and other intangibles Under UK GAAP, all intangible assets acquired up to 30 June 1998, other than certain
brands, have been written off direct to reserves in the period acquired. Intangible assets acquired since 1 July 1998 are capitalised
on the balance sheet. Where the intangible assets are regarded as having limited useful economic lives, their cost is amortised
over those lives; where they are regarded as having indefinite useful economic lives, they are not amortised but are subject to
impairment reviews. From 1 July 2001, Diageo applied the requirements of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets to
its US GAAP results. SFAS No. 142 requires that brands, goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives should not be
amortised but be reviewed at least annually for impairment. Application of SFAS No. 142 has resulted in a nil charge under US
GAAP for amortisation of brands and goodwill for the years ended 30 June 2002 and 2003.

Inventories The fair value of the net assets under US GAAP of the Guinness Group was higher than the net assets under UK
GAAP, primarily in respect of maturing whisky inventories. The fair value of the inventories at the date of acquisition (17
December 1997) was £601 million higher under US GAAP compared to UK GAAP. The increase in inventory values is unwinding
over a number of years on the sale of the whisky to third parties. In the year ended 30 June 2003 £46 million (2002 � £58 million;
2001 � £74 million) of the fair trade value increase was realised.

Pension and other post employment benefits There are differences in the methods of valuation required under UK and US
GAAP for valuing assets and liabilities of defined benefit pension plans. US GAAP is generally more prescriptive in respect of
actuarial assumptions and the allocation of costs to accounting periods. These differences affect the group�s post employment costs
under UK and US GAAP.
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Under current UK GAAP (SSAP 24), the assumptions that the group has used to calculate the post employment liabilities have
been derived by taking a risk free guaranteed bond rate and adding a margin for the expected return on assets. For US GAAP, the
discount rates are derived from AA rated corporate bond yields. The other main difference is that under UK GAAP, any surplus or
deficit arising on the actuarial valuation is spread over the average service lives of the employees (generally 12 years) and credited
or charged to the profit and loss account. Under US GAAP, a similar spreading occurs but it is only recognised when outside a 10%
corridor.
     In the year ended 30 June 2003 under UK GAAP, the charge for post employment costs before taxation was £22 million (2002 �
a credit of £12 million; 2001 � a credit of £13 million) compared to a credit of £15 million (2002 � £31 million; 2001 � £41 million) under
US GAAP, excluding amounts in respect of disposals of businesses. Under US GAAP, applying the requirements of SFAS No. 88
in the year ended 30 June 2003, there was an additional credit of £18 million in relation to the disposal of Burger King (2002 �
£49 million in respect of Pillsbury).

Derivative instruments in respect of General Mills� shares Under the terms of the contingent value right received in connection
with the disposal of Pillsbury, in the year ended 30 June 2003, Diageo received a cash payment from General Mills. Under UK
GAAP, this was recognised in the profit and loss account as an exceptional gain on the disposal of businesses. However, under US
GAAP, this has been recognised in the profit and loss account in the year ended 30 June 2002 as a derivative and has accordingly
been held at its estimated fair value with changes in this fair value included in the profit and loss account.
     Under UK GAAP, the premium received from the sale of options to General Mills over 29 million ordinary shares of Diageo�s
holding in that company is deferred in the balance sheet. The premium will be recognised in the profit and loss account on exercise
or lapse of the options. Under US GAAP, the option premium represents a derivative and is accordingly held at its estimated fair
value at the balance sheet date with changes in fair value included in the profit and loss account.

Other derivative instruments The group uses derivative financial instruments for risk management purposes. Under UK GAAP,
changes in the fair value of interest rate derivatives, derivatives hedging forecast transactions and currency option cylinders are not
recognised until realised. Changes in the fair value of derivatives hedging the translation of net assets of overseas operations are
taken to the statement of total recognised gains and losses.
     Under US GAAP, all derivatives are carried at fair value at the balance sheet date. Certain of the group�s derivatives qualify for
and are designated as hedges under US GAAP which defers the effect on net income from gains and losses arising from changes
in their fair value to coincide with the timing of the recognition of the hedged item. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair
value of derivatives which do not qualify for US GAAP hedge accounting treatment are charged or credited in determining net
income under US GAAP. In the year ended 30 June 2003, under US GAAP, losses of £148 million were recognised on foreign
exchange derivatives (2002 � gains of £97 million; 2001 � losses of £8 million) and losses of £45 million were recognised on interest
rate instruments (2002 � losses of £219 million; 2001 � losses of £7 million).The year on year movements are a product of the portion
of the group�s hedging instruments for which mark-to-market movements are taken to net income under US GAAP but not under UK
GAAP, and the movements in exchange and interest rates in each period. Other differences arising between UK and US GAAP on
derivative instruments amounted to gains of £4 million (2002 � gains of £22 million; 2001 � losses of £2 million).

Burger King impairment charges and transaction costs Net income for the year ended 30 June 2003 reflects a pre tax charge
in relation to the sale of Burger King of £1,457 million and £750 million under UK and US GAAP, respectively, representing
£707 million of the total UK/US GAAP difference in net income. Under US GAAP, the transaction is not accounted for as a disposal
due to the size of the investment made by the buyer and Diageo�s continuing involvement through the guarantee provided by
Diageo in respect of the acquisition finance. However, a charge for impairment has been recognised rather than a loss on disposal.
The charge for impairment under US GAAP was lower than the loss on disposal under UK GAAP principally because the goodwill
and brands acquired on the original acquisition of the quick service restaurants business were being amortised over 40 years up to
30 June 2001 (prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142), whereas no amortisation had been charged on the goodwill and brands
under UK GAAP. By the date of disposal, Diageo had incurred additional cumulative amortisation (including related deferred tax)
under US GAAP of £609 million on the goodwill and brands of Burger King. Other differences arising between UK and US GAAP,
principally in respect of derivative instruments, reduced the charge under US GAAP by £98 million.
     As at 30 June 2002, under US GAAP, an impairment in the carrying value of goodwill attributable to the group�s quick service
restaurants business of £135 million was recognised. Under UK GAAP, the goodwill to which the impairment related had already
been written off to reserves.

Disposals of businesses Under UK GAAP, excluding the pre tax loss in respect of the disposal of Burger King of £1,457 million
and the receipt under the terms of the contingent value right of £173 million described above, the group made gains on disposals of
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other businesses of £14 million compared with gains of £16 million under US GAAP in the year ended 30 June 2003.
     Net income for the year ended 30 June 2002 reflects pre tax gains on the disposals of businesses of £821 million and
£1,843 million under UK and US GAAP, respectively, including £322 million and £1,279 million, respectively in respect of the
disposal of Pillsbury. The gain arising on the disposal of Pillsbury under US GAAP, was £957 million higher than under UK GAAP
principally because the goodwill and brands acquired in the original acquisition of Pillsbury were being amortised over 40 years up
to 30 June 2001 (prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142), whereas no amortisation had been charged on the goodwill and brands
under UK GAAP. By the date of disposal, Diageo had incurred additional cumulative amortisation (including related deferred tax)
under US GAAP of £871 million in respect of Pillsbury. In addition, under UK GAAP the cumulative exchange gains arising on the
unhedged net assets of Pillsbury remain in reserves on the subsequent disposal of the business. Under US GAAP, the cumulative
exchange gains on the unhedged net assets of £133 million, on disposal of the business have been credited to the profit and loss
account. Other differences arising between UK and US GAAP increased the gain on disposal of Pillsbury under US GAAP by
£47 million principally due to a guarantee given by Diageo to third parties.

Exceptional and extraordinary items Under UK GAAP, exceptional items are those that, in management�s judgement, are
material items that arise from events or transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the group and, by virtue of their size or
incidence, should be separately disclosed if the financial statements are to properly reflect the results for the period. US GAAP
does not have such a category. Under US GAAP, certain of these items are treated in accordance with paragraph 26 of APB 30 as
a separate component of income from continuing operations, if appropriate. The group has had no extraordinary items under either
UK or US GAAP for the three years ended 30 June 2003.
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Independent auditor�s report

To the Board of Directors and shareholders of Diageo plc.

     We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Diageo plc and subsidiaries as at 30 June 2003 and 30
June 2002, and the related consolidated profit and loss accounts, consolidated statements of total recognised gains and losses and
consolidated cash flow statements for each of the years in the three year period ended 30 June 2003 presented on pages 70 to
129. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the company�s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
     We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
     In our opinion, the aforementioned consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Diageo plc and subsidiaries as of 30 June 2003 and 30 June 2002 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the years in the three year period ended 30 June 2003 in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United Kingdom.
     Generally accepted accounting principles in the United Kingdom vary in certain significant respects from generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of America. Application of generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
of America would have affected the results of operations for the years ended 30 June 2003, 2002 and 2001 and shareholders�
equity as at 30 June 2003 and 2002, to the extent summarised in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
     As described in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements certain US GAAP information in respect of the year ended
30 June 2003 has been restated.

KPMG Audit Plc
Chartered Accountants,
London, England

3 September 2003, except as to note 29(iii), which is as of 26 November 2003, and except for the second paragraph of note 32
which is as of 4 February 2004.
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Consolidated profit and loss account

Year ended 30 June 2003 Year ended 30 June 2002
Before Before

exceptional Exceptional exceptional Exceptional
items items Total items items Total

Notes
£

million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Turnover
Continuing operations 8,961 � 8,961 8,704 � 8,704
Discontinued operations 479 � 479 2,578 � 2,578

2 9,440 � 9,440 11,282 � 11,282
Operating costs 4,7 (7,411) (168) (7,579) (9,176) (453) (9,629)
Operating profit
Continuing operations 1,976 (168) 1,808 1,766 (432) 1,334
Discontinued operations 53 � 53 340 (21) 319

2 2,029 (168) 1,861 2,106 (453) 1,653
Share of associates� profits 6 478 (21) 457 324 (41) 283

2,507 (189) 2,318 2,430 (494) 1,936
Disposal of fixed assets
Continuing operations (42) (42) 1 1
Discontinued operations (1) (1) (23) (23)

7 (43) (43) (22) (22)
Sale of businesses
Continuing operations 16 16 512 512
Discontinued operations (1,286) (1,286) 309 309

7 (1,270) (1,270) 821 821
Interest payable (net) 8 (351) � (351) (399) � (399)
Profit/(loss) before taxation 2,156 (1,502) 654 2,031 305 2,336
Taxation 9 (539) 52 (487) (511) (121) (632)
Profit/(loss) after taxation 1,617 (1,450) 167 1,520 184 1,704
Minority interests
Equity (56) � (56) (49) � (49)
Non-equity (35) � (35) (38) � (38)
Profit/(loss) for the year 1,526 (1,450) 76 1,433 184 1,617
Dividends 10 (786) � (786) (767) � (767)
Transferred (from)/to reserves 740 (1,450) (710) 666 184 850
Pence per share 11
Basic earnings 49.0p (46.6)p 2.4p 43.2p 5.6p 48.8p
Diluted earnings 49.0p (46.6)p 2.4p 43.1p 5.6p 48.7p
Dividends 25.6p � 25.6p 23.8p � 23.8p
Average shares 3,113m 3,316m
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated profit and loss account continued

Year ended 30 June 2001
Before

exceptional Exceptional
items items Total

Notes £ million £ million £ million
Turnover
Continuing operations 7,580 � 7,580
Discontinued operations 5,241 � 5,241

2 12,821 � 12,821
Operating costs 4,7 (10,720) (228) (10,948)
Operating profit
Continuing operations 1,430 (153) 1,277
Discontinued operations 671 (75) 596

2 2,101 (228) 1,873
Share of associates� profits 6 203 � 203

2,304 (228) 2,076
Disposal of fixed assets
Continuing operations 25 25
Discontinued operations (6) (6)

7 19 19
Sale of businesses
Continuing operations 28 28
Discontinued operations (51) (51)

7 (23) (23)
Interest payable (net) 8 (350) � (350)
Profit/(loss) before taxation 1,954 (232) 1,722
Taxation 9 (468) 33 (435)
Profit/(loss) after taxation 1,486 (199) 1,287
Minority interests
Equity (43) � (43)
Non-equity (37) � (37)
Profit/(loss) for the year 1,406 (199) 1,207
Dividends 10 (751) � (751)
Transferred to reserves 655 (199) 456
Pence per share 11
Basic earnings 41.6p (5.9)p 35.7p
Diluted earnings 41.6p (5.9)p 35.7p
Dividends 22.3p � 22.3p
Average shares 3,377m
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated balance sheet

30 June
2003 30 June 2002

Notes £ million £ million £ million £ million
Fixed assets
Intangible assets 12 4,288 5,434
Tangible assets 13 1,974 2,545
Investment in associates 14 3,034 2,899
Other investments 14 447 284

9,743 11,162
Current assets
Stocks 15 2,193 2,316
Debtors � due within one year 16 2,173 2,209
Debtors � due after one year 16 897 1,210
Cash at bank and liquid resources 17 1,191 1,596

6,454 7,331
Creditors � due within one year
Borrowings 17 (3,563) (3,718)
Other creditors 19 (3,283) (3,645)

(6,846) (7,363)
Net current liabilities (392) (32)
Total assets less current liabilities 9,351 11,130
Creditors � due after one year
Borrowings 17 (2,981) (3,711)
Other creditors 19 (18) (49)

(2,999) (3,760)
Provisions for liabilities and charges 20 (869) (814)

5,483 6,556
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 22 897 930
Share premium account 1,327 1,324
Revaluation reserve 120 129
Capital redemption reserve 3,046 3,012
Profit and loss account (436) 606
Reserves attributable to equity shareholders 23 4,057 5,071
Shareholders� funds 4,954 6,001
Minority interests
Equity 186 184
Non-equity 25 343 371

529 555
5,483 6,556

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
     These financial statements were approved by a duly appointed and authorised committee of the board of directors on 3
September 2003 and were signed on its behalf by PS Walsh and NC Rose, directors.
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Consolidated cash flow statement

Year ended Year ended Year ended
30 June

2003
30 June

2002
30 June

2001
Notes £ million £ million £ million

Net cash inflow from operating activities 26 1,970 2,008 2,276
Dividends received from associates 60 87 101
Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest paid (net) (327) (360) (446)
Dividends paid to equity minority interests (28) (40) (31)

(355) (400) (477)
Taxation (105) (311) (230)
Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (382) (585) (439)
Purchase/sale of own shares and investments (85) (72) (69)
Sale of tangible fixed assets 41 65 58

(426) (592) (450)
Acquisitions and disposals
Purchase of subsidiaries 27 (137) (3,592) (136)
Sale of Burger King 28 642 � �
Sale of other subsidiaries and businesses 28 270 5,100 31
Sale of options in relation to associates 28 58 � �

833 1,508 (105)
Equity dividends paid (767) (758) (725)
Management of liquid resources 256 92 (572)
Financing
Issue of share capital 4 11 31
Own shares purchased for cancellation (852) (1,658) (108)
Redemption of guaranteed preferred securities � � (39)
(Decrease)/increase in loans (496) (137) 398

(1,344) (1,784) 282
Increase/(decrease) in cash in the year 122 (150) 100
Movements in net borrowings 17
Increase/(decrease) in cash in the year 122 (150) 100
Cash flow from change in loans 496 137 (398)
Change in liquid resources (256) (92) 572
Change in net borrowings from cash flows 362 (105) 274
Exchange adjustments 227 267 (229)
Non-cash items 37 (179) 21
Decrease/(increase) in net borrowings 626 (17) 66
Net borrowings at beginning of the year (5,496) (5,479) (5,545)
Net borrowings at end of the year (4,870) (5,496) (5,479)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses

Year ended Year ended Year ended
30 June

2003
30 June

2002
30 June

2001
£ million £ million £ million

(Loss)/profit for the year � group (170) 1,486 1,037
� associates 246 131 170

76 1,617 1,207
Exchange adjustments   � group (96) (38) 121
� associates (68) (55) (24)
Tax charge on exchange in reserves (7) � (17)
Total recognised gains and losses (95) 1,524 1,287

Note of consolidated historical cost profits and losses

There is no material difference between the reported profit shown in the consolidated profit and loss account and the profit for the
relevant years restated on an historical cost basis.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Accounting policies

Bases of accounting and consolidation
The accounts are prepared under the historical cost convention, modified by the revaluation of certain land and buildings, and in
accordance with applicable UK accounting standards.
     The group accounts include the accounts of the company and its subsidiary undertakings (subsidiaries) together with the group�s
attributable share of the results of joint arrangements and associated undertakings (associates). Unless otherwise stated, the
acquisition method of accounting has been adopted. Under this method, the results of subsidiaries sold or acquired are included in
the profit and loss account up to, or from, the date control passes.

Acquisitions and disposals
On the acquisition of a business, or of an interest in an associate, fair values, reflecting conditions at the date of acquisition, are
attributed to the net assets including significant owned brands acquired. Adjustments to fair values include those made to bring
accounting policies into line with those of the group. Where merger relief is applicable under the UK Companies� Acts, the difference
between the fair value of the business acquired and the nominal value of shares issued as purchase consideration is treated as a
merger reserve.
     The profit and loss on the disposal of a previously acquired business includes the attributable amount of purchased goodwill
relating to that business, including any goodwill written off direct to reserves prior to 1 July 1998.

Brands, goodwill and other intangible assets
When the cost of an acquisition exceeds the fair values attributable to the group�s share of the net assets acquired, the difference is
treated as purchased goodwill. Goodwill arising on acquisitions subsequent to 1 July 1998 is capitalised but prior to that date it was
eliminated against reserves, and this goodwill has not been restated.
     Acquired brands and other intangible assets which are controlled through custody or legal rights and could be sold separately
from the rest of the business are capitalised, where fair value can be reliably measured.
     Where capitalised goodwill and intangible assets are regarded as having limited useful economic lives, their cost is amortised on
a straightline basis over those lives � up to 20 years. Where goodwill and intangible assets are regarded as having indefinite useful
economic lives, they are not amortised. Assets with indefinite lives are reviewed for impairment annually and other assets are
reviewed for impairment wherever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Impairment
reviews, comparing the discounted estimated future operating cash flows with the net carrying value of brands or goodwill, are
carried out to ensure that goodwill and intangible assets are not carried at above their recoverable amounts. Amortisation and any
impairment write downs are charged to the profit and loss account.

Tangible fixed assets
Land and buildings are stated at cost or, for certain assets acquired prior to 1993, at professional valuation, less depreciation.
Freehold land is not depreciated. Leaseholds are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease. Other tangible fixed assets
are depreciated on a straightline basis to estimated residual values over their expected useful lives within the following ranges:
industrial and other buildings � 10 to 50 years; plant and machinery � 5 to 25 years; fixtures and fittings � 5 to 10 years; casks and
containers � 15 to 20 years; and computer software � up to 5 years.
     Reviews are carried out if there is some indication that impairment may have occurred, to ensure that fixed assets are not
carried at above their recoverable amounts.

Leases
Where the group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset subject to a lease, the lease is treated as a
finance lease. Other leases are treated as operating leases, with payments and receipts taken to the profit and loss account on a
straightline basis over the life of the lease.

Associates and joint arrangements
An associate is an undertaking in which the group has a long term equity interest and over which it exercises significant influence.
The group�s interest in the net assets of associates is included in investments in the group balance sheet. Joint arrangements,
where each party has its own separate interest in particular risks and rewards, are accounted for by including the attributable share
of the assets and liabilities, measured according to the terms of the arrangement.
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Investment in own shares
Investment in own shares is undertaken for the purpose of fulfilling obligations in respect of various employee share plans around
the group. The difference between the purchase price of the shares and the exercise price of the option or grant is amortised over
the relevant period, which is generally three years from the date of an award.

Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes raw materials, direct labour and expenses, and an
appropriate proportion of production and other overheads. Cost is calculated on an actual usage basis for maturing stocks and on a
first in, first out basis for other stocks.
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Accounting Policies

Foreign currencies
The profit and loss accounts and cash flows of overseas subsidiaries and associates are translated into sterling at weighted
average rates of exchange, other than substantial transactions which are translated at the rate on the date of the transaction. The
adjustment to closing rates is taken to reserves.
     Balance sheets are translated at closing rates. Exchange differences arising on the re-translation at closing rates of the opening
balance sheets of overseas subsidiaries and associates are taken to reserves, as are exchange differences arising on related
foreign currency borrowings and financial instruments. Tax charges and credits arising on such items are also taken to reserves.
Other exchange differences are taken to the profit and loss account.
     The results, assets and liabilities of operations in hyper-inflationary economies are determined using an appropriate relatively
stable currency as the functional currency. The exchange differences arising from this initial process are taken to the profit and loss
account.
     Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction or, if hedged forward, at
the rate of exchange under the related foreign currency contract.

Turnover
Turnover represents the net invoice value of goods and services, including excise duties and royalties receivable but excluding
value added tax. Goods include premium drinks within continuing operations, and packaged food products and retail sales in the
group�s quick service restaurants within discontinued operations. Services include royalties and other franchise fees primarily
related to the group�s discontinued quick service restaurants business.
     Turnover for goods is recognised depending upon individual customer terms at the time of despatch (where the customers�
terms are FOB shipping point), delivery or some other specified point when the risk of loss transfers. Provision is made for returns
where appropriate. Turnover for goods is stated net of price discounts, allowances for customer loyalty and certain promotional
activities and similar items.
     Royalties are accrued as earned and other franchise fees are recognised when the related restaurant begins operations.

Advertising
Advertising production costs are charged to the profit and loss account when the advertisement is first shown to the public.

Research and development
Research and development, including developing new drinks products and package design expenditure is written off in the period
in which it is incurred.

Pensions and other post employment benefits
The cost of providing pensions and other post employment benefits is charged against profits on a systematic basis, with pension
surpluses and deficits arising allocated over the expected average remaining service lives of current employees. Differences
between the amounts charged in the profit and loss account and payments made to pension or other plans are treated as assets or
liabilities. Deferred tax is accounted for on these assets and liabilities. Unfunded post employment medical benefit liabilities are
included in provisions in the balance sheet.

Exceptional items
Exceptional items are those that in management�s judgement need to be disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence. Such items
are included within the profit and loss account caption to which they relate, and are separately disclosed either in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements or on the face of the consolidated profit and loss account.

Deferred taxation
Full provision for deferred tax is made for timing differences between the recognition of gains and losses in the consolidated
financial statements and their recognition in tax computations, using current tax rates. The group does not discount these balances.
No deferred tax is provided in respect of any future remittance of earnings of foreign subsidiaries or associates where no
commitment has been made to remit such earnings.

Financial instruments
The group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposures to fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates.
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Instruments accounted for as hedges are structured so as to reduce the market risk associated with the underlying transaction
being hedged and are designated as a hedge at the inception of the contract. If the underlying transaction to a hedge ceases to
exist, the hedge is terminated and the profit or loss is recognised immediately. If the hedge transaction is terminated, the profit or
loss is held in the balance sheet and amortised over the life of the original underlying transaction.
     Receipts and payments on interest rate instruments are recognised on an accruals basis over the life of the instrument. Foreign
exchange contracts hedging net investments in overseas businesses are revalued at closing rates and exchange differences
arising are taken to reserves. Gains and losses on contracts hedging forecast transactional cash flows, and on option instruments
hedging the sterling value of foreign currency denominated income, are recognised in the hedged periods.
     Cash flows associated with derivative financial instruments are classified in the cash flow statement in a manner consistent with
those of the transactions being hedged. Finance costs associated with debt issuances are charged to the profit and loss account
over the life of the issue.
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Diageo was created by the merger of the former GrandMet and Guinness Group businesses on 17 December 1997. Under
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in the United Kingdom the combination has been accounted as a merger and the
results and cash flows of GrandMet and the Guinness Group are combined as of the beginning of the earliest financial year
presented. Under US GAAP the merger has been accounted for as an acquisition of the Guinness Group by GrandMet. At the time
of the merger, Diageo changed its year end to 30 June.
     The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

1 New accounting standards in the United Kingdom
The financial statements comply, to the extent detailed below, with the following Financial Reporting Standard issued by the UK
Accounting Standards Board.

FRS 17 � Retirement benefits This standard replaces the use of actuarial values for assets in a pension scheme in favour of a
market-based approach. In order to cope with the volatility inherent in this measurement basis, the standard requires that the profit
and loss account shows the relatively stable ongoing service cost, interest cost and expected return on assets. The difference
between expected and actual returns and changes in actuarial assumptions are reflected in the statement of total recognised gains
and losses. The group has continued to account for pensions and other post employment benefits in accordance with SSAP 24 but
has complied with the transitional disclosure requirements of FRS 17 in these consolidated financial statements and will adopt this
standard in its primary financial statements from 1 July 2003.

2 Segmental analysis
The classes of business, and the group�s reportable segments, are premium drinks, quick service restaurants and in prior years,
packaged food. Each segment contains closely related products that are unique to that particular segment.

Premium drinks, an international manufacturer and distributor of spirits, wines and beer that produces and distributes a wide
range of premium brands, including Smirnoff vodka, Johnnie Walker Scotch whiskies, Guinness stout, Baileys Original Irish Cream
liqueur, JεB Scotch whisky, Captain Morgan rum and Tanqueray gin. Premium drinks also owns the distribution rights for the José
Cuervo tequila brands in the United States and other countries.
     Premium drinks also owns a number of investments in unconsolidated associates, the principal investment being a 34% equity
interest in Moët Hennessy, a French subsidiary of Moët Hennessy Louis Vuitton SA (LVMH). Moët Hennessy is based in France
and is a leading producer and exporter of champagne and cognac.

Quick service restaurants, a leading fast food hamburger restaurant chain with, as at 30 June 2002, approximately 11,500 outlets
worldwide of which over 8,100 were in the United States. At 30 June 2002, of the total number of outlets, 91% are franchised and
9% were company operated.
     On 13 December 2002, the group disposed of its quick service restaurants business (Burger King) to a newly formed company
owned by Texas Pacific Group, Bain Capital and Goldman Sachs Capital Partners. In connection with the transaction Diageo has
guaranteed up to $850 million (£515 million) of external borrowing of Burger King (see note 29).

Packaged food, produces and distributes leading food brands including Pillsbury refrigerated dough and other dough based
goods, Old El Paso Mexican foods, Progresso soups, Green Giant vegetables and Häagen-Dazs ice cream, as well as operating a
foodservice business.
     On 31 October 2001, the group disposed of its worldwide packaged food businesses to General Mills, Inc (General Mills).
Diageo now owns approximately 21% of the issued share capital of General Mills, having exercised an option to sell 55 million of its
shares in General Mills on 1 November 2001. General Mills produces and sells a variety of food products, principally in North
America including Big G ready-to-eat cereals, Betty Crocker dessert, baking, dinner mix and snack products, Yoplait and Colombo
yogurt as well as the businesses that formerly comprised the packaged food businesses. General Mills� business is primarily in the
United States. General Mills is incorporated in the United States and is listed on the New York Stock Exchange.
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2 Segmental analysis continued

(i) Segment information by class of business
Discontinued operations

Premium Packaged
Quick

service
drinks Other food restaurants Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
2003
Turnover 8,961 � � 479 9,440
Operating profit before exceptional items 1,976 � � 53 2,029
Exceptional items charged to operating profit (168) � � � (168)
Operating profit 1,808 � � 53 1,861
Corporate expenses 109 � � 2 111
Depreciation 213 � � 27 240
Tangible asset write down 13 � � � 13
Intangible asset amortisation 7 � � 2 9
Amortisation of investment in own shares 27 � � � 27
Share of profits of associates 188 269 � � 457
Sale of businesses 16 � 171 (1,457) (1,270)
Profit/(loss) before interest and tax 2,011 228 171 (1,405) 1,005
Capital expenditure 315 � � 67 382
Net assets (shareholders� funds and minority interests) 9,376 (3,893) � � 5,483
Total assets 11,340 4,857 � � 16,197
2002
Turnover 8,704 � 1,455 1,123 11,282
Operating profit before exceptional items 1,766 � 184 156 2,106
Exceptional items charged to operating profit (432) � � (21) (453)
Operating profit 1,334 � 184 135 1,653
Corporate expenses 78 � 8 6 92
Depreciation 183 � 39 62 284
Tangible asset write down 36 � � � 36
Intangible asset amortisation 6 � 6 4 16
Amortisation of investment in own shares 12 � 1 1 14
Share of profits of associates 158 112 13 � 283
Sale of businesses 512 � 322 (13) 821
Profit before interest and tax 2,005 112 519 99 2,735
Capital expenditure 330 � 33 222 585
Net assets (shareholders� funds and minority interests) 9,324 (4,211) � 1,443 6,556
Total assets 11,609 5,183 � 1,701 18,493
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2 Segmental analysis continued

(i) Segment information by class of business continued

Discontinued operations
Premium Packaged Quick service

drinks Other food restaurants Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

2001
Turnover 7,580 � 4,199 1,042 12,821
Operating profit before exceptional items 1,430 � 499 172 2,101
Exceptional items charged to operating profit (153) � (10) (65) (228)
Operating profit 1,277 � 489 107 1,873
Corporate expenses 51 � 18 6 75
Depreciation 171 � 117 61 349
Tangible asset write down 32 � � 22 54
Intangible asset amortisation 5 � 19 10 34
Exceptional write down of investment � � � 23 23
Amortisation of investment in own shares 17 � 7 1 25
Share of profits of associates 177 � 26 � 203
Sale of businesses 28 � (51) � (23)
Profit before interest and tax 1,507 � 464 101 2,072
Capital expenditure 176 � 113 150 439
Net assets (shareholders� funds and minority interests) 6,213 (6,096) 4,172 1,440 5,729
Total assets 7,957 3,094 4,851 1,742 17,644

(a) The �other� segment for profit/(loss) before interest and tax represents the group�s share of profit before interest and tax from its
investment in General Mills. The �other� segment for net assets comprises the net investment in General Mills of £1,743 million (2002
� £1,837 million; 2001 � £nil); net external borrowings of £4,870 million (2002 � £5,496 million; 2001 � £5,479 million); tax and external
dividend creditors of £1,532 million (2002 � £1,223 million; 2001 � £1,126 million); net pension prepayment of £518 million (2002 �
£466 million; 2001 � £458 million); and other net assets of £248 million (2002 � £205 million; 2001 � £51 million). The �other� segment
for total assets comprises the net investment in General Mills of £1,743 million (2002 � £1,837 million; 2001 � £nil); cash at bank and
liquid resources of £1,191 million (2002 � £1,596 million; 2001 � £1,842 million); pension prepayment of £536 million (2002 �
£485 million; 2001 �£477 million); investment in own shares of £259 million (2002 � £219 million; 2001 � £169 million); interest rate
and foreign currency swaps of £484 million (2002 � £365 million; 2001 � £315 million); and other assets of £644 million (2002 �
£681 million; 2001 � £291 million).

(b) The group interest expense is managed centrally and is not attributable to individual activities. Inter segmental sales are
immaterial and have been eliminated in computing the segmental disclosure.

(c) The weighted average exchange rates used in the translation of profit and loss accounts were US dollar � £1 = $1.59 (2002 � £1 =
$1.44; 2001 � £1 = $1.45) and euro � £1 =�1.52 (2002 � £1 =�1.61; 2001 � £1 =�1.63). Exchange rates used to translate assets and
liabilities at the balance sheet date were US dollar � £1 = $1.65 (2002 � £1 = $1.52) and euro � £1 =�1.44 (2002 � £1 =�1.54). The group
uses option cylinders and foreign exchange transaction hedges to mitigate the effect of exchange rate movements.
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2 Segmental analysis continued

(ii) Geographical information

Great Rest of North Asia Latin Rest of
Britain Europe America Pacific America World Total

£
million

£
million

£
million

£
million

£
million

£
million £ million

2003
Turnover 1,472 2,568 3,159 1,008 481 752 9,440
Goodwill amortisation � (1) (2) � (1) � (4)
Operating profit before exceptional items 220 458 783 243 143 182 2,029
Exceptional items charged to operating profit (62) (27) (70) � (8) (1) (168)
Operating profit 158 431 713 243 135 181 1,861
Profit/(loss) before interest and tax 156 448 (600) 241 135 182 562
Long-lived assets 1,922 564 2,862 664 45 205 6,262
2002
Turnover 1,601 2,603 4,717 1,001 639 721 11,282
Goodwill amortisation � (1) (10) � (1) � (12)
Operating profit before exceptional items 206 472 856 231 192 149 2,106
Exceptional items charged to operating profit (55) 39 (430) (2) (4) (1) (453)
Operating profit 151 511 426 229 188 148 1,653
Profit before interest and tax 154 1,046 721 228 186 148 2,483
Long-lived assets 1,984 583 4,476 687 69 180 7,979
2001
Turnover 1,521 2,552 6,401 990 776 581 12,821
Goodwill amortisation � (1) (22) (1) (2) � (26)
Operating profit before exceptional items 171 442 979 205 186 118 2,101
Exceptional items charged to operating profit (96) (62) (76) 6 � � (228)
Operating profit 75 380 903 211 186 118 1,873
Profit before interest and tax 61 404 880 234 215 123 1,917
Long-lived assets 1,946 452 5,967 241 82 160 8,848

(a) The geographical analysis of turnover and operating profit is based on the location of the third party customers.

(b) Long-lived assets comprise tangible fixed assets and intangible assets after depreciation and amortisation respectively. The net
book value of brands are included in the geographical region in which the brand originated.

(c) Profit before interest and tax excludes the profit attributable to General Mills of £269 million (2002 � £112 million; 2001 � £nil) and
the profit attributable to Moët Hennessy of £174 million (2002 � £140 million; 2001 � £155 million).
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3 Turnover � geographical area by origin

Discontinued operations

Premium Packaged
Quick

service
drinks food restaurants Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million
2003
North America 2,870 � 334 3,204
Europe 5,155 � 112 5,267
Asia Pacific 916 � 15 931
Latin America 304 � 18 322
Rest of World 656 � � 656

9,901 � 479 10,380
Less: Sales to group companies in other geographical areas (940) � � (940)

8,961 � 479 9,440
2002
North America 2,680 1,236 775 4,691
Europe 5,113 102 269 5,484
Asia Pacific 801 53 35 889
Latin America 365 58 44 467
Rest of World 628 6 � 634

9,587 1,455 1,123 12,165
Less: Sales to group companies in other geographical areas (883) � � (883)

8,704 1,455 1,123 11,282
2001
North America 2,107 3,653 725 6,485
Europe 4,364 287 238 4,889
Asia Pacific 780 110 35 925
Latin America 516 130 40 686
Rest of World 533 19 4 556

8,300 4,199 1,042 13,541
Less: Sales to group companies in other geographical areas (720) � � (720)

7,580 4,199 1,042 12,821
Exports from the United Kingdom were £1,701 million (2002 � £1,614 million; 2001 � £1,435 million).
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4 Operating costs

Discontinued operations

Premium Packaged
Quick

service
drinks food restaurants Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million
2003
Change in stocks (6) � � (6)
Raw materials and consumables 2,159 � 93 2,252
Excise duties � United States 459 � � 459

� Other 1,707 � � 1,707
Advertising, marketing and promotion 1,185 � 18 1,203
Other external charges 517 � 157 674
Staff costs (note 5) 940 � 140 1,080
Depreciation and other amounts written off fixed assets 260 � 29 289
Other operating income (68) � (11) (79)

7,153 � 426 7,579
2002
Change in stocks (71) (58) � (129)
Raw materials and consumables 2,286 476 216 2,978
Excise duties � United States 438 � � 438

� Other 1,681 � � 1,681
Advertising, marketing and promotion 1,127 318 40 1,485
Other external charges 849 294 350 1,493
Staff costs (note 5) 834 198 337 1,369
Depreciation and other amounts written off fixed assets 237 46 67 350
Other operating income (11) (3) (22) (36)

7,370 1,271 988 9,629
2001
Change in stocks (18) 7 � (11)
Raw materials and consumables 1,883 1,152 189 3,224
Excise duties � United States 353 � � 353

� Other 1,505 � � 1,505
Advertising, marketing and promotion 980 886 36 1,902
Other external charges 580 1,022 326 1,928
Staff costs (note 5) 803 509 293 1,605
Depreciation and other amounts written off fixed assets 225 143 117 485
Other operating income (8) (9) (26) (43)

6,303 3,710 935 10,948

(a) Other external charges include operating lease rentals for plant and machinery of £9 million (2002 � £20 million; 2001 �
£27 million), other operating lease rentals (mainly properties) of £72 million (2002 � £104 million; 2001 � £107 million), income in
respect of currency cylinders of £14 million (2002 � loss of £2 million; 2001 � loss of £90 million) (see note 18(i)); research and
development expenditure of £15 million (2002 � £28 million; 2001 � £71 million), and maintenance and repairs of £43 million (2002 �
£65 million; 2001 � £68 million).

(b) Other operating income includes £57 million for the termination of the Bass distribution rights and £11 million (2002 �
£21 million; 2001 � £20 million) from operating leases in quick service restaurants.

(c) Exceptional operating costs for continuing operations amount to £168 million (2002 � £432 million; 2001 � £153 million) as
follows: other external charges £138 million; staff costs £74 million; and amounts written off fixed assets £13 million (2002 �
£306 million; £90 million; and £36 million, respectively; 2001 � £59 million; £67 million; and £27 million, respectively) less other
operating income of £57 million. Exceptional operating costs for discontinued operations were £nil (2002 � £21 million; 2001 �
£75 million).

Edgar Filing: DIAGEO PLC - Form 20-F/A

Table of Contents 98



Edgar Filing: DIAGEO PLC - Form 20-F/A

Table of Contents 99



Table of Contents

83 Diageo Annual Report 2003

4 Operating costs continued

(d) Goodwill amortisation Operating costs for continuing operations in the year include goodwill amortisation of £2 million (2002 �
£2 million; 2001 � £2 million). Operating costs for discontinued operations include goodwill amortisation of £2 million (2002 �
£10 million; 2001 � £24 million).

(e) Fees paid to auditor The fees paid to the principal auditor of the group, KPMG Audit Plc, and its affiliates were as follows:

United Rest of
Kingdom World 2003 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

Audit fees 2.3 2.0 4.3 3.9 2.8
Acquisitions and disposals 4.2 � 4.2 9.5 7.5
Other audit-related fees 0.2 0.7 0.9 0.9 1.5
Tax fees 2.4 4.9 7.3 6.2 4.4
All other fees � � � 1.7 0.9

9.1 7.6 16.7 22.2 17.1
Audit fees include the fee for statutory audit of the company of £23,000 (2002 � £23,000; 2001 � £23,000); and its subsidiaries of
£3.0 million (2002 � £3.3 million; 2001 � £2.8 million); and other audit services required by statute or regulation of £1.3 million (2002 �
£0.6 million; 2001 � £nil). A further £0.2 million (2002 � £0.1 million; 2001 � £0.1 million) was charged in relation to the audit by firms
other than KPMG. Fees in relation to acquisitions and disposals include due diligence and other advisory work in relation to the
disposals of Burger King, Pillsbury and other brands, and the acquisition of Seagram. Other audit-related fees include employee
pension fund and benefit plan services. Tax fees consist principally of tax compliance services and tax advice, including advice in
relation to acquisitions and disposals. Other fees in prior years consist principally of IT projects and support.

5 Employees
2003 2002 2001

Full time
Part
time Total Full time Part time Total Full time Part time Total

Average number of
employees
Premium drinks 23,427 1,134 24,561 22,841 1,078 23,919 21,363 628 21,991
Discontinued operations 8,965 5,429 14,394 25,734 12,471 38,205 37,747 11,785 49,532

32,392 6,563 38,955 48,575 13,549 62,124 59,110 12,413 71,523

Premium drinks includes ex-Seagram employees from 21 December 2001. Discontinued operations include employees for the
quick service restaurants business prior to 13 December 2002 and packaged food prior to 31 October 2001, reflecting the periods
in which the group owned the businesses.

2003 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

Aggregate remuneration
Wages and salaries 986 1,281 1,491
Employer�s social security 72 100 127
Employer�s pension 10 (24) (33)
Other post employment 12 12 20

1,080 1,369 1,605

Retirement benefits The group has continued to account for pensions and other post employment benefits in accordance with
SSAP 24 and the disclosures in (i) below are those required by that standard. FRS 17 � Retirement benefits was issued in
November 2000 and the group expects to comply fully in its primary statements with its requirements in the year ending 30
June 2004. Prior to this, transitional disclosures are required which, to the extent they are not given in (i), are set out in (ii).
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(i) SSAP 24 disclosures The group operates a number of pension plans throughout the world, devised in accordance with local
conditions and practices. The larger plans are generally of the defined benefit type and are funded by payments to separately
administered funds or insurance companies. The principal plans are in the United Kingdom, Ireland, United States and Canada. All
valuations were performed by independent actuaries using the projected unit method to determine pension costs.
     The principal assumptions for the calculation of the pension cost under SSAP 24 for the year ended 30 June 2003 were: real
rate of return on assets 4% (2002 � 4%; 2001 � 4%); real annual increase in wages and salaries 2% to 2.5% (2002 � 2% to 2.5%; 2001
� 2% to 2.5%); real rate of future dividend growth for UK equities 1% � 1.25% (2002 � 1%; 2001 � 1%); and pension increases
approximately in line with inflation. Surpluses or deficits on the pension plans arising from the actuarial valuations are spread over
the expected average service lives of the members (12 to 17.5 years) of the relevant plan on a straight line basis using the single
variation method.
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5 Employees continued

The actuarial value of the assets of those plans at 30 June 2002 was sufficient to cover approximately 123% of the benefits that
had accrued to members after allowing for expected future increases in wages and salaries. Provision is made in the financial
statements for the benefits accruing to members of unfunded pension plans in accordance with the advice of independent
actuaries.
     The group also operates a number of plans, primarily in the United States, which provide employees with post employment
benefits in respect of medical costs. The plans are generally unfunded and the liability in respect of these benefits is included in
provisions. The liability is assessed by qualified independent actuaries under the projected unit method, assuming that principal
assumptions under SSAP 24 were a liability discount rate of 7.5% (2002 � 7.5%; 2001 � 7.5%) and medical inflation of 10% reducing
by 1% per year to 5% (2002 � 6% reducing by 1% per year to 5%; 2001 �7% reducing to 1% per year to 5%).
     The most recent full valuations of the significant defined benefit post employment plans were carried out as follows: United
Kingdom on 31 March 2000; United States on 1 January 2003; and Ireland on 31 December 2000.

(ii) FRS 17 disclosures

United Kingdom Ireland United States
2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001

% % % % % % % % %
Major assumptions for significant
defined benefit plans
Rate of general increase in salaries 4.0 4.3 4.3 4.2 5.0 5.0 3.5 5.0 5.5
Rate of increase to pensions in
payment 3.1 3.2 3.2 2.2 3.0 3.0 � � �
Rate of increase to deferred
pensions 2.6 2.6 2.6 2.2 3.0 3.0 � � �
Medical inflation � � � � � � 9.0 5.0 6.0
Discount rate for plan liabilities 5.2 5.9 6.3 5.1 6.0 6.0 5.9 7.1 7.5
Inflation 2.6 2.6 2.6 2.2 3.0 3.0 2.5 3.0 3.5

In 2003 for the United Kingdom and United States plans there is, in addition to the above percentages, age related promotional
increases. The 2003 assumption for medical inflation reduces by 1% per year to 5%.

(a) On full compliance with FRS 17, on the basis of the above assumptions, the amounts that would have been charged to the
consolidated profit and loss account and consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses for the years ended 30
June 2003 and 30 June 2002 are set out below:

United United States
Kingdom Ireland and other Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million

2003
Operating profit
Current service cost (50) (15) (21) (86)
Past service cost (1) (7) (1) (9)
Total charge to operating profit (51) (22) (22) (95)
Finance income
Expected return on post employment plan assets 195 75 20 290
Interest on post employment plan liabilities (173) (52) (22) (247)
Net credit/(cost) to finance income 22 23 (2) 43
Exceptional items
Gain on settlement/curtailment arising on disposal of businesses 6 � 32 38
(Charge)/credit before taxation (23) 1 8 (14)
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Consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses
Actual return less expected return on post employment plan assets (362) (202) (12) (576)
Experience gains and losses arising on the plan liabilities 5 (14) (3) (12)
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the plan
liabilities (305) (22) (41) (368)
Actuarial loss recognisable in the reconciliation of the surplus (662) (238) (56) (956)
Changes in the recognisable surplus of the plans with a surplus
restriction � � 14 14
Exchange adjustments � (5) 10 5
Deficit in other plans first recognised under FRS 17 in the year (30) (7) (67) (104)
Total actuarial loss recognisable in the consolidated statement of
total recognised gains and losses (692) (250) (99) (1,041)
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5 Employees continued

United United States
Kingdom Ireland and other Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million

2002
Operating profit
Current service cost (45) (14) (33) (92)
Past service cost (3) � (4) (7)
Exceptional item � past service cost � (17) � (17)
Total charge to operating profit (48) (31) (37) (116)
Finance income
Expected return on post employment plan assets 237 87 52 376
Interest on post employment plan liabilities (169) (45) (52) (266)
Net credit to finance income 68 42 � 110
Exceptional items
Loss on settlement arising on disposal of Pillsbury � � (16) (16)
Credit/(charge) before taxation 20 11 (53) (22)
Consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses
Actual return less expected return on post employment plan assets (682) (237) (199) (1,118)
Experience gains and losses arising on the plan liabilities 5 (6) (3) (4)
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the plan liabilities (223) (35) (12) (270)
Actuarial loss recognisable in the reconciliation of the surplus (900) (278) (214) (1,392)
Changes in the recognisable surplus of the plans with a surplus restriction � � 8 8
Exchange adjustments � 15 2 17
Total actuarial loss recognisable in the consolidated statement of
total recognised gains and losses (900) (263) (204) (1,367)

The percentages in the table below are expressed in relation to the plan assets/(liabilities) at the opening balance sheet date for the
appropriate year.

United
United States

Kingdom Ireland and other
% % %

2003
Additional disclosures
Difference between the expected and actual return on plan assets expressed as a
percentage of the plan assets (16) (23) (4)
Experience losses on plan liabilities expressed as a percentage of the present value of
the plan liabilities � (1) (1)
Total actuarial loss recognised in the consolidated statement of total recognised gains
and losses expressed as a percentage of the present value of the plan liabilities (21) (25) (21)
2002
Additional disclosures
Difference between the expected and actual return on plan assets expressed as a
percentage of the plan assets (27) (25) (21)
Experience losses on plan liabilities expressed as a percentage of the present value of
the plan liabilities � (1) (1)
Total actuarial loss recognised in the consolidated statement of total recognised gains
and losses expressed as a percentage of the present value of the plan liabilities (30) (32) (18)
During the year ended 30 June 2002, the group disposed of Pillsbury and its associated post employment plans. These plans were
for employees based in the United States and the percentages in the above table exclude these plans.
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5 Employees continued

(b) The expected long term rate of returns and market values of the assets of the significant defined benefit post employment plans
were as follows:

United Kingdom Ireland
United States and

other Total
Expected Expected Expected Expected

long
term

long
term

long
term

long
term

rates
of Market

rates
of Market

rates
of Market

rates
of Market

return value return value return value return value
% £ million % £ million % £ million % £ million

2003
Market value of assets
Equities 7.5 1,928 7.2 671 8.0 164 7.5 2,763
Bonds 5.2 1 4.2 80 5.3 123 4.9 204
Property 6.5 316 6.2 104 � 7 6.5 427
Other 3.5 22 4.2 9 3.7 11 3.7 42

2,267 864 305 3,436
Present value of post employment plan
liabilities (3,370) (1,012) (473) (4,855)
Deficit in the post employment plans (1,103) (148) (168) (1,419)
Surplus restriction � � (1) (1)
Post employment liabilities before
deferred tax (1,103) (148) (169) (1,420)
Related deferred tax assets � 15 49 64
Net post employment liabilities (1,103) (133) (120) (1,356)
2002
Market value of assets
Equities 8.0 2,142 8.3 789 8.7 177 8.1 3,108
Bonds � � 5.3 66 6.2 103 5.8 169
Property 7.0 355 7.3 99 � � 7.1 454
Other 5.0 74 5.3 13 5.7 11 5.1 98

2,571 967 291 3,829
Present value of post employment plan
liabilities (2,960) (868) (367) (4,195)
(Deficit)/surplus in the post employment
plans (389) 99 (76) (366)
Surplus restriction � � (16) (16)
Post employment (liabilities)/assets
before deferred tax (389) 99 (92) (382)
Related deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 117 (10) 32 139
Net post employment
(liabilities)/assets (272) 89 (60) (243)
2001
Market value of assets
Equities 7.7 2,793 8.1 934 8.5 1,013 7.9 4,740
Bonds � � 5.6 61 6.5 311 6.4 372
Property 6.7 333 7.1 81 � � 6.8 414
Other 5.2 85 5.6 2 6.0 1 5.2 88

3,211 1,078 1,325 5,614
(2,720) (727) (1,162) (4,609)
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Present value of post employment plan
liabilities
Surplus in the post employment plans 491 351 163 1,005
Surplus restriction � � (26) (26)
Post employment assets before
deferred tax 491 351 137 979
Related deferred tax liabilities (147) (35) (53) (235)
Net post employment assets 344 316 84 744
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5 Employees continued

(c) If the post employment (liabilities)/assets, identified in (b) above, had been recognised in the consolidated financial statements,
the group�s net assets and profit and loss account reserve would be as follows:

2003 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

Group net assets
Net assets as per consolidated balance sheet (including SSAP 24 assets) 5,483 6,556 5,729
Less: net post employment assets under SSAP 24 (net of deferred tax) (454) (420) (385)
Add: net post employment (liabilities)/assets under FRS 17 (net of deferred tax) (1,356) (243) 744
Net assets including post employment assets under FRS 17 3,673 5,893 6,088
Group profit and loss account
Profit and loss account (deficit)/surplus as per consolidated balance sheet
(including SSAP 24 assets) (436) 606 (269)
Less: net post employment assets under SSAP 24 (net of deferred tax) (454) (420) (385)
Add: net post employment (liabilities)/assets under FRS 17 (net of deferred tax) (1,356) (243) 744
Profit and loss account (deficit)/surplus including post employment assets under
FRS 17 (2,246) (57) 90

(d) Movement in surplus/(deficit) during the two years ended 30 June 2003:

United
United States

Kingdom Ireland and other Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million

Surplus in plans at 30 June 2001 491 351 163 1,005
Exchange adjustments � 15 � 15
Current service cost (45) (14) (33) (92)
Past service cost (3) (17) (4) (24)
Curtailment/settlement cost � � (16) (16)
Cash contributions � � 28 28
Other finance income 68 42 � 110
Actuarial loss (900) (278) (214) (1,392)
(Deficit)/surplus in plans at 30 June 2002 (389) 99 (76) (366)
Deficit in other plans first recognised under FRS 17 in year (30) (7) (67) (104)
Exchange adjustments � (5) 9 4
Current service cost (50) (15) (21) (86)
Past service cost (1) (7) (1) (9)
Curtailment/settlement cost 6 � 32 38
Cash contributions 1 2 14 17
Other finance income/(expense) 22 23 (2) 43
Actuarial loss (662) (238) (56) (956)
Deficit in plans at 30 June 2003 (1,103) (148) (168) (1,419)
The net deficit of £1,419 million at 30 June 2003 (2002 � £366 million) excludes the surplus restriction of £1 million (2002 �
£16 million) referred to in note (b).
     The group has announced that it is anticipated that contributions of approximately £100 million will be made by the group to the
significant defined benefit plans in the year ending 30 June 2004.

(e) The Diageo pension plans are recharged with the cost of administration and professional fees paid for by the company in
respect of the pension plans. The total amount recharged for the year was £31 million (2002 � £23 million; 2001 � £21 million).

Edgar Filing: DIAGEO PLC - Form 20-F/A

Table of Contents 107



Edgar Filing: DIAGEO PLC - Form 20-F/A

Table of Contents 108



Table of Contents

88 Diageo Annual Report 2003
Notes to the consolidated financial statements

6 Associates

2003 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

Share of turnover 1,988 1,745 1,025
Share of operating costs (1,510) (1,421) (822)
Share of operating profit before exceptional items 478 324 203
Share of exceptional items (21) (41) �
Share of operating profit 457 283 203
Share of interest payable (net) (72) (64) (3)
Share of taxation (138) (87) (29)
Equity minority interests (1) (1) (1)
Dividends received by the group (60) (87) (101)
Share of profits retained by associates 186 44 69

Summarised financial information for the principal associates is presented below:

(a) General Mills, Inc General Mills prepares its financial statements in US dollars and under US GAAP to the end of May each
year. Summary information for General Mills, as presented in its 2003 Form 10-K filed with the SEC for the 52 weeks ended 25
May 2003 translated at £1 = $1.59, is set out below.

2003
$ million £ million

Turnover 10,506 6,608
Gross profit 4,397 2,765
Profit for the year 917 577

The group�s 21% share of operating profit before exceptional items and its share of the interest expense of General Mills was
£287 million and £73 million (2002 � £143 million and £59 million; 2001 � £nil and £nil), respectively.

(b) Moët Hennessy Moët Hennessy prepares its financial statements in euros to 31 December each year. Summary information
for Moët Hennessy for the three years ended 30 June 2003, in each year aggregating the results for the six month period ended 31
December with that of the following six months ended 30 June, translated at £1 = �1.52 (2002 � £1 = �1.61; 2001 � £1 = �1.63) is set out
below:

2003 2002 2001
� million £ million � million £ million � million £ million

Turnover 2,131 1,402 2,285 1,419 2,311 1,418
Gross profit 1,445 951 1,441 895 1,427 875
Profit for the year 450 296 309 192 611 374

The group�s 34% share of operating profit before exceptional items of Moët Hennessy was £177 million (2002 � £150 million; 2001 �
£155 million).

(c) Investment in other associates Summarised financial information, in aggregate, is presented below for all of the group�s
investments in associates other than General Mills and Moët Hennessy:

2003 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

Turnover 335 644 1,201
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Operating profit 50 74 134
Profit for the year 37 36 60

(d) Other information Group turnover includes sales to associates of £15 million (2002 � £20 million; 2001 � £37 million) and
operating costs include purchases from associates of £18 million (2002 � £95 million; 2001 � £117 million).
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7 Exceptional items
In the three years ended 30 June 2003 the following exceptional items were incurred:

2003 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

Operating items (note (i)) (168) (453) (228)
Share of profits of associates (note (ii)) (21) (41) �
Disposal of fixed assets (43) (22) 19
Sale of businesses (note (iii)) (1,270) 821 (23)

(1,502) 305 (232)
(i) Operating items
Continuing operations
Seagram integration (a) (177) (164) �
Guinness UDV integration (b) (48) (48) (74)
Bass distribution rights (c) 57 � �
José Cuervo settlement (d) � (220) �
Other integration and restructuring (e) � � (79)

(168) (432) (153)
Discontinued operations
Burger King (f) � (21) (65)
Pillsbury � restructuring costs � � (10)

� (21) (75)
(168) (453) (228)

(a) Costs of £177 million (2002 � £164 million) were incurred on the integration of the acquired Seagram spirits and wine businesses
into premium drinks. It is anticipated that, as a result of the charge in the two years ended 30 June 2003, 2,200 jobs will be lost of
which some 1,800 had been terminated by 30 June 2003. It is expected that further costs will be incurred in the year ending 30
June 2004 and the total integration will result in the loss of approximately 2,500 jobs.

An analysis of the movement in the Seagram integration liability is as follows:

Charged to Charged to
profit and profit and

loss
account

loss
account

in year in year
ended Cash Liability at ended Cash Liability at

30 June
2002 payments

30 June
2002

30 June
2003 payments

30 June
2003

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Employee related 72 (33) 39 43 (56) 26
Distributor rationalisation 14 (13) 1 57 (37) 21
Lease terminations 7 (2) 5 6 (3) 8
Legal and professional 10 (4) 6 7 (7) 6
Other 25 (18) 7 38 (40) 5

128 (70) 58 151 (143) 66
Asset write downs 36 26

164 177

During the year ended 30 June 2003, Diageo and Pernod Ricard finalised their arrangements for the sharing of restructuring
charges in connection with the acquisition of the Seagram spirits and wine businesses. �Asset write downs� charged to the profit and
loss account in the year ended 30 June 2003 included £19 million in respect of costs incurred by the group and originally expected
to be recovered from Pernod Ricard. These costs were principally employee related and include £13 million paid by Diageo in the
year ended 30 June 2002 (and recorded as a debtor at 30 June 2002) and £6 million paid for by Diageo in the year ended
30 June 2003.
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Asset write downs in the year ended 30 June 2002 were in respect of (i) two bottling facilities located in Canada (LaSalle and
Toronto) of £19 million following a decision to close the plants as part of the integration of the Seagram spirits and wine
businesses, (ii) the writedown of computer software and equipment following the adoption of common systems of £11 million, and
(iii) sundry fixtures and fittings which became redundant following the integration of £6 million. The assets were written off on the
basis of their anticipated value to the group, taking account of their expected future use, based on internal management estimates.
LaSalle was a former Seagram plant and Toronto a Diageo plant. Both closures were announced in the year ended 30 June 2002.
Toronto was closed in the year ended 30 June 2003 and LaSalle was significantly run down towards eventual closure.

(b) £48 million (2002 � £48 million; 2001 � £74 million) costs were incurred in the year in respect of the integration of the spirits, wine
and beer businesses to create premium drinks. As a result of the charge in the three years ended 30 June 2003, it is anticipated
that approximately 750 jobs will be lost of which approximately 600 had been terminated at 30 June 2003.
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7 Exceptional items continued

An analysis of the movement in the integration liability is as follows:

Charged
to

Charged
to

Charged
to

profit and profit and
profit
and

loss
account

loss
account

loss
account

in year in year in year

ended Cash
Liability

at ended Cash
Liability

at ended Cash
Liability

at
30 June

2001 payments
30 June

2001
30 June

2002 payments
30 June

2002
30 June

2003 payments
30 June

2003

£ million
£

million £ million £ million
£

million £ million £ million
£

million £ million
Employee related 32 (12) 20 18 (22) 16 28 (33) 11
Legal and professional 9 (4) 5 9 (8) 6 11 (11) 6
Other 26 (20) 6 21 (24) 3 7 (2) 8

67 (36) 31 48 (54) 25 46 (46) 25
Asset write downs 7 2

74 48

(c) Effective from 30 June 2003, the group relinquished its rights to distribute Bass Ale in the United States, resulting in an
exceptional gain before taxes of £57 million.

(d) On 5 February 2002, Diageo and José Cuervo SA (José Cuervo) agreed to terminate their litigation in respect of a change of
control issue which José Cuervo claimed arose as a result of the merger of GrandMet and Guinness, and new arrangements were
formalised for the distribution rights for the José Cuervo brands in the United States which now extend to 2013. The settlement in
favour of José Cuervo involved the return of the group�s 45% interest in José Cuervo and a net cash payment of £85 million. The
exceptional charge in the year ended 30 June 2002 of £220 million (before tax) comprises the write off of the group�s investment in
José Cuervo of £115 million, related goodwill previously written off to reserves of £20 million and the net cash payment to José
Cuervo.

(e) In 2001, £79 million costs were incurred on the reorganisation of beer production facilities in Ireland and England and the
restructuring of ownership and management within premium drinks. Included in the costs were £35 million of employee related
costs and £26 million of tangible fixed asset write downs. The assets were written off on the basis of their expected future use,
based on internal management estimates. The restructuring resulted in the loss of approximately 550 jobs of which 480 had been
terminated at 30 June 2003.

(f) During the year ended 30 June 2002, in anticipation of the disposal of the Burger King business, their franchisee loan financing
arrangements were restructured. This resulted in an exceptional charge for credit enhancement, performance and service fees of
£21 million. In the year ended 30 June 2001, the exceptional items in respect of Burger King comprised provisions of £49 million
made against certain fixed assets, costs associated with litigation of £21 million less £5 million of successor franchise fee income.

(ii) Share of profits of associates The group�s share of exceptional items in respect of associates comprised restructuring costs of
£18 million (2002 � £31 million) incurred by General Mills following the acquisition of the Pillsbury business and £3 million (2002 �
£10 million) in respect of Moët Hennessy.

(iii) Sale of businesses
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2003 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

Continuing operations
Premium drinks 16 512 28
Discontinued operations
Burger King (1,457) (13) �
Pillsbury 171 322 (51)

(1,286) 309 (51)
(Loss)/gain on sale of businesses (1,270) 821 (23)

The gain on the disposal of Pillsbury in the year ended 30 June 2003 primarily represents additional consideration that the
company received from General Mills in connection with the disposal of Pillsbury.
     The net loss from the sale of businesses was after charging goodwill previously written off, attributable to the businesses sold, of
£682 million (2002 � £1,748 million; 2001 � £nil) of which £673 million arose on the disposal of Burger King (2002 � £1,671 million on
the disposal of Pillsbury).
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8 Interest payable (net)

2003 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

On bank loans and overdrafts 21 16 32
On all other borrowings 501 499 418
Share of net interest payable by associates 72 64 3

594 579 453
Less: Other interest receivable (243) (180) (103)

351 399 350

9 Taxation
(i) Analysis of taxation charge in the year

2003 2002
Before Before

exceptional Exceptional exceptional Exceptional
items items Total items items Total

£
million £ million

£
million

£
million £ million

£
million

Current tax
UK corporation tax payable at 30% (2002 � 30%) 21 (11) 10 26 2 28
Less: Double taxation relief � � � (7) � (7)

21 (11) 10 19 2 21
Overseas corporate taxation 330 (32) 298 408 (10) 398
Share of taxes on profits of associates 145 (7) 138 92 (5) 87
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 17 4 21 (6) � (6)
Total current tax 513 (46) 467 513 (13) 500
Deferred tax (note 21)
United Kingdom (27) (4) (31) (49) � (49)
Overseas 28 (8) 20 (39) 134 95
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 25 6 31 86 � 86
Total deferred tax 26 (6) 20 (2) 134 132
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities 539 (52) 487 511 121 632

2001
Before

exceptional Exceptional
items items Total

£
million £ million £ million

Current tax
UK corporation tax payable at 30% 148 (26) 122
Less: Double taxation relief (107) � (107)

41 (26) 15
Overseas corporate taxation 356 (7) 349
Share of taxes on profits of associates 29 � 29
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (20) � (20)
Total current tax 406 (33) 373
Deferred tax (note 21)
United Kingdom 28 � 28
Overseas 35 � 35
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (1) � (1)
Total deferred tax 62 � 62
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities 468 (33) 435
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Included in adjustments in respect of prior periods for current tax is a UK credit of £42 million (2002 � charge of £26 million; 2001 �
credit of £11 million) and an overseas charge for tax of £63 million (2002 � credit of £32 million; 2001 � credit of £9 million).

Edgar Filing: DIAGEO PLC - Form 20-F/A

Table of Contents 116



Table of Contents

92 Diageo Annual Report 2003
Notes to the consolidated financial statements

9 Taxation continued

(ii) Factors affecting tax charge for the year

2003 2002
Before Before

exceptional Exceptional exceptional Exceptional
items items Total items items Total

£
million £ million

£
million

£
million £ million £ million

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 2,156 (1,502) 654 2,031 305 2,336
Notional charge at UK corporation tax rate of 30% 647 (451) 196 609 92 701
Differences in effective overseas tax rates (18) (14) (32) 2 21 23
Differences in effective tax rates on profits of
associates 6 � 6 14 (7) 7
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances 27 � 27 6 � 6
Intangible amortisation (130) � (130) (178) � (178)
Timing differences (28) 9 (19) 77 (134) (57)
Permanent differences � items not chargeable (54) � (54) (57) � (57)
                                     � items not deductible 46 406 452 46 15 61
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 17 4 21 (6) � (6)
Current ordinary tax charge for the year 513 (46) 467 513 (13) 500
Differences in effective overseas tax rates � (3) (3) (8) � (8)
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances (27) � (27) (4) � (4)
Intangible amortisation � � � 1 � 1
Timing differences 28 (9) 19 (77) 134 57
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 25 6 31 86 � 86
Tax charge for the year 539 (52) 487 511 121 632

2001
Before

exceptional Exceptional
items items Total

£
million £ million £ million

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 1,954 (232) 1,722
Notional charge at UK corporation tax rate of 30% 586 (69) 517
Differences in effective overseas tax rates 9 32 41
Differences in effective tax rates on profits of associates (42) � (42)
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances 30 � 30
Intangible amortisation (114) � (114)
Timing differences (113) (42) (155)
Permanent differences � items not chargeable (28) (9) (37)
                                     � items not deductible 98 55 153
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (20) � (20)
Current ordinary tax charge for the year 406 (33) 373
Differences in effective overseas tax rates (51) (42) (93)
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances 1 � 1
Timing differences 113 42 155
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (1) � (1)
Tax charge for the year 468 (33) 435
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9 Taxation continued

(iii) Factors that may affect future tax charges Deferred tax assets where realisation does not meet the more likely than not
criterion, have not been recognised.
     No provision has been made for deferred tax on gains recognised on revaluing property or intangible assets or on the sale of
properties or intangibles where potentially taxable gains have been rolled over into replacement assets. The total amount
unprovided is £21 million (2002 � £12 million; 2001 � £10 million). Such tax would become payable only if the property or intangible
was sold without it being possible to claim further rollover relief and this is not expected to occur in the foreseeable future.
     No deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries and associates, as earnings are reinvested
by the group and no tax is expected to be payable on them in the foreseeable future. It is not considered practical to calculate the
amounts involved.

10 Dividends

2003 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

Interim
9.9 pence per share (2002 � 9.3 pence; 2001 � 8.9 pence) 304 309 298
Proposed final
15.7 pence per share (2002 � 14.5 pence; 2001 � 13.4 pence) 482 458 453

786 767 751

11 Earnings per share

2003 2002 2001
Earnings Shares Earnings Shares Earnings Shares

£
million million

£
million million

£
million million

Basic (profit/weighted average number of shares) 76 3,113 1,617 3,316 1,207 3,377
Adjustments � potential employee share issues � 1 � 2 � 3
Diluted 76 3,114 1,617 3,318 1,207 3,380
Basic and diluted earnings per share are shown on the face of the profit and loss account calculated by reference to earnings
before the £1,450 million charge (2002 � £184 million credit; 2001 � £199 million charge) in respect of exceptional items and the
related tax, since the directors consider that this gives a useful additional indication of underlying performance.

12 Fixed assets � intangible assets

Other
Brands Goodwill intangibles Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million
Cost
At 30 June 2002 5,307 107 50 5,464
Exchange adjustments (275) (2) (1) (278)
Additions 17 6 12 35
Disposals (839) (71) (1) (911)
At 30 June 2003 4,210 40 60 4,310
Amortisation
At 30 June 2002 � 18 12 30
Exchange adjustments � (1) (1) (2)
Provided during the year � 4 5 9
Disposals � (14) (1) (15)
At 30 June 2003 � 7 15 22
Net book value
At 30 June 2003 4,210 33 45 4,288
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At 30 June 2002 5,307 89 38 5,434
Brands are stated at fair value on acquisition, denominated in the currencies of their principal markets. An annual review is carried
out by the directors to consider whether any brand has suffered an impairment in value. The principal acquired brands included
above are Johnnie Walker, Smirnoff, Crown Royal, Captain Morgan and Windsor Premier.
     The addition to brands represents adjustments to the amounts attributable to the brands purchased on the acquisition of the
Seagram spirits and wine businesses. Disposals of brands are primarily in respect of the sale of Burger King.
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13 Fixed assets � tangible assets

Assets in

Land and Plant and
Fixtures

and course of
buildings machinery fittings construction Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

Cost or valuation
At 30 June 2002 1,652 1,988 157 178 3,975
Exchange adjustments (38) (9) (2) (4) (53)
Additions 54 177 57 109 397
Disposals (764) (479) (90) (35) (1,368)
Transfers � 10 76 (86) �
At 30 June 2003 904 1,687 198 162 2,951
Depreciation
At 30 June 2002 402 923 105 � 1,430
Exchange adjustments (14) 3 (1) � (12)
Provided during the year 34 173 33 � 240
Exceptional write downs � 10 3 � 13
Disposals (292) (368) (34) � (694)
At 30 June 2003 130 741 106 � 977
Net book value
At 30 June 2003 774 946 92 162 1,974
At 30 June 2002 1,250 1,065 52 178 2,545

(a) The net book value of land and buildings comprises: freeholds of £749 million (2002 � £1,089 million); long leaseholds of
£25 million (2002 � £44 million); and short leaseholds of £nil (2002 � £117 million). Depreciation was not charged on £207 million
(2002 � £441 million) of land.

(b) Included in the total net book value of tangible assets is £1 million (2002 � £17 million) in respect of assets under finance leases;
depreciation for the year on these assets was £nil (2002 � £3 million). Cost included £nil (2002 � £187 million) in respect of assets
held for the purpose of leasing out under operating leases; accumulated depreciation on these assets was £nil (2002 � £54 million)
and depreciation for the year was £1 million (2002 � £3 million).

(c) The total at cost or valuation for land and buildings comprises: £512 million (2002 � £519 million) at 1992 professional valuation;
£96 million (2002 � £95 million) at 1988 professional valuation; and £296 million (2002 � £1,038 million) at cost. The professional
valuations were made on an open market existing use basis except for specialised properties which were valued on a depreciated
replacement cost basis.

(d) The historical cost of land and buildings, i.e. the original cost to the group of all land and buildings, was £784 million (2002 �
£1,523 million) and the related accumulated depreciation was £130 million (2002 � £402 million).
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14 Fixed assets � investments

Investment InvestmentInvestment TotalInvestment
Total
loans

in
General in Moët in other investment in own Other

and
other

Mills Hennessy associates
in

associates sharesinvestments Loansinvestments Total

£ million £ million
£

million £ million
£

million
£

million
£

million
£

million
£

million
Cost
At 30 June 2002 1,837 993 79 2,909 248 47 42 337 3,246
Exchange adjustments (133) 70 (5) (68) � (1) (4) (5) (73)
Additions � � 63 63 97 3 141 241 304
Share of retained profits 73 107 6 186 � � 6 6 192
Disposals and other (34) � (21) (55) (44) (25) (5) (74) (129)
At 30 June 2003 1,743 1,170 122 3,035 301 24 180 505 3,540
Provisions/amortisation
At 30 June 2002 � 1 9 10 29 24 � 53 63
Amortisation of own shares � � � � 27 � � 27 27
Increase in provision � � � � � 1 6 7 7
Disposals � � (9) (9) (14) (15) � (29) (38)
At 30 June 2003 � 1 � 1 42 10 6 58 59
Net book value
At 30 June 2003 1,743 1,169 122 3,034 259 14 174 447 3,481
At 30 June 2002 1,837 992 70 2,899 219 23 42 284 3,183

Investment in associates comprises the cost of shares, less goodwill written off on acquisitions prior to 1 July 1998, of
£2,619 million (2002 � £2,666 million) plus the group�s share of post acquisition reserves of £415 million (2002 � £233 million).

(a) General Mills, Inc Included in associates is the group�s 79 million shares in General Mills. General Mills prepares its
financial statements in US dollars and under US GAAP to the end of May each year. A summary of General Mills� consolidated
balance sheet, as presented in its Form 10-K filed with the SEC translated at £1 = $1.65 (2002 � £1 = $1.52),
is set out below:

25 May 2003 26 May 2002
$ million £ million $ million £ million

Fixed assets
Intangible assets 10,272 6,225 8,563 5,634
Other fixed assets 4,776 2,895 4,540 2,987
Current assets
Cash 703 426 975 641
Other current assets 2,476 1,501 2,462 1,620
Creditors � due within one year
Borrowings (1,341) (813) (3,848) (2,532)
Other creditors (2,103) (1,275) (1,899) (1,249)
Creditors � due after one year
Borrowings (7,516) (4,555) (5,591) (3,678)
Other creditors (2,792) (1,692) (1,473) (969)
Net assets before minority interests 4,475 2,712 3,729 2,454
Minority interests (300) (182) (153) (101)
Net assets after minority interests 4,175 2,530 3,576 2,353
At 30 June 2003, General Mills� share price was $47.41 (£28.73) valuing the group�s interest at $3,745 million (£2,270 million).
     The 21% net investment in General Mills has been accounted for by aggregating the acquired share of the fair value of General
Mills prior to the acquisition with the retained interest in Pillsbury pre-transaction net assets. Goodwill associated with the retained
interest in Pillsbury, written off to reserves up to 1 July 1998, will be recycled through the profit and loss account on a subsequent
sale of shares in General Mills.
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     On 23 October 2002, Diageo sold call options to General Mills at a strike price of $51.56. These options expire in October 2005
and give General Mills the option to purchase 29 million of its own shares held by Diageo, subject to certain limitations. The
premium of £58 million ($89 million) received in respect of the options has been deferred and is included in accruals and deferred
income in other creditors.
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14 Fixed assets � investmentscontinued

(b) Moët Hennessy Moët Hennessy prepares its financial statements in euros to 31 December each year. A summary of
Moët Hennessy�s consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2003 and 30 June 2002, translated at £1 =�1.44
(2002 � £1 =�1.54), is set out below:

2003 2002
� million £ million � million £ million

Fixed assets 1,350 937 1,287 836
Current assets 4,105 2,851 3,799 2,467
Creditors � due within one year (1,361) (945) (1,398) (908)
Creditors � due after one year (367) (255) (392) (255)
Net assets before minority interests 3,727 2,588 3,296 2,140
Minority interests (28) (19) (32) (21)
Net assets after minority interests 3,699 2,569 3,264 2,119
The 34% net investment in Moët Hennessy has been accounted for by aggregating the group�s share of the net assets of Moët
Hennessy with fair value adjustments principally in respect of Moët Hennessy�s brands on acquisition.

(c) Investment in other associates The table below analyses and aggregates the group�s share of the net assets of associates
other than General Mills and Moët Hennessy:

2003 2002
£ million £ million

Fixed assets 85 37
Current assets 73 58
Creditors � due within one year (31) (21)
Creditors � due after one year (5) (4)
Net assets 122 70

(d) Investment in own shares At 30 June 2003 investment in own shares comprises 42.8 million ordinary shares held in respect
of long term incentive plans for executive directors and senior executives and 2.2 million ordinary shares held in respect of grants
under UK, Irish and US savings-related share option schemes. The market value of these shares at 30 June 2003 was £291 million
(2002 � 38.7 million ordinary shares; market value £330 million). Dividends are waived for all shares owned by the company.

(e) Loans Included within loans at 30 June 2003 is £129 million ($212 million) receivable in respect of the disposal of Burger King.
The loan earns interest of 9% which, except in certain circumstances, is rolled up until maturity of the loan in 2013.

15 Stocks

2003 2002
£ million £ million

Raw materials and consumables 200 214
Work in progress 14 34
Maturing stocks 1,409 1,474
Finished goods and goods for resale 570 594

2,193 2,316

Stocks are disclosed net of provisions for obsolescence, an analysis of which is as follows:

2003 2002 2001
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£ million £ million £ million
Balance at beginning of the year 51 56 58
Exchange adjustments (1) (1) �
Profit and loss account movements 4 17 6
Acquisitions 13 1 2
Disposals � (10) �
Written off (17) (12) (10)

50 51 56
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16 Debtors

2003 2002
Due

within Due after
Due

within Due after
one
year one year one year one year

£
million £ million £ million £ million

Trade debtors 1,295 10 1,349 �
Amounts owed by associates 2 � 3 �
Amounts receivable under finance leases � � 7 87
Other debtors 638 111 530 384
Pension prepayments � 690 � 678
Other prepayments and accrued income 128 15 168 17
Deferred taxation (note 21) 110 69 152 42
ACT recoverable � 2 � 2

2,173 897 2,209 1,210

Debtors are disclosed net of provisions for bad and doubtful debts, an analysis of which is as follows:

2003 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

Balance at beginning of the year 120 100 78
Exchange adjustments (6) (4) 1
Profit and loss account movements 80 15 19
Acquisitions � 20 4
Disposals (30) (11) (2)
Written off (1) � �

163 120 100

17 Net borrowings

At 30 June Non-cash Exchange At 30 June
2002 Cash flow items adjustments 2003

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Analysis of net borrowings
Cash and overdrafts
Cash at bank and liquid resources 1,596 (336) � (69) 1,191
Less: Bank deposits reclassified to liquid resources (1,038) 256 � 52 (730)
Overdrafts (295) 202 � 10 (83)

263 122 � (7) 378
Borrowings excluding overdrafts
Borrowings due within one year (3,423) 1,816 (2,151) 278 (3,480)
Borrowings due after one year (3,711) (1,567) 2,124 173 (2,981)
Interest rate and foreign currency swaps 365 221 64 (166) 484
Net obligations under finance leases (28) 26 � 1 (1)

(6,797) 496 37 286 (5,978)
Liquid resources
Bank deposits reclassified from cash at bank and liquid
resources 1,038 (256) � (52) 730
Net borrowings (5,496) 362 37 227 (4,870)
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17 Net borrowings continued

At 30 June Non-cash Exchange At 30 June
2001 Cash flow items adjustments 2002

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Cash and overdrafts
Cash at bank and liquid resources 1,842 (198) � (48) 1,596
Less: Bank deposits reclassified to liquid resources (1,178) 92 � 48 (1,038)
Overdrafts (262) (44) � 11 (295)

402 (150) � 11 263
Borrowings excluding overdrafts
Borrowings due within one year (3,340) 762 (1,010) 165 (3,423)
Borrowings due after one year (3,993) (695) 761 216 (3,711)
Interest rate and foreign currency swaps 315 70 59 (79) 365
Net obligations under finance leases (41) � 11 2 (28)

(7,059) 137 (179) 304 (6,797)
Liquid resources
Bank deposits reclassified from cash at bank and liquid
resources 1,178 (92) � (48) 1,038
Net borrowings (5,479) (105) (179) 267 (5,496)
£13 million (2002 � £16 million; 2001 � £19 million) of net borrowings due after one year and £204 million (2002 � £260 million; 2001 �
£91 million) of net borrowings due within one year were secured on assets of the group.
     The interest rate swaps included in net borrowings comprise interest accruals on the swaps relating to the zero coupon bonds
2004. The foreign currency swaps comprise the net amount from the translation of the group�s foreign currency swap principal
amounts. The interest rate and foreign currency swaps are included in other debtors. Bank deposits represent amounts placed with
financial institutions which require notice of withdrawal of more than 24 hours in order to avoid an interest penalty.

Year end
interest rates 2003 2002

Currency % £ million £ million
Borrowings excluding overdrafts
Commercial paper US dollar 0.95-2.09 863 1,600
Bonds 2002 Euro 6.25 � 148
Guaranteed bonds 2003 US dollar 6.0 � 329
Guaranteed bonds 2004 US dollar 6.625 605 657
Zero coupon bonds 2004 US dollar 8.13 712 714
Guaranteed notes 2004 US dollar 7.125 121 131
Guaranteed bonds 2005 US dollar 6.125 302 328
Guaranteed bonds 2005 Sterling 9.0 200 200
Guaranteed bonds 2007 US dollar 3.5 603 �
Guaranteed bonds 2008 US dollar 3.375 600 �
Guaranteed notes 2005/2035 US dollar 7.45 242 263
Guaranteed debentures 2011 US dollar 9.0 181 196
Guaranteed debentures 2022 US dollar 8.0 180 196
Medium term notes Various Various 384 1,067
Medium term notes 2003 Euro 2.53 209 �
Guaranteed bond Sterling 7.69 500 500
Preferred securities US dollar 5.66-5.86 455 493
Interest rate and foreign currency swaps Various Various (484) (365)
Bank loans and others Various Various 305 340
Total 5,978 6,797
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17 Net borrowings continued

The interest rates shown in the table are those contracted on the underlying borrowings before taking into account any interest rate
protection (see note 18). The effective interest rate for the year, based on average net borrowings was 5.3% excluding associate
interest (2002 � 7.4%). The above loans are stated net of unamortised finance costs of £48 million (2002 � £113 million) of which
£30 million (2002 � £92 million) relates to the zero coupon bonds 2004.
     The weighted average interest rate for short term borrowings, before interest rate protection, at 30 June 2003 was 3.3% (2002 �
3.6%; 2001 � 5.2%).

18 Financial instruments and risk management

Financial instruments comprise net borrowings (see note 17) together with other instruments deemed to be financial instruments
including certain fixed asset investments, long term debtors, other long term creditors and provisions for liabilities and charges.
Disclosures dealt with in this note exclude short term debtors and creditors where permitted by the accounting standard on
derivatives and other financial instruments (FRS 13).

(i) Currency risk management The group publishes its financial statements in sterling and conducts business in many foreign
currencies. As a result, it is subject to foreign currency exchange risk due to exchange rate movements which will affect the group�s
transaction costs, and the translation of the results and underlying net assets of its foreign subsidiaries.
     The group hedges a substantial portion of its exposure to fluctuations on the translation into sterling of its foreign currency net
assets by holding net borrowings in foreign currencies and by using foreign currency swaps and cross currency interest rate swaps.
During the year ended 30 June 2003, the group�s policy was to hedge currency exposure on its net assets before net borrowings at
approximately the following percentages � 90% for US dollars (increased from 75% as a result of June 2002 policy review), 90% for
the euro and 50% for other significant currencies where a liquid foreign exchange market exists. Exchange differences arising on
the retranslation of foreign currency net borrowings and foreign exchange swaps are recognised in the statement of total
recognised gains and losses to match exchange differences on foreign currency equity investments, in accordance with SSAP 20 �
Foreign currency translation. At 30 June 2003, the group�s US dollar and euro net assets before net borrowings were approximately
91% and 84% hedged by net borrowings, respectively.
     During the year ended 30 June 2003 the group had US dollar and euro profit translation hedges in place against a proportion of
its forecast profit before exceptionals and tax arising in the premium drinks business. The hedges comprised currency option
cylinders (which consisted of separate put and call options) and forward foreign exchange contracts. This limited in part the
translation exposure of the group�s profit before exceptional items and tax to movements in the exchange rates. For the profits
covered by currency option cylinders, the group was only exposed to exchange rate movements within a specified range. The
impact of exchange rate movements outside that range was taken by the counterparty to the transaction. Gains and losses on
option cylinders were recognised in the underlying hedged periods.
     For currencies in which there is an active market, the group manages between 80% and 100% of transactional foreign
exchange rate risk, up to 18 months forward, using forward foreign currency exchange contracts. The gain or loss on the hedge is
recognised at the same time as the underlying transaction.

At 30 June 2003, as a result of the transaction and translation exposure cover outlined above, the group had the following
outstanding gross foreign exchange contracts:

Foreign currency amount Percentage of total

Purchase Sell Total
US

dollar Euro Maturity
£

million £ million £ million % % Year
Transaction 466 1,347 1,813 46 26 2003-2004
Translation:
� Foreign currency contracts 3,439 4,593 8,032 71 21 2003-2004
� Cross currency interest rate swaps 208 160 368 57 43 2003
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At 30 June 2002, as a result of the transaction and translation exposure cover outlined above, the group had the following
outstanding gross foreign exchange contracts:

Foreign currency amount Percentage of total

Purchase Sell Total
US

dollar Euro Maturity
£ million £ million £ million % % Year

Transaction 409 2,307 2,716 54 30 2002-2003
Translation:
� Foreign currency contracts 2,315 3,306 5,621 67 22 2002
� Cross currency interest rate swaps 727 354 1,081 45 51 2002-2003

At 30 June 2003, there were no material monetary assets or liabilities in currencies other than the functional currencies of group
companies, having taken into account the effect of forward contract and other derivative financial instruments that have been
utilised to match foreign currency exposure.
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18 Financial instruments and risk management continued

(ii) Interest risk management The group has an exposure to interest rate risk and within this category of market risk, is most
vulnerable to changes in US dollar, sterling and euro interest rates. To manage interest rate risk, the group manages its proportion
of fixed to variable rate borrowings within limits approved by the board, primarily through issuing long term fixed rate bonds,
medium term notes and floating rate commercial paper, and by utilising interest rate swaps, cross currency interest rate swaps and
swaptions. The profile of fixed rate to floating rate net borrowings is maintained such that projected net borrowings are targeted to
be fully floating after five years, and are approximately 50% fixed and 50% floating on an amortising basis within five years. The
floating element of US dollar net borrowings within five years is partly protected using interest rate collars. Following the June 2002
policy review, the level of interest rate collars will reduce. Remaining interest rate collars as at 30 June 2003 will take up to
approximately three years to expire. In addition, where appropriate, the group may use forward rate agreements to manage short
term interest rate exposures. Receipts and payments on interest rate instruments including swaps, swaptions, forward rate
agreements and collars taken out to hedge interest rate risk are accounted for on an accruals basis over the life of the instrument
or the underlying hedged periods as appropriate. Such management serves to increase the accuracy of the business planning
process and to help manage the interest cover ratio. Diageo has a target range for cash interest cover (defined as operating profit
before exceptional items, interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and share of profits of associates, and after dividends
received from associates over net interest cash flow including minority interest dividends) of five to eight times and under the
current economic environment Diageo�s intention is to move towards the higher end of this range.

At 30 June 2003, after taking account of interest rate swaps, cross currency interest rate swaps and forward rate agreements, the
currency and interest rate profile of the financial liabilities and assets of the group was as follows:

Impact
of Weighted

foreign Weighted average
Floating Fixed Interest currency average time to

rate rate free Sub-total swaps Total
fixed
rate maturity

£
million

£
million

£
million £ million

£
million

£
million % Years

Financial liabilities:
US dollar (3,061) (2,295) (314) (5,670) 473 (5,197) 5.5 3.1
Euro (13) (600) (10) (623) (832) (1,455) 4.7 1.9
Sterling (719) � (12) (731) 1,269 538 � �
Other (92) (17) � (109) (195) (304) 8.8 3.3

(3,885) (2,912) (336) (7,133) 715 (6,418) 5.3 2.9
Guaranteed preferred securities � (343) � (343) � (343) 9.4 1.4
Financial assets:
US dollar 505 129 258 892 � 892 9.0 10.0
Euro 182 � 21 203 � 203 � �
Sterling 170 45 15 230 � 230 3.0 1.0
Other 217 � 4 221 � 221 � �

1,074 174 298 1,546 � 1,546 7.4 7.7
Net financial (liabilities)/assets (2,811) (3,081) (38) (5,930) 715 (5,215) 5.7 2.4
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18 Financial instruments and risk management continued
At 30 June 2002, after taking account of interest rate swaps, cross currency interest rate swaps and forward rate agreements, the
currency and interest rate profile of the financial liabilities and assets of the group was as follows:

Impact
of Weighted

foreign Weighted average
Floating Fixed Interest currency average time to

Rate rate free Sub-total swaps Total
fixed
rate maturity

£ million £ million
£

million £ million £ million £ million % Years
Financial liabilities:
US dollar (2,304) (3,053) (331) (5,688) (11) (5,699) 5.5 2.7
Euro (349) (588) (3) (940) (329) (1,269) 4.8 3.3
Sterling (739) (300) (3) (1,042) 1,022 (20) 5.9 0.5
Other (80) (48) � (128) (212) (340) 5.1 0.9

(3,472) (3,989) (337) (7,798) 470 (7,328) 5.4 2.6
Guaranteed preferred securities � (371) � (371) � (371) 9.4 2.4
Financial assets:
US dollar 735 87 268 1,090 � 1,090 4.5 6.0
Euro 115 � 6 121 � 121 � �
Sterling 222 331 12 565 � 565 7.0 0.6
Other 225 � 11 236 � 236 � �

1,297 418 297 2,012 � 2,012 6.5 1.7
Net financial (liabilities)/assets (2,175) (3,942) (40) (6,157) 470 (5,687) 5.7 2.7
Floating rate financial liabilities bear interest based on short term interbank rates (predominantly six monthly LIBOR) and
commercial paper rates.
     Interest bearing financial liabilities comprise bonds, medium term notes, commercial paper issued, money market loans,
repurchase and forward rate agreements, net obligations under finance leases, bank overdrafts and certain provisions. Financial
liabilities on which no interest is paid consist of: provisions for liabilities and charges payable after one year in respect of employee
incentive plans and provisions for business disposals of £58 million (2002 � £57 million); other creditors of £180 million (2002 �
£250 million); and derivative financial instruments of £98 million (2002 � £30 million). Interest bearing financial assets comprise
cash, short term liquid investments with financial institutions and certain fixed asset investments, loans and debtors. Financial
assets on which no interest is paid include certain fixed asset investments, loans and long term debtors.
     The foreign currency swaps, in the table above, adjust the currency basis of borrowings as part of the group�s policy to hedge its
exposure to fluctuations on translation into sterling of its foreign currency net assets (see (i) above).The foreign currency swaps are
short term in nature and therefore have a floating interest basis. They are shown after taking account of fixing interest rate swaps
which transfer £600 million (2002 � £439 million) of euro floating rate interest liabilities arising from foreign currency swaps into euro
fixed rate financial liabilities.

At 30 June 2003, the group had the following portfolio of interest rate derivative instruments:

Weighted
average Weighted

Receive Pay fixed average
Fixed fixed interest remaining Forward

notional notional rate maturity starting Maturity
£ million £ million % Years Year Year

Currency instrument
US dollar:
Interest rate swaps 3,484 � 5.5 3.7 � 2003-2022
Interest rate swaps � 2,097 5.8 1.5 � 2003-2006
Euro:
Interest rate swaps 18 � 4.7 1.0 � 2004
Interest rate swaps � 486 4.8 1.7 � 2003-2006
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Forward starting swaps � 132 4.4 2.4 2004-2006 2007
Sterling:
Interest rate swaps 700 � 6.5 0.9 � 2003-2005
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18 Financial instruments and risk management continued

At 30 June 2002 the group had the following portfolio of interest rate derivative instruments:

Weighted
average Weighted

Receive Pay fixed average
fixed fixed interest remaining Forward

notional notional rate maturity starting Maturity
£ million £ million % Years Year Year

Currency instrument
US dollar:
Interest rate swaps 3,041 � 6.5 4.4 � 2003-2007
Interest rate swaps � 3,220 5.7 2.5 � 2003-2022
Forward starting 99 � 5.6 1.0 2003 2004
Forward starting � 230 5.3 3.0 2003 2006
Euro:
Interest rate swaps 165 � 6.1 0.6 � 2002-2004
Interest rate swaps � 604 4.8 2.2 � 2002-2006
Sterling:
Interest rate swaps 700 � 6.5 1.9 � 2003-2005
In addition to the above swaps, at 30 June 2003, a cross currency interest rate swap also existed with a principal of £160 million,
which effectively converts a euro medium term note (maturing 2003) to US dollars.
     As at 30 June 2002, £325 million of euro interest rate swaps, with a weighted average remaining maturity of 0.5 years, adjusted
the payment dates and basis of their interest calculations on existing euro floating rate debt. At 30 June 2002, cross currency
interest rate swaps also existed which effectively convert a Japanese yen medium term note (maturing 2002) to US dollars
(£26 million) and euro medium term notes (maturing 2002 and 2003). In addition, cross currency interest rate swaps convert
£300 million of sterling investments to US dollars floating rate investments (maturing 2002).
     In addition to the interest rate and cross currency swaps reflected in the tables above for 30 June 2003, the group has
£1,010 million notional principal of US dollar interest rate collars which mature between 1 July 2003 and 1 January 2006 and have
floors of 3.09% � 6.32% and caps of 3.64% � 8.75%.

(iii) Maturity of financial liabilities

2003 2002
Bank
loans Finance

Bank
loans Finance

and Other
leases

and and Other
leases

and
overdrafts borrowings other Total overdrafts borrowings other Total

£
million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

Analysis by year of
repayment:
After five years 76 719 117 912 1 623 164 788
From four to five years 26 1,215 18 1,259 � 3 11 14
From three to four
years 23 3 16 42 � 329 10 339
From two to three years 27 302 17 346 16 595 10 621
From one to two years 26 564 91 681 10 1,800 36 1,846
Due after one year 178 2,803 259 3,240 27 3,350 231 3,608
Due within one year 186 2,893 99 3,178 586 3,101 33 3,720

364 5,696 358 6,418 613 6,451 264 7,328
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Other borrowings are net of interest rate and foreign currency swaps and forward rate agreements.
     The maturity category between one and two years includes an amount of £242 million ($400 million) regarding 7.45%
2005/2035 guaranteed notes. The notes are redeemable at the option of the holder on April 15 2005. If the holders do not redeem
at this time the notes then become due in 2035. It is not currently anticipated that the note holders will redeem the notes in 2005.

The group had available undrawn committed bank facilities as follows:

2003 2002
£ million £ million

Expiring within one year 1,182 1,250
Expiring in more than two years 788 855

1,970 2,105
Commitment fees are paid on the undrawn portion of these facilities. Borrowings under these facilities will be at prevailing LIBOR
rates plus an agreed margin, which is dependent on the period of drawdown. These facilities can be used for general corporate
purposes and together with cash and cash equivalents support the group�s commercial paper programmes.
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18 Financial instruments and risk management continued

There are no financial covenants on the above short and long term borrowings. Certain of these borrowings contain cross default
provisions and negative pledges (and related sale and lease back provisions).
     The committed bank facilities are subject to a single financial covenant being minimum interest cover ratio of two times (defined
as the ratio of operating profit before exceptional items aggregated with share of profits and associates to net interest). They are
also subject to pari passu ranking and negative pledge covenants.
     In addition, as part of the Burger King disposal, Diageo has guaranteed up to $850 million (£515 million) of borrowings of Burger
King. The primary covenants under the guarantee are pari passu ranking negative pledge.
     Any non-compliance with covenants underlying Diageo�s financing arrangements could, if not waived, constitute an event of
default with respect to any such arrangements, and any non compliance with covenants may, in particular circumstances, lead to
an acceleration of maturity on certain notes and the inability to access committed facilities. Diageo was in full compliance with its
financial covenants throughout each of the periods presented.

(iv) Fair values The estimated fair values of borrowings, guaranteed preferred securities, associated derivative financial
instruments and other financial liabilities and assets at 30 June 2003 are set out below. The fair values of quoted borrowings and
guaranteed preferred securities are based on year end mid-market quoted prices. The fair values of other borrowings, derivatives,
financial instruments and other financial liabilities and assets are estimated using appropriate market rates prevailing at the year
end by discounting the future cash flows to the net present values. These are based on rates obtained from third parties.

2003 2002
Net

carrying Estimated
Net

carrying Estimated
amount fair value amount fair value

£
million £ million £ million £ million

Primary financial instruments:
Borrowings due within one year including overdrafts (3,563) (3,680) (3,718) (3,531)
Borrowings due after one year (2,981) (3,294) (3,711) (4,016)
Cash at bank and liquid resources 1,191 1,191 1,596 1,596
Guaranteed preferred securities (343) (370) (371) (421)
Derivatives � interest rate contracts:
Interest rate swaps
� positive values 387 718 390 651
� negative values (14) (211) (40) (165)
Collars (18) (78) (7) (81)
Other interest rate contracts 5 � 8 �
Derivatives � foreign exchange contracts:
Transaction
� positive values � 55 � 52
� negative values � (31) � (31)
Balance sheet translation
� positive values 138 136 97 98
� negative values (16) (17) (66) (66)
Foreign exchange options (profit translation)
� positive values � � � 18
� negative values � � � (7)
Other:
General Mills�options (see below) (63) (70) � �
Other financial liabilities (256) (256) (207) (207)
Other financial assets 325 325 342 372
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On 23 October 2002, Diageo sold call options to General Mills giving General Mills the option to purchase 29 million of General
Mills� shares held by Diageo subject to certain limitations. The call options have a strike price of $51.56 and expire in October 2005.
The estimated fair value of the call options at 30 June 2003 was $116 million (£70 million). The premium of £58 million ($89 million)
received in respect of the options has been deferred and is included in accruals and deferred income in other creditors. The
estimated fair value of the call options was derived using a Black Scholes model using market volatility, share price and interest
rates as at 30 June 2003.
     In connection with the disposal of the packaged food business, Diageo received contingent consideration of £173 million on 1
May 2003. The estimated fair value of the contingent value right at 30 June 2002 was £166 million. The estimated fair value of the
contingent value right was derived by valuing its component options using a Black Scholes model using market volatility, share
price and interest rates as at 30 June 2002.
     The difference between net carrying amount and estimated fair value reflects unrealised gains or losses inherent in the
instruments based on valuations at 30 June 2003. The volatile nature of the markets means that values at any subsequent date
could be significantly different from the values reported above.
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(v) Hedges Gains and losses on instruments used for hedging are not recognised until the exposure that is being hedged is itself
recognised. The table below shows the extent to which the group has unrecognised gains and losses on financial instruments, and
deferred gains and losses in respect of financial instruments and terminated financial instruments used as hedges, at the beginning
and end of the year.

Unrecognised Deferred
Gains Losses Total Gains Losses Total

£
million £ million £ million

£
million £ million £ million

Gains and losses:
On hedges at 30 June 2002 341 (245) 96 7 (17) (10)
Arising in previous years recognised during 2003 185 (199) (14) 2 (3) (1)
On hedges at 30 June 2003 386 (298) 88 8 (13) (5)
Of which gains/(losses) expected to be recognised
in:
� year ending 30 June 2004 217 (182) 35 3 (3) --
� year ending 30 June 2005 or later 169 (116) 53 5 (10) (5)

(vi) Credit risk A large number of major international financial institutions are counterparties to the interest rate swaps, foreign
exchange contracts and deposits transacted by the group. Counterparties for such transactions entered into during the year have a
long term credit rating of A or better. The group monitors its credit exposure to its counterparties, together with their credit ratings,
and, by policy, limits the amount of agreements or contracts it enters into with any one party. The notional amounts of financial
instruments used in interest rate and foreign exchange management do not represent the credit risk arising through the use of
these instruments. The immediate credit risk of these instruments is generally estimated by the fair value of contracts with a
positive value.
     Cash at bank and liquid resources principally comprise money market deposits, commercial paper and investments. The
investments are with counterparties having strong credit ratings. At 30 June 2003, approximately 15% and 49% of the group�s cash
at bank and liquid resources of £1,191 million were invested with United Kingdom and United States based counterparties,
respectively.
     At 30 June 2003, approximately 34% and 20% of the group�s trade debtors of £1,305 million were due from United Kingdom and
United States based counterparties, respectively.

19 Other creditors
2003 2002

Due
within Due after

Due
within Due after

one
year one year one year one year

£
million £ million £ million £ million

Trade creditors 531 � 719 �
Corporate taxation 859 � 663 �
Other taxation including social security 238 � 267 �
Net obligations under finance leases 1 � 6 22
Other creditors 707 14 803 3
Ordinary dividends payable 482 � 458 �
Accruals and deferred income 465 4 729 24

3,283 18 3,645 49
Gross obligation under finance leases due:
Between one and two years � 6
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Between two and three years � 6
Between three and four years � 6
Between four and five years � 5
Thereafter � 47

� 70
Less: Future finance charges � (48)

� 22
Finance leases at 30 June 2002 were principally in respect of Burger King.
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20 Provisions for liabilities and charges
Restructuring

Post and Deferred
employment integration Disposal taxation Other Total

£ million £ million
£

million
£

million
£

million
£

million
At 30 June 2002 127 21 62 298 306 814
Exchange adjustments (2) � (5) 21 (16) (2)
Profit and loss account charge 13 2 21 13 87 136
Acquisitions and disposals (17) (7) (1) 4 (16) (37)
Utilised and other movements (8) (4) (3) 36 (63) (42)
At 30 June 2003 113 12 74 372 298 869

(a) Post employment provisions were £113 million (2002 � £127 million), comprising £59 million post employment benefits in respect
of US medical costs and £54 million in respect of unfunded pension liabilities (2002 � £67 million and £60 million, respectively).
These provisions are mainly actuarially assessed and are long term.

(b) Restructuring and integration provisions were £12 million, comprising £5 million for restructuring the beer production facilities
and £7 million in respect of other restructuring costs. The majority of these provisions will be utilised in the next financial year.

(c) Disposal provisions were £74 million arising from commitments in respect of businesses sold. These provisions will
predominantly be utilised within the next few years.

(d) Deferred taxation was £372 million (see note 21).

(e) Other provisions were £298 million (2002 � £306 million), including £43 million in respect of vacant properties, £119 million for a
discounted value of an onerous contract on the acquisition of the Seagram spirits and wine businesses, £6 million for actuarially
assessed non-insured claims and £55 million for employee incentive plans (2002 � £53 million, £124 million, £26 million and
£35 million, respectively). The onerous contract provision will be utilised over the 10 year duration of the contract. The vacant
property provision is based on the estimated discounted rental shortfall over the terms of the leases; the non-insured claims are
long term and the timing of their utilisation is not known; and the incentive plan provision will be utilised within the next few years.

21 Deferred taxation
2003 2002

£ million £ million
Accelerated depreciation 81 144
Pension prepayments and provisions 142 150
Post employment benefits other than pensions (19) (19)
Restructuring and integration costs (26) (39)
Tax losses (34) (46)
Other timing differences 49 (86)
Net provision 193 104
Comprising:
Deferred tax asset (note 16) (179) (194)
Deferred tax provision (note 20) 372 298

193 104
An analysis of the movement in the provision is as follows:
Provision at beginning of the year 104 92
Exchange adjustments 33 12
Tax charge on exchange in reserves 7 �
Deferred tax charge in profit and loss account for the year (note 9) 20 132
Acquisition of subsidiaries (3) (58)
Disposal of subsidiaries 32 (74)
Provision at end of the year 193 104
The net deferred tax provision can be analysed as follows:
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Current� United Kingdom (74) (105)
� United States and other overseas 127 (168)

Non-current � United Kingdom 177 199
� United States and other overseas (37) 178

193 104
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21 Deferred taxation continued

Deferred tax is not generally provided in respect of liabilities which might arise on the distribution of unappropriated profits of
overseas subsidiaries and associates, except where distributions of such profits are planned.
     Deferred tax assets have been recognised to the extent that it is considered more likely than not that there will be suitable
taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be deducted.
     Included in deferred tax assets are £34 million (2002 � £46 million) in respect of operating losses which are carried forward and
are available to reduce future tax liabilities of certain subsidiaries in a number of foreign jurisdictions. Under US GAAP, the
operating losses comprise a deferred tax asset of £292 million (2002 � £228 million) less a valuation allowance of £258 million (2002
� £182 million). £3 million of these operating losses, net of valuation allowance, have expiration dates through to 2012 and
£31 million can be carried forward indefinitely.

22 Called up share capital

The authorised share capital of the company at 30 June 2003 was 5,329 million ordinary shares of 28 101/108 pence each (2002
and 2001 � 5,329 million) with an aggregate nominal value of £1,542 million (2002 and 2001 � £1,542 million). The allotted and fully
paid share capital was 3,100 million ordinary shares of 28 101/108 pence each with an aggregate nominal value of £897 million
(2002 � 3,215 million shares, aggregate nominal value £930 million; 2001 � 3,411 million shares, aggregate nominal value
£987 million).
     During the year,1 million ordinary shares (nominal value £1 million) were allotted under the share option schemes for a total
consideration of £4 million (2002 � 2 million ordinary shares, nominal value £1 million, consideration £11 million; 2001 � 7 million
ordinary shares, nominal value £2 million, consideration £31 million).
     The company purchased, and subsequently cancelled, 116 million ordinary shares (nominal value £34 million) during the year
for a consideration including expenses of £852 million (2002 � 198 million ordinary shares, nominal value £58 million, consideration
£1,658 million; 2001 � 18 million ordinary shares, nominal value £5 million, consideration £108 million).
     Potential issues of ordinary shares are detailed in note 31(iii).

23 Reserves attributable to equity shareholders
Share Capital Profit

premium Revaluation redemption and loss
account reserve reserve account Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

At 30 June 2000 1,285 138 2,949 (698) 3,674
Retained earnings � � � 456 456
Exchange adjustments � � � 97 97
Tax charge on exchange in reserves � � � (17) (17)
Premiums on share issues, less expenses 29 � � � 29
Repurchase of own shares � � 5 (108) (103)
Transfers � (1) � 1 �
At 30 June 2001 1,314 137 2,954 (269) 4,136
Retained earnings � � � 850 850
Exchange adjustments � (4) � (89) (93)
Premiums on share issues, less expenses 10 � � � 10
Repurchase of own shares � � 58 (1,658) (1,600)
Goodwill on disposals of businesses � � � 1,768 1,768
Transfers � (4) � 4 �
At 30 June 2002 1,324 129 3,012 606 5,071
Retained earnings � � � (710) (710)
Exchange adjustments � (9) � (155) (164)
Tax charge on exchange reserves � � � (7) (7)
Premiums on share issues, less expenses 3 � � � 3
Repurchase of own shares � � 34 (852) (818)
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Goodwill on disposals of businesses � � � 682 682
At 30 June 2003 1,327 120 3,046 (436) 4,057
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23 Reserves attributable to equity shareholders continued

(a) Aggregate goodwill written off against the profit and loss account, net of disposals, is £1,643 million (2002 � £2,381 million; 2001 �
£4,288  million) including £505 million (2002 � £541 million; 2001 � £109 million) in respect of associates of which £400 million relates
to the 21% equity interest in General Mills (see note 14). The exchange adjustments are net of gains of £227 million in respect of
foreign currency net borrowings (2002 � gains of £267 million; 2001 � losses of £229 million).

(b) At 30 June 2003 £982 million (2002 � £818 million; 2001 � £725 million) has been charged against the profit and loss account in
respect of cumulative exchange adjustments.

24 Movements in consolidated shareholders� funds
2003 2002 2001

£ million £ million £ million
Profit for the year 76 1,617 1,207
Dividends (786) (767) (751)

(710) 850 456
Exchange adjustments (164) (93) 97
Tax charge on exchange in reserves (7) � (17)
New share capital issued 4 11 31
Repurchase of own shares (852) (1,658) (108)
Goodwill on disposals of businesses 682 1,768 �
Net movement in shareholders� funds (1,047) 878 459
Shareholders� funds at beginning of the year 6,001 5,123 4,664
Shareholders� funds at end of the year 4,954 6,001 5,123

25 Minority interests � non-equity

Non-equity minority interests comprise £343 million 9.42% cumulative guaranteed preferred securities issued by subsidiaries (2002
� £371 million). The holders of these securities have no rights against group companies other than the issuing entity and, to the
extent prescribed by the guarantee, the company. To the extent that payments due under the guarantee are not made because the
company has insufficient distributable profits, the company has covenanted that it will not make any distribution on any share
capital which ranks junior to these securities.

26 Net cash inflow from operating activities
2003 2002 2001

£ million £ million £ million
Operating profit 1,861 1,653 1,873
Exceptional operating costs 168 453 228
Restructuring and integration payments (185) (148) (144)
Depreciation and amortisation charge 276 314 403
Decrease/(increase) in stocks 6 (145) (30)
Decrease/(increase) in debtors 36 (160) (46)
(Decrease)/increase in creditors and provisions (269) 180 22
Other items 77 (139) (30)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 1,970 2,008 2,276
Discontinued operations contributed £76 million (2002 � £346 million; 2001 � £852 million) to net cash inflow from operating activities.
Other items include a £57 million receipt for the termination of the Bass distribution contract in the United States (2002 � net cash
payment to José Cuervo SA of £80 million) which were, included in operating exceptional items in the consolidated profit and loss
account. Restructuring and integration payments include costs in respect of the spirits, wine, beer and Seagram integrations
charged to exceptional items in the consolidated profit and loss account.
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27 Purchase of subsidiaries
Assets acquired and net cash outflow

2003 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

Brands 17 2,765 50
Goodwill arising on acquisition 6 21 41
Tangible fixed assets 16 248 73
Investments 1 7 (43)
Net borrowings � (6) 10
Working capital 18 681 15
Net assets acquired 58 3,716 146
Minority interests 3 � (33)
Purchase consideration paid 61 3,716 113
Net borrowings acquired � 6 (10)
Adjustment for deferred consideration 76 (130) 33
Net cash outflow 137 3,592 136
On 21 December 2001, Diageo and Pernod Ricard SA (Pernod Ricard) completed the acquisition of the Seagram spirits and wine
businesses from Vivendi for $8.15 billion (£5.62 billion) in cash, subject to certain debt, working capital and other adjustments.
Diageo�s share of the purchase price after adjustments was £3.7 billion.
     In the table above net assets acquired and net cash outflow for the year ended 30 June 2003 included adjustments to the
original fair values ascribed to the acquired Seagram assets and liabilities at 30 June 2002.

28 Sale of subsidiaries and businesses

(i) Disposal of Burger King The group�s quick service restaurants business (Burger King) was sold on 13 December 2002 for
$1.5 billion (£0.9 billion). This sale generated a loss before taxes of £1,457 million, after writing back goodwill previously written off
to reserves of £673 million. Following the disposal, Diageo retains $212 million (£129 million) of subordinated debt, with a 10 year
maturity, from the entity owning Burger King. In addition, Diageo has guaranteed up to $850 million (£515 million) of borrowings of
Burger King (see note 29).
     In the five and a half months ended 13 December 2002 Burger King contributed £479 million to turnover compared with
£1,123 million in the year ended 30 June 2002. Operating profit for the five and a half months ended 13 December 2002 was
£53 million compared with £156 million in the year ended 30 June 2002.

A summary of the net assets disposed of, and the subordinated debt acquired, translated at an exchange rate of £1 = $1.59 is as
follows:

$ million £ million
Brands 1,200 755
Other intangibles 87 55
Tangible fixed assets 1,008 634
Other fixed assets 54 34
Subordinated debt (212) (133)
Working capital 172 108
Cash 24 15
Provisions for liabilities and charges (42) (27)
Loss on sale (2,316) (1,457)
Goodwill written back 1,070 673
Sale consideration received less transaction costs 1,045 657
Cash (24) (15)
Net cash inflow 1,021 642
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28 Sale of subsidiaries and businesses continued

(ii) Disposal of other businesses
2003 2002 2001

£ million £ million £ million
Brands 84 2,427 �
Other intangibles 2 � �
Other fixed assets 8 1,451 28
Investment in associates (55) � �
Investment in General Mills � (1,922) �
Businesses held for resale in respect of Seagram spirits and wine businesses 65 203 �
Working capital and provisions 19 220 39
Cash 4 � 5
Minority interests (9) (6) (13)
Goodwill written back 2 1,748 �
Gain/(loss) on sale 187 821 (23)
Sale consideration received less transaction costs 307 4,942 36
Net borrowings � 164 �
Cash (4) � (5)
Deferred consideration (33) (6) �
Net cash inflow 270 5,100 31
The sale consideration received in the year ended 30 June 2003 includes the proceeds from the contingent value rights
representing the additional consideration received in respect of the disposal of Pillsbury. The sale consideration received in the
year ended 30 June 2002 includes the net proceeds in respect of the sales of Pillsbury, the Malibu brand, Glen Ellen wines, the
Croft and Delaforce port and sherry brands and Guinness World Records Limited.

(iii) General Mills�options On 23 October 2002, Diageo sold call options to General Mills at a strike price of $51.56 which expire in
October 2005. These give General Mills the option to purchase 29 million of its own shares held by Diageo, subject to certain
limitations. The premium of £58 million ($89 million) received has been included in sale of options in relation to associates in the
consolidated cash flow statements, and has been deferred and included in accruals and deferred income in other creditors.

29 Contingent liabilities

(i) Guarantees Diageo has guaranteed up to $850 million (£515 million) of external borrowings of Burger King. These loans have a
term of five years from December 2002 although Diageo and Burger King have structured their arrangements to encourage
refinancing by Burger King on a non-guaranteed basis prior to the end of five years. Also at 30 June 2003, in connection with the
disposal of Pillsbury, Diageo has guaranteed the debt of a third party to the amount of $200 million (£121 million) until 13
November 2009.

Including the guarantees above, but net of the amount provided in the financial statements, the group has given performance
guarantees and indemnities to third parties of £659 million.

(ii) Colombian excise duties In August 2000, Diageo learned that the Governors of the Departments of the Republic of Colombia
and the City of Bogotá (the Departments) were considering initiating legal proceedings against major spirits companies in relation
to unpaid excise duties and taxes on products that are smuggled into Colombia by third parties. Such proceedings are likely to be
similar to the following actions which were brought by foreign countries against a number of major tobacco companies: (1) the
action brought by the Attorney General of Canada against RJ Reynolds (the Canada action) in December 1999; (2) the action
brought by the European Union, its member states and the Departments of Colombia against Philip Morris and British American
Tobacco (the EU action) on 19 May 2000; (3) the action brought by Ecuador, Belize and Honduras against Philip Morris, RJ
Reynolds and British American Tobacco and various other tobacco companies (the Ecuador action) on 20 December 2001; and
(4) the action brought by the European Union and its member states against RJ Reynolds (the Second EU action) on 30
October 2002.
     In the Canada action, the complaint was dismissed on 30 June 2000. On 12 October 2001, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals
affirmed the District Court�s order of dismissal. The Attorney General of Canada filed a petition for writ of certiorari to the U.S.

Edgar Filing: DIAGEO PLC - Form 20-F/A

Table of Contents 144



Supreme Court on 7 March 2002. The US Supreme Court subsequently denied Canada�s petition for certiorari.
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29 Contingent liabilities continued

The EU Action was dismissed by the trial court on 19 February 2002. On 25 March 2002, the EU and the Departments of Colombia
appealed the court�s dismissal. The Second Circuit has heard oral argument on the appeal, but has not yet rendered a decision.
The trial court dismissed the Ecuador action on 26 February 2002. On 26 March 2002, Belize, Honduras and Ecuador appealed
this decision to the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. On 14 August 2003 the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the trial
court�s order of dismissal.
     Finally, the Second EU action, which alleges that the RJ Reynolds entities violated the Federal RICO statute by distributing
products through distributors and others with alleged links to smuggling and money laundering, has been stayed pending a
decision by the Second Circuit in the EU action.
     The directors intend that any proceedings of this kind that might be brought against Diageo will be strenuously defended. In
December 2000, Diageo filed suits against the Departments challenging the legality of any claim outside the Colombian
administration and judicial system and also challenging the legality of the discriminatory nature of the Colombian taxing system;
several of these suits are pending.

(iii) Hakki v. Adolph Coors Company et al. Diageo learned on 20 November 2003 that a purported class action lawsuit, Hakki v.
Adolph Coors Company et al., was commenced against a number of alcohol beverage companies on 14 November 2003, including
Diageo, in the Superior Court of Washington, D.C. Diageo has not been served with a lawsuit. The complaint asserts claims under
the District of Columbia Consumer Protection Procedures Act (DCCPPA) and the common law of the District of Columbia that the
defendants specifically targeted the US advertising and marketing of certain of their products to individuals below the 21 year-old
legal purchase age. The complaint alleges that �at least 15-20% of all alcoholic beverages sold in the United States are consumed
by underage drinkers�. The complaint further alleges that profits earned by the defendants from the alleged illegal sales to
underaged drinkers �greatly exceed $1 billion per year�.
     The lawsuit seeks certification as a class action on behalf of (a) parents and guardians whose funds were used by their children
under 21 from 1982 to the present without their knowledge to purchase alcohol beverages marketed by the defendants, on whose
behalf monetary recovery is sought and (b) the parents and guardians of all children under 21, on whose behalf the complaint
requests that the Court enter an injunction prohibiting the defendants from marketing alcohol beverages to underage persons.
     The prayer for relief in the complaint seeks, among other matters, (i) that defendants each disgorge to the purported class all
amounts by which they have been allegedly unjustly enriched, plus costs and interest; (ii) rescission of the alleged transactions
whereby defendants allegedly obtained revenues from the illegal sale of alcoholic beverages to underage consumers and ordered
to pay such monies to the purported class; and (iii) to assess all defendants jointly and severally for all alleged actual damages
sustained by the purported plaintiff class plus treble damages or $1,500 per violation, whichever is greater, punitive damages,
attorneys fees, costs of suit, and interest.
      Diageo intends to strenuously defend this purported action.

(iv) Other The group has extensive international operations and is a defendant in a number of legal proceedings incidental to these
operations. There are a number of legal claims or potential claims against the group, the outcome of which cannot at present be
foreseen.
     Save as disclosed above, neither Diageo nor any member of the Diageo group is or has been engaged in, nor (so far as Diageo
is aware) is there pending or threatened by or against it, any legal or arbitration proceedings which may have a significant effect on
the financial position of the Diageo group. Provision is made in these financial statements for all liabilities that are probable and
reliably measurable.

There has been no material change since 30 June 2003 in the group�s performance guarantees and indemnities.

30 Commitments

Capital expenditure Commitments not provided for in these financial statements are estimated at £62 million (2002 � £43 million).
2003 2002

Land
and

Land
and
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buildings Other Total buildings Other Total

Annual operating lease commitments:
£

million
£

million
£

million
£

million
£

million £ million
Annual minimum payments under operating leases expiring:
After five years 28 � 28 79 2 81
From one to five years 18 3 21 45 3 48
Within one year 5 3 8 8 1 9
Payments � due within one year 51 6 57 132 6 138

� one to two years 47 119
� two to three years 37 111
� three to four years 34 97
� four to five years 32 88

Thereafter � due after five years 209 564
416 1,117

31 Employee share option schemes

Option holdings in the tables within this note are stated as ordinary share equivalents in pence. Options prices are translated at the
following exchange rates: grants at actual exchange rates; exercises and cancellations at average exchange rates and closing
balances at year end exchange rates.

(i) Executive schemes

(a) Diageo executive share option plan (DSOP) This scheme was introduced in December 1999 and grants options to executives
at the market price on the date of grant. Options issued under this scheme may normally be exercised between three and 10 years
after the date granted. There are no performance conditions to be satisfied although some senior executives have a shareholding
requirement. The US executives are granted options over the company�s ADSs (one ADS is equivalent to four ordinary shares).

(b) Diageo senior executive share option plan (SESOP) This scheme was introduced with effect from 1 January 2000 and
grants options to senior executives at market price at date of grant. Options granted under the scheme may not normally be
exercised unless a performance condition is satisfied. The performance condition applicable is linked to the increase in UK GAAP
basic earnings per share before goodwill amortisation and exceptional items and is initially applied over a three year period. If the
performance condition is satisfied, after this period, options can be exercised up to 10 years after the date of grant. The US
executives are granted options over the company�s ADSs.

(c) Diageo associated companies share option plan (DACSOP) This scheme was introduced in March 2001 and grants options
to executives in a number of associated companies. The terms of the scheme are the same as for the DSOP plan.

(d) UK executive share option schemes (ESOS) The group operates executive share option schemes and a supplemental
scheme for senior executives. ESOS incorporates the former GrandMet scheme, the former Guinness PLC executive share option
schemes and the Guinness PLC 1994 employee incentive trust.
     Options were granted at the market price on the date of the grant and there are no performance criteria. Options issued under
these schemes may normally be exercised between three and 10 years after the date granted. The last options granted under
ESOS were in 1997.
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31 Employee share option schemes continued

(i) Executive schemes continued

(e) US share option plan (USSOP) This is a long term incentive plan under which options to purchase the company�s ADSs were
granted to senior US executives. Under the plan, senior executives were granted an option to purchase ADSs at the higher of the
nominal value of the ADSs and the market price of the ADSs at the time the option was granted. There are no performance criteria
to be met before the options can be exercised. Options granted prior to 1 January 1994 may normally only be exercised between
three and seven years after their grant. The last options granted under USSOP were in 1997.

(f) Senior executive phantom share option scheme (SEPSOS) This is a share price related bonus scheme. It allows a small
number of senior executives to benefit over the period between the sixth and tenth year from grant, from movements in the price of
Diageo ordinary shares. In normal circumstances, no payments can be made under SEPSOS before the fifth anniversary of the
date of grant. Once exercised, payments (which can also be taken in the form of Diageo ordinary shares) are then spread with
interest added over the period from exercise to the tenth anniversary of the date of grant. The scheme also contains significant
forfeiture provisions. The last grant under this scheme was in 1996 and all payments will have been made within 10 years from the
date of grant.

(ii) Savings plans

(a) UK savings-related share option scheme (SRSOS) The UK savings-related share option scheme is an Inland Revenue
approved scheme available to all UK employees. The scheme provides a long term savings opportunity for employees. The options
may normally be exercised after three or five years, according to the length of the option period chosen by the employee, at a price
not less than 80% of the market value of the shares at the time of the option grant.

(b) US employee stock purchase plan (USESPP) This scheme provides a long term savings and investment opportunity for US
employees. The options may normally be exercised 12 months after the grant of the option at a price equivalent to 85% of the
market value of the ADSs at the time of the grant.

(c) International savings-related share option plan (International) The group also operates an international savings-related
share option plan. The scheme provides a long term savings opportunity for employees outside the United Kingdom. The options
may be exercised between one and five years after grant. The scheme has discount criteria ranging from nil to 20% devised in
accordance with local conditions and practices.

(iii) Outstanding options Options over ordinary shares and over ADSs (US schemes only) outstanding at 30 June 2003 were as
follows:

Options outstanding Options exercisable
Weighted
average Weighted Weighted

Range of remaining average average
exercise contractual exercise exercise

Executive schemes

prices Number at life price Number at price

pence 30 June 2003 months pence
30 June

2003 pence
Fixed schemes:
DSOP, ESOS, USSOP and DACSOP 300�399 238,175 15 387 238,175 387

400�499 3,323,561 34 454 3,323,561 454
500�599 9,080,285 86 547 4,396,122 516
600�699 7,826,502 95 641 � �
700�799 8,455,176 111 741 � �
800�899 246,779 104 863 � �

29,170,478 7,957,858
Variable schemes:
SEPSOS and SESOP 300�399 16,558 18 382 16,558 382
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400�499 42,884 23 464 42,884 464
500�599 4,511,173 84 542 1,328,620 516
600�699 2,743,759 98 662 � �
700�799 2,637,765 112 740 � �

9,952,139 1,388,062
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31 Employee share option schemes continued

(iii) Outstanding options continued
Options outstanding Options exercisable

Weighted
average Weighted Weighted

Range of remaining average average
exercise contractual exercise exercise

prices Number at life price
Number

at price

pence 30 June 2003 months pence
30 June

2003 pence
Savings plans:
SRSOS, USESPP and International 200�299 15,276 24 218 � �

300�399 80,807 5 353 50,639 354
400�499 2,347,484 17 466 22,398 462
500�599 4,616,521 26 525 92,803 540
600�699 2,976,039 37 621 � �
700�799 49,369 27 763 � �

10,085,496 165,840

(a) Under the executive share option schemes, directors and executives hold options to subscribe for up to 3 million (2002 �
3 million; 2001 � 6 million) ordinary shares at prices ranging between 391 pence and 863 pence per share, exercisable by 2013.

(b) Under the savings-related share option schemes for employees, employees hold options to subscribe for up to 1 million (2002 �
1 million; 2001 � 1 million) ordinary shares at prices ranging between 213 pence and 778 pence per share, exercisable by 2006.

(iv) Transactions on schemes

(a) Executive schemes: Transactions on ESOS, USSOP, DSOP, DACSOP, SEPSOS and SESOP for options and phantom
shares over ordinary shares and ADSs for the three years ended 30 June 2003 were as follows:

ESOS, USSOP, DSOP,
DACSOP SEPSOS, SESOP*
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average
exercise phantom exercise

Number of price shares and price
options pence options pence

Balance outstanding at 30 June 2000 32,492,123 484 6,649,339 507
Granted 8,957,049 640 3,887,245 591
Exercised (11,259,658) 471 (1,425,811) 476
Cancelled (1,870,249) 551 (692,846) 570
Balance outstanding at 30 June 2001 28,319,265 563 8,417,927 577
Granted 10,247,012 686 2,695,115 692
Exercised (8,528,525) 538 (2,253,049) 571
Cancelled (1,079,055) 588 � �
Balance outstanding at 30 June 2002 28,958,697 592 8,859,993 594
Granted 8,669,356 750 2,783,959 756
Exercised (6,451,062) 559 (1,522,799) 526
Cancelled (2,006,513) 652 (169,014) 722
Balance outstanding at 30 June 2003 29,170,478 619 9,952,139 627
Number of options exercisable at:
30 June 2003 7,957,858 1,388,062
30 June 2002 4,219,507 59,442
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30 June 2001 7,090,478 232,443
*SEPSOS are movements in phantom shares and SESOP are movements in options over shares.
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(b) Savings plans: Transactions on SRSOS, USESPP and International schemes for options over ordinary shares and ADSs for
the three years ended 30 June 2003 were as follows:

Weighted
average
exercise

Number of price
options pence

Balance outstanding at 30 June 2000 15,232,118 439
Granted 3,273,333 504
Exercised (4,153,354) 435
Cancelled (2,199,300) 447
Balance outstanding at 30 June 2001 12,152,797 456
Granted 3,351,163 540
Exercised (3,800,177) 417
Cancelled (857,440) 479
Balance outstanding at 30 June 2002 10,846,343 497
Granted 3,291,920 607
Exercised (3,275,691) 486
Cancelled (777,076) 505
Balance outstanding at 30 June 2003 10,085,496 539
Number of options exercisable at:
30 June 2003 165,840
30 June 2002 171,120
30 June 2001 53,547

(v) Share awards to executives Prior to 17 December 1997, awards over shares were granted to senior executives under the
Guinness Group 1991 employee incentive trust (EIT), with eventual transfer dependent on the performance of the company�s
annualised total shareholder return against a comparator group of companies at the end of a minimum of three years after the date
of grant. This plan was replaced by the Total Shareholder Return plan (TSR plan).
     The TSR plan benefited senior executives who were granted a conditional right to receive shares or ADSs or a cash sum if US
participants. The right vests after the end of a three year period following the date of grant (the performance cycle), provided a
performance test is achieved. The performance test is a comparison of the annualised total shareholder return with the total
shareholder returns of a defined peer group of 18 companies over a three year period. The remuneration committee will not
recommend the release of awards if there has not been an underlying improvement in the financial performance of the group.
     The Diageo Share Incentive Plan (DSIP) first awards were in the year ended 30 June 2000 to a small number of senior
executives. The scheme involves awards of shares or ADSs over a three to five year period with performance criteria varying by
employee. Awards under EIT, TSR and DSIP were at nil award price.

Transactions on the EIT, TSR and DSIP for awards of ordinary shares and ADSs for the three years ended 30 June 2003 were as
follows:

Number of
awards of
ordinary
shares*

Balance outstanding at 30 June 2000 19,596,218
Granted under DSIP and TSR 1,454,042
Awarded (5,566,990)
Cancelled (5,754,227)
Balance outstanding at 30 June 2001 9,729,043
Granted under DSIP and TSR 1,087,650
Awarded (3,457,064)

Edgar Filing: DIAGEO PLC - Form 20-F/A

Table of Contents 152



Cancelled (3,458,924)
Balance outstanding at 30 June 2002 3,900,705
Granted under DSIP and TSR 1,086,854
Awarded (1,355,209)
Cancelled (187,238)
Balance outstanding at 30 June 2003 3,445,112
No awards were exercisable at 30 June 2001, 2002 or 2003.

*Award holdings over ADSs are stated as ordinary share equivalents.
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(vi) Employee share trusts The group funds trusts to acquire shares in the company to hedge its obligations under the EIT, TSR,
DSOP, SESOP, DSIP, former GrandMet and Guinness SRSOS, USESPP and its Irish executive schemes savings plans. Under
UK GAAP, the shares held are accounted for as investments. Call options are used to manage the group�s obligations in respect of
the supplemental executive share option scheme, USSOP, SEPSOS and Diageo SRSOS, USESPP and Irish executive schemes
savings plans. The trusts purchase options from a third party equivalent to the outstanding options granted to executives. The
premium for these third party options is deferred and included in debtors. The company has an obligation to fund the payment of
deferred premium as it falls due. Dividends receivable by the employee share trusts on the shares are waived. The group has taken
advantage of the exemption in UITF 17 from charging the discount on Inland Revenue approved SAYE schemes to the profit and
loss account.

32 Reconciliation to US generally accepted accounting principles

Diageo plc is a public limited company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales and the group�s financial statements are
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) applicable in the United Kingdom. UK GAAP differs
in certain significant respects from US GAAP. The differences in respect of net income and shareholders� equity are set out below

Certain US GAAP financial information for the year ended 30 June 2003 has been restated. See �Amendment to the US GAAP
financial information� below.

Effect on net income of differences between UK and US GAAP:
2003

(restated) 2002 2001
Notes £ million £ million £ million

Net income in accordance with UK GAAP 76 1,617 1,207
Adjustments to conform with US GAAP:
Brands (a) � � (230)
Goodwill and other intangibles (a) (7) (2) (212)
Inventories (b) (46) (58) (74)
Restructuring and integration costs (c) 16 82 �
Pensions and other post employment benefits (d) 37 19 28
Derivative instruments in respect of General Mills shares (e) (4) 166 �
Other derivative instruments (f) (189) (100) (17)
Burger King impairment charges and transaction costs (g) 707 (135) �
Disposals of businesses (g) (171) 1,022 �
Employee share trust arrangements (i) 25 (6) (24)
Other items 5 23 (46)
Deferred taxation
� on above adjustments (k) 50 (49) 32
� other (k) (65) (25) 94
Net income in accordance with US GAAP 434 2,554 758
Earnings per ordinary share in accordance with US GAAP (l)
Basic earnings per ordinary share 13.9p 77.0p 22.4p
Diluted earnings per ordinary share 13.9p 77.0p 22.4p
Basic earnings per ADS 55.6p 308.0p 89.6p
Diluted earnings per ADS 55.6p 308.0p 89.6p
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Cumulative effect on shareholders' equity of differences between UK and US GAAP:
30 June 30 June

2003
(restated) 2002

Notes £ million £ million
Shareholders� equity in accordance with UK GAAP 4,954 6,001
Adjustments to conform with US GAAP:
Brands (a) 3,038 2,780
Goodwill (a) 3,627 4,082
Other intangibles (a) 40 114
Inventories (b) 178 224
Pensions and other post employment benefits (d) (1,250) (524)
Derivative instruments in respect of General Mills shares (e) (7) 166
Other derivative instruments (f) (104) (127)
Investment in General Mills (g) 192 213
Disposals of businesses (g) (83) (90)
Revaluation of land and buildings (h) (35) (36)
Employee share trust arrangements (i) (259) (219)
Ordinary dividends (j) 482 458
Other differences in accounting principles 2 (38)
Deferred taxation
� on above adjustments (k) 82 52
� other (k) (1,513) (1,740)
Shareholders� equity in accordance with US GAAP 9,344 11,316
A description of accounting differences between UK and US GAAP that are material to the group are set out below.

(a) Brands, goodwill and other intangibles Significant owned brands acquired by the group are recorded on the balance sheet.
Under UK GAAP, the group has written off other intangible assets acquired up to 30 June 1998 direct to reserves in the period
acquired. All intangible assets acquired from 1 July 1998 have been capitalised in the balance sheet. Where capitalised goodwill
and intangible assets are regarded as having limited useful economic lives, their cost is amortised on a straight line basis over
those lives � up to 20 years. Where intangible assets are regarded as having indefinite useful economic lives, they are not amortised
but are subject to annual impairment reviews. Under US GAAP, up to 30 June 2001, intangible assets have been capitalised in the
balance sheet and amortised through the statement of income over their useful economic lives, not exceeding 40 years. On 1
July 2001, the group adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 142 � Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. The standard requires that
intangible assets arising on acquisitions with definite useful lives, are amortised to their estimable residual values over their
estimated useful lives. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually in lieu of being amortised.
Goodwill arising on a combination of businesses is tested for impairment annually in lieu of amortisation.

(b) Accounting for the merger of the former GrandMet Group and the former Guinness Group For UK GAAP, the merger of
the GrandMet Group and the Guinness Group was accounted for under merger accounting principles (pooling of interests) where
the results, cash flows and balance sheets of both entities, having made adjustments to achieve uniformity of accounting policies,
were aggregated with no adjustment to fair value. Under US GAAP, the merger was accounted for as an acquisition of the
Guinness Group by GrandMet with an effective acquisition date of 31 December 1997. Consequently the Guinness Group assets
and liabilities were recorded at fair values on 31 December 1997. Under US GAAP, the excess of the consideration over the fair
value of the net assets has been allocated firstly to identifiable intangible assets based on their fair values with the remainder
allocated to goodwill. Fair value adjustments to the recorded amounts of inventories, net of deferred tax, are expensed in the period
in which the inventory is utilised.

(c) Restructuring and integration costs On the acquisition of a business, certain costs of reorganising the acquired business are
required to be taken to the profit and loss account under UK GAAP, but are treated as fair value adjustments to goodwill under US
GAAP.
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(d) Pensions and other post employment benefits There are differences in the methods of valuation required under UK and US
GAAP for valuing assets and liabilities of defined benefit pension plans. US GAAP is generally more prescriptive in respect of
actuarial assumptions and the allocation of costs to accounting periods. In addition, under US GAAP, a minimum pension liability is
recognised, as a component of other comprehensive income, in certain circumstances when there is a deficit of plan assets relative
to the accumulated benefit obligations.

(e) Derivative instruments in respect of General Mills shares Under UK GAAP, the contingent value right received in
connection with the disposal of Pillsbury was treated as a contingent asset and was therefore not recognised until its receipt
became virtually certain. As a consequence it was accounted for in the consolidated profit and loss account in the year ended 30
June 2003. Also, under UK GAAP, the premium received from the sale of options to General Mills over 29 million ordinary shares of
Diageo�s holding in that company has been deferred in the balance sheet pending exercise or lapse of the options. Under US
GAAP, the contingent value right and the option premium represent derivatives and were accordingly held at their estimated fair
values at the balance sheet dates with changes in fair value included in the statement of income.
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(f) Other derivative instruments The group uses derivative financial instruments for risk management purposes. Under UK
GAAP, changes in the fair value of interest rate derivatives, derivatives hedging forecast transactions and currency option cylinders
are not recognised until realised. Changes in the fair value of derivatives hedging the translation of net assets of overseas
operations are taken to the statement of total recognised gains and losses. Under US GAAP, all derivatives are carried at fair value
at the balance sheet date. Certain of the group�s derivatives qualify for and are designated as hedges under US GAAP, which
defers the effect on net income from gains and losses arising from changes in their fair values. Gains and losses arising from
changes in the fair value of derivatives which do not qualify for US GAAP hedge accounting treatment are charged or credited in
determining net income under US GAAP.

(g) Disposals of businesses Applying the accounting differences between UK and US GAAP can result in changes to the carrying
values of assets and liabilities under UK and US GAAP. As a consequence of these different carrying values, including related tax
balances, different gains or losses may arise on the subsequent disposal of the assets. In addition, the timing of the recognition of a
loss on a disposal may be different under UK and US GAAP.
     On 31 October 2001, the group disposed of Pillsbury and acquired an equity investment in General Mills, Inc. The gain on this
disposal under US GAAP is higher than that recorded under UK GAAP, because of such differences in carrying value, particularly
in respect of intangible assets and deferred tax. The investment in General Mills under US GAAP is also greater than under UK
GAAP. In connection with the disposal of Pillsbury in the year ended 30 June 2002, Diageo has guaranteed the debt of a third party
up to the amount of $200 million (£121 million). Under UK GAAP, Diageo has provided for the amounts which it could have paid to
settle the potential liability or transfer it to a third party as a cost of the transaction. Under US GAAP, rather than providing for the
fair value as under UK GAAP, Diageo has deferred that element of the gain on disposal of Pillsbury equivalent to the amount
guaranteed. The excess of the gain deferred for US GAAP over the amount provided under UK GAAP, has been charged in
determining US GAAP net income for the year ended 30 June 2002 with a corresponding effect on shareholders� equity in
accordance with US GAAP.
     Under UK GAAP, the sale of Burger King has been accounted for as a disposal and the results prior to the disposal date are
presented within discontinued operations. Under US GAAP, the transaction is not accounted for as a disposal due to the size of the
investment made by the buyer and Diageo�s continuing involvement through the guarantee provided by Diageo in respect of the
acquisition finance. Under US GAAP, the results of Burger King prior to 13 December 2002 (the completion date) have been
presented within continuing operations in the income statement, and on the completion of the transaction, a charge for impairment
was recognised rather than a loss on disposal. For the year ended 30 June 2003 an impairment charge of £750 million (2002 � £135
million) against the group�s quick service restaurants business has been included in US GAAP net income. Following the
completion date, Diageo does not recognise profits of Burger King in its income statement but, generally, reflects losses of Burger
King as an impairment charge against the assets retained on the balance sheet. In the US GAAP balance sheet, Diageo includes
the total assets and total liabilities of Burger King (including consideration deferred under US GAAP) within �other long term assets�
and �other long term liabilities� which at 30 June 2003 were each £1.3 billion. Under US GAAP, the transaction will be accounted for
as a disposal when the uncertainties related to the guarantee provided in respect of the acquisition finance have been substantially
resolved and/or the buyer�s cumulative investment meets or exceeds minimum levels.

(h) Revaluation of land and buildings UK GAAP allows the periodic revaluation of land and buildings. Professional valuations of
certain of the group�s properties were carried out in 1988 which, under US GAAP, have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

(i) Employee share trust arrangements Employee share trusts have been established in order to hedge obligations in respect of
options issued under certain employee share option schemes. Under UK GAAP, the company�s ordinary shares held by the
employee share trusts are included at cost in fixed asset investments and are written down, over the period until the option vests, to
the amount of the option price payable by employees upon exercise. Under US GAAP, such shares are treated as treasury shares
and are deducted from shareholders� equity at cost. Under US GAAP, compensation cost for fixed awards (ie awards under which
both the exercise price and the number of shares is fixed) is determined at the date of grant, based on the difference between the
fair value of the shares subject to the award and the exercise price. Compensation cost so determined is allocated to expense over
the vesting period. Compensation cost for variable awards (including awards subject to future performance conditions) is measured
as the difference between the market price at the period end and the exercise price and is based on the number of awards
expected to vest.
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(j) Ordinary dividends Under UK GAAP, the proposed dividends on ordinary shares, as recommended by the directors, are
deducted from shareholders� equity and shown as a liability in the balance sheet at the end of the period to which they relate. Under
US GAAP, such dividends are only deducted from shareholders� equity at the date of declaration of the dividend.

(k) Deferred taxation UK GAAP requires that no provision for deferred tax should be made on the acquisition of a business where
an asset acquired has no tax basis. US GAAP requires a deferred tax liability to be set up on all assets separately identified, apart
from goodwill. Other minor differences are related to rolled over gains on the disposal of fixed assets.

(l) Earnings per ordinary share Under UK GAAP and US GAAP, the calculation of earnings per ordinary share is generally
consistent and is based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Earnings per American
Depositary Share are calculated on the basis of one American Depositary Share representing four ordinary shares.

(m) Discontinued operations UK and US GAAP have different criteria for determining whether a business is a discontinued
operation. Under UK GAAP, the turnover and operating profit of a discontinued operation is disclosed separately in the profit and
loss account but as part of turnover and operating profit. Under US GAAP, sales and net income arising from discontinued
operations are disclosed separately from net income from continuing operations. Pillsbury and Burger King have been treated as
discontinued operations under UK GAAP but included within continuing operations under US GAAP.
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(n) Turnover UK GAAP turnover (sales in US terminology) for the year ended 30 June 2003 was £287 million (2002 � £522 million;
2001 � £953 million) higher than turnover under US GAAP, as (i) following the adoption of EITF 01�09, £74 million (2002 � £306 million
of which £217 million was in respect of Pillsbury; 2001 � £714 million of which £619 million was in respect of Pillsbury) of marketing
expenditure has been reclassified from selling, general and administrative expenses to a reduction in sales under US GAAP, and
(ii) the accounting treatment of joint arrangements (between the group and LVMH) is different. Under UK GAAP, the group includes
in turnover its attributable share of turnover of joint arrangements, measured according to the terms of the arrangement and sales
to joint arrangements by Diageo companies are eliminated on consolidation. Under US GAAP, joint arrangements are accounted
for under the equity method of accounting and the group�s share of sales of the joint arrangements is not included as part of group
sales. Sales to joint arrangements by Diageo companies are accounted for as part of turnover.

Amendment to the US GAAP financial information

Certain US GAAP financial information contained in the annual report filed on Form 20-F on 26 November 2003 has been amended
to adjust Diageo's US GAAP treatment for deferred tax associated with minimum pension liabilities as of and for the year ended
30 June 2003.

The amendment results in a deferred tax charge of £53 million being reclassified from other comprehensive deficit to net income
and a reversal of deferred tax of £118 million previously charged to other comprehensive deficit. The overall effect is therefore a
reduction of £53 million in net income, a reduction in the comprehensive deficit of £118 million and an increase in shareholders�
equity of £118 million. The amendment does not affect operating income or cash flow under US GAAP nor does it affect Diageo�s
principal financial information prepared under UK GAAP.

Certain restated figures for the year ended 30 June 2003 are as follows:
Originally
reported Adjustment Restated
£ million £ million £ million

US GAAP net income 487 (53) 434
US GAAP comprehensive deficit (413) 118 (295)
US GAAP shareholders� equity 9,226 118 9,344

pence pence pence
US GAAP basic earnings per share 15.6 (1.7) 13.9
US GAAP diluted earnings per share 15.6 (1.7) 13.9
US GAAP basic earnings per ADS 62.4 (6.8) 55.6
US GAAP diluted earnings per ADS 62.4 (6.8) 55.6

US GAAP statements of income
Statements of income under US GAAP for the three years ended 30 June 2003 are set out below:

2003
(restated) 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

Sales 9,153 10,760 11,868
Cost of sales (5,062) (6,261) (7,194)
Gross profit 4,091 4,499 4,674
Selling, general and administrative expenses (2,235) (2,433) (2,778)
Amortisation of brands and goodwill � � (435)
Integration and restructuring costs (202) (130) (169)
Bass distribution rights 57 � �
José Cuervo settlement � (194) �
Derivative instruments in respect of General Mills shares (4) 166 �
Burger King impairment charges and transaction costs (750) (135) �
(Losses)/gains on disposal of fixed assets* (40) (22) 19
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Gains/(losses) on disposals of businesses* 16 1,843 (8)
Other operating income 22 36 43
Operating income* 955 3,630 1,346
Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates (net of income taxes) 254 152 111
Interest expense (609) (950) (461)
Interest income 286 418 128
Income before income taxes 886 3,250 1,124
Income taxes (360) (609) (286)
Minority interest charges (92) (87) (80)
Net income 434 2,554 758
Sales and cost of sales include £779 million (2002 � £692 million; 2001 � £536 million) of excise duties charged as a tax on sales,
and cost of sales also includes £1,387 million (2002 � £1,427 million; 2001 � £1,322 million) of excise duties charged as production
taxes.

*In prior years, gains and losses on disposals of fixed assets and businesses have been presented as non-operating items. The
comparative figures included above have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation of these items as
components of operating income.

Research and development expenditure was written off to selling, general and administrative expenses in the period in which it was
incurred.
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Movements on US GAAP shareholders' equity
2003

(restated) 2002
£ million £ million

Shareholders� equity in accordance with US GAAP at beginning of the year 11,316 11,880
Net income 434 2,554
Minimum pension liabilities (770) (569)
Deferred tax on minimum pension liabilities 34 171
Dividends (762) (762)
New share capital issued 4 11
Repurchase of own shares for cancellation (852) (1,658)
Net change in employee share trust arrangements (67) (45)
Exchange adjustments 7 (266)
Shareholders� equity in accordance with US GAAP at end of the year 9,344 11,316
Under US GAAP, cumulative exchange adjustments charged against retained surplus are separately identified. This does not result
in any difference in total shareholders� equity between UK and US GAAP.

US GAAP balance sheet
A summary consolidated balance sheet under US GAAP at 30 June 2003 is set out below.

2003
(restated) 2002
£ million £ million

Total current assets 5,677 6,528
Property plant and equipment 1,935 2,505
Brands 7,280 8,118
Goodwill 3,273 3,823
Other intangible assets 85 152
Other long term assets 5,821 5,027
Total assets 24,071 26,153
Short term borrowings 3,574 3,701
Other current liabilities 3,134 3,582
Long term borrowings 3,149 3,870
Other long term liabilities 4,341 3,129
Minority interests 529 555
Shareholders� equity 9,344 11,316
Total liabilities and shareholders� equity 24,071 26,153

US GAAP cash flows The group�s financial statements include a consolidated statement of cash flows in accordance with the UK
Financial Reporting Standard No. 1 (FRS 1 Revised).
     The objective and principles of FRS 1 (Revised) are similar to those set out in the US accounting standard SFAS No. 95,
Statement of Cash Flows. The principal difference between the standards is in respect of classification. Under FRS 1 (Revised), the
group presents its cash flows separately for operating activities, returns on investments and servicing of finance, taxation, capital
expenditure and financial investment, acquisitions and disposals, equity dividends paid, management of liquid resources and
financing. SFAS No. 95 requires only three categories of cash flow activity being operating, investing and financing.
     Cash flows arising from taxation and returns on investments and servicing of finance under FRS 1 (Revised) would be included
as operating activities. Under SFAS No. 95, capital expenditure and financial investment would be included as an investing activity,
and equity dividends paid would be classified as a financing activity.
     In addition, �cash� for the purposes of the cash flow statement under FRS 1 (Revised), includes bank overdrafts but excludes
liquid resources (current asset investments held as readily available disposable stores of value). Under US GAAP, bank overdrafts
are classified as borrowings and the movements thereon are included in financing activities. Liquid resources, with a maturity of
three months or less at the date acquired, are considered to be cash equivalents and the movements thereon are included in the
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overall cash movement under US GAAP.
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A summarised consolidated cash flow statement under US GAAP is as follows:
2003 2002 2001

£ million £ million £ million
Cash inflow from operating activities 1,570 1,380 1,679
Cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities 747 1,021 (1,032)
Cash outflow from financing activities (2,375) (2,571) (417)
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (58) (170) 230
Exchange adjustments (31) (48) 28
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year under US GAAP 788 1,006 748
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year under US GAAP 699 788 1,006
Short term investments with original maturities of more than three months 492 808 836
Cash at bank and liquid resources at end of the year under UK GAAP 1,191 1,596 1,842

Statement of comprehensive (deficit)/income under US GAAP
Under UK GAAP the group presents a consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses which is similar to a statement
of comprehensive income required by US GAAP. Comprehensive income, under US GAAP, for the three years ended 30 June
2003 is as follows:

2003
(restated) 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

Net income 434 2,554 758
Exchange adjustments 7 (266) 140
Minimum pension liabilities (770) (569) �

(329) 1,719 898
Tax charge in respect of exchange adjustments � � (17)
Tax credit in respect of minimum pension liabilities 34 171 �
Comprehensive (deficit)/income (295) 1,890 881
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US GAAP intangible assets
An analysis of movements in intangible assets for the two years ended 30 June 2003 is as follows:

Other
Brands Goodwill intangibles Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million
Cost
At 30 June 2001 8,916 7,658 287 16,861
Exchange adjustments (243) (195) (10) (448)
Additions 2,765 572 7 3,344

An analysis of movements in the net book value of goodwill for the two years ended 30 June 2003, by segment, is as follows:

Premium Packaged
Quick

service
drinks food restaurants Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million
Goodwill � net book value
At 30 June 2001 2,848 2,722 672 6,242
Exchange adjustments (27) (81) (48) (156)
Additions 552 � 20 572
Impairment charge � � (135) (135)
Disposals (58) (2,641) (1) (2,700)
At 30 June 2002 3,315 � 508 3,823
Exchange adjustments (44) � (18) (62)
Additions 4 � 2 6
Burger King transaction* � � (492) (492)
Disposals (2) � � (2)
At 30 June 2003 3,273 � � 3,273
* In the year ended 30 June 2003 under UK GAAP, the sale of Burger King has been accounted for as a disposal. Under
US GAAP, the transaction was not accounted for as a disposal due to the size of the investment made by the buyer and Diageo�s
continuing involvement through the guarantee provided by Diageo in respect of the acquisition finance. On completion of the
transaction, a charge for impairment was recognised and Diageo included the total assets and liabilities of Burger King within �Other
long term assets� and �Other long term liabilities� which at 30 June 2003 were each £1.3 billion.
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The differences in the shareholders� equity reconciliation between UK and US GAAP for brands, goodwill and other intangibles are
attributable to historical cost differences of £3,691 million, £3,606 million and £108 million, respectively (2002 � £3,704 million,
£4,517 million and £234 million, respectively), less differences on accumulated amortisation of £621 million, £366 million and £68
million, respectively (2002 � £893 million, £783 million and £120 million, respectively). In addition, differences in relation to share of
associates� brands and goodwill are attributable to historical cost differences of £nil and £427 million, respectively (2002 � £nil and
£384 million, respectively), less differences on accumulated amortisation of £32 million and £40 million, respectively (2002 �
£31 million and £36 million, respectively).
     Additions to brands and goodwill of £23 million in the year ended 30 June 2003 are not subject to amortisation, but are reviewed
annually for impairment. Additions to other intangibles of £12 million in the year ended 30 June 2003 are in respect of distribution
rights which are amortised over a weighted average period of 10 years (2002 � 7 years). The estimated amortisation expense for the
other intangibles currently in the balance sheet for the succeeding five years is as follows:

For the year ending 30 June 2004    £10 million
For the year ending 30 June 2005    £9 million
For the year ending 30 June 2006    £9 million
For the year ending 30 June 2007    £9 million
For the year ending 30 June 2008    £7 million

The impairment charge in the year ended 30 June 2002 is in respect of goodwill in the quick service restaurants business. The
£135 million charge, based on discounted cash flows, arose as a consequence of reduced cash flows following a downturn in
activity of the business and also reflected the cash flows which were expected to arise from the anticipated disposal of Burger King.
The impairment charge has been included in �Burger King impairment charges and transaction costs� in the US GAAP statement of
income.

Exclusion of intangible asset amortisation
If amortisation expense (including any related tax effect) in respect of intangible assets that are no longer amortised under SFAS
No. 142 were excluded for all years presented, net income, basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share and per ADS would have
been as follows:

2003
(restated) 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

Net income
As reported under US GAAP 434 2,554 758
Brand amortisation � � 230
Goodwill amortisation � � 226
Adjusted net income 434 2,554 1,214
Basic earnings per ordinary share
As reported under US GAAP 13.9p 77.0p 22.4p
Brand amortisation � � 6.8p
Goodwill amortisation � � 6.7p
Adjusted basic earnings per ordinary share 13.9p 77.0p 35.9p
Diluted earnings per ordinary share
As reported under US GAAP 13.9p 77.0p 22.4p
Brand amortisation � � 6.8p
Goodwill amortisation � � 6.7p
Adjusted diluted earnings per ordinary share 13.9p 77.0p 35.9p
Basic earnings per ADS
As reported under US GAAP 55.6p 308.0p 89.6p
Brand amortisation � � 27.2p
Goodwill amortisation � � 26.8p
Adjusted basic earnings per ADS 55.6p 308.0p 143.6p
Diluted earnings per ADS
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As reported under US GAAP 55.6p 308.0p 89.6p
Brand amortisation � � 27.2p
Goodwill amortisation � � 26.8p
Adjusted diluted earnings per ADS 55.6p 308.0p 143.6p
The adjustment to net income for the year ended 30 June 2001 included £10 million of brand amortisation and £11 million of
goodwill amortisation in respect of associates.
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32 Reconciliation to US generally accepted accounting principles continued

New accounting standards and pronouncements in the United States In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) issued FIN No. 45, Guarantor�s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. The interpretation provides guidance on the guarantor�s accounting and disclosure
requirements for guarantees, including indirect guarantees of indebtedness of others. The accounting guidelines are applicable to
guarantees issued or amended after 31 December 2002 and require that a liability, at inception, be recorded for the fair value of
such guarantees in the balance sheet. Subsequent to 31 December 2002 Diageo has not entered into or modified any guarantees.
     In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation � Transition and Disclosure � an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 123. This statement amends SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to
provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation and requires certain additional disclosures in respect of stock-based compensation. The group has
adopted the disclosure requirements of this standard.
     In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51. FIN
No. 46 requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in
the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to
finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. FIN No. 46 is effective immediately for all
new variable interest entities created or acquired after 31 January 2003. For variable interest entities created or acquired prior to 1
February 2003 the provisions of FIN No. 46 must be applied for the first interim or annual period beginning after 15 June 2003.
Diageo does not expect the adoption of FIN No. 46 to have a material effect on the group.
     In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.
This statement amends and clarifies reporting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other
contracts and for hedging activities, and is effective for contracts entered into or modified after 30 June 2003.
     In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both
Liabilities and Equity. The statement requires issuers to classify as liabilities (or assets in some circumstances) three classes of
freestanding financial instruments that embody obligations for the issuer. Generally, SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial
instruments entered into or modified after 31 May 2003 and is otherwise effective at the beginning of the first interim period
beginning after 15 June 2003. The group did not enter into any financial instruments within the scope of the statement during
June 2003. The group has not yet completed its evaluation of the impact of SFAS No. 150 on its existing financial instruments
entered into on or before 31 May 2003.

Share option schemes Under US GAAP, the group has complied with APB No. 25 � Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.
     The group has also complied with the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation as
amended by SFAS No. 148. If the group had elected to recognise compensation expense based upon the fair value at grant date
for awards made in the three years ended 30 June 2003 under these plans consistent with the alternative methodology set out in
SFAS No. 123, net income and basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share would be the pro forma amounts indicated below.

2003
(restated) 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

Net income
As reported under US GAAP 434 2,554 758
Stock based compensation, net of related tax effects, included in the determination
of net income as reported (1) 14 36
Stock based employee compensation expense, under fair value based method for all
awards,
net of related tax effects (24) (25) (46)
Pro forma net income 409 2,543 748
Basic earnings per ordinary share
As reported under US GAAP 13.9p 77.0p 22.4p
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Pro forma basic earnings per ordinary share 13.1p 76.7p 22.1p
Diluted earnings per ordinary share
As reported under US GAAP 13.9p 77.0p 22.4p
Pro forma diluted earnings per ordinary share 13.1p 76.7p 22.1p
These pro forma amounts may not be representative as they are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of
judgement, and therefore cannot be determined precisely. Changes in assumptions could affect the estimates.
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32 Reconciliation to US generally accepted accounting principles continued

The fair value of options which, in determining the pro forma impact, is assumed to be amortised in the statement of income over
the option vesting period, is estimated on the date of grant using the Black Scholes option pricing model and the following weighted
average assumptions:

2003 2002 2001
Weighted average exercise price of options whose exercise price
equals the market price on the grant date (DSOP, DACSOP and
SESOP) 752p 687p 625p
Weighted average assumptions
Risk free interest rate 4.7% 4.6% 5.3%
Expected life of the options 60 months 60 months 60 months
Expected volatility 30% 30% 30%
Dividend yield 4.0% 3.0% 3.7%
Weighted average fair value of options granted in year 292p 248p 233p
Weighted average exercise price of options whose exercise price is
less than the market price on the grant date (SRSOS, USESPP and
International) 607p 540p 504p
Weighted average assumptions
Risk free interest rate 4.2% 4.4% 5.1%
Expected life of the options 38 months 39 months 38 months
Expected volatility 30% 30% 30%
Dividend yield 4.0% 3.0% 3.7%
Weighted average fair value of options granted in year 206p 223p 169p
Number of options granted in the year 14.7 million* 16.3 million* 16.1 million*
Fair value of all options granted in the year £40 million £40 million £35 million
* An option over one ADS has been treated as the equivalent of four options over ordinary shares. The TSR and DSIP plans are
not subject to the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123.

Pension plans The group operates a number of pension plans throughout the world, devised in accordance with local conditions
and practices. The plans generally are of the defined benefit type. The significant plans are in the United Kingdom, the United
States, Ireland and Canada. The principal plans are funded by payments to separately administered funds or insurance companies.

The totals of the group�s periodic pension credits/(charges) for defined benefit plans and the funded status of the significant plans,
calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 87, were as follows:

2003 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

Service cost (80) (71) (80)
Interest cost (243) (249) (251)
Expected return on assets 369 389 401
Amortisation of:
Unrecognised prior service cost (17) (17) (17)
Unrecognised transitional obligation � � 1
Unrecognised net gain � 5 23
Termination, curtailment and settlements 10 (14) (2)
Disposal of Pillsbury � (125) �
Net periodic pension income/(charge) 39 (82) 75
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32 Reconciliation to US generally accepted accounting principles continued

The funded status of the group�s significant defined benefit plans and the amounts that would be recognised in the
balance sheet under US GAAP were as follows:

2003 2002
£ million £ million

Projected benefit obligations at beginning of the year 4,127 4,424
Exchange adjustments 46 28
Canadian plan not previously disclosed 54 �
Service cost 80 71
Interest cost 243 249
Special termination settlements 8 15
Actuarial loss 408 162
Employee contributions 11 9
Benefits and expenses paid (203) (210)
Disposal of Pillsbury � (621)
Other disposals (59) �
Projected benefit obligations at end of the year 4,715 4,127
Plan assets at fair value at beginning of the year 3,841 5,525
Exchange adjustments 38 32
Canadian plan not previously disclosed 51 �
Actual return on plan assets (313) (716)
Contributions by the group 6 5
Employee contributions 11 9
Benefits and expenses paid (203) (210)
Disposal of Pillsbury � (804)
Other disposals (39) �
Plan assets at fair value at end of the year 3,392 3,841
Excess of benefit obligations over plan assets (1,323) (286)
Unrecognised prior service cost 116 132
Unrecognised net loss 1,952 844

745 690
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32 Reconciliation to US generally accepted accounting principles continued

The amounts that have been recognised in the US GAAP summary balance sheet are as follows:
2003 2002

£ million £ million
Pension prepayment 305 322
Accrued benefit liabilities (1,018) (336)
Intangible asset 119 135
Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,339 569

745 690
There are a number of pension plans in the United Kingdom, Ireland, the United States and Canada where the plan assets are less
than the accumulated benefit obligations at 30 June 2003. With respect to these plans, the aggregated projected benefit
obligations, accumulated benefit obligations and fair value of plan assets are £3,713 million, £3,522 million and £2,496 million,
respectively.

     The following weighted average assumptions were used to determine the group�s obligations for the significant plans:

US plans Non-US plans
2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001

% % % % % %
Discount rate 5.9 7.5 7.5 5.2 5.9 6.2
Expected return on plan assets 6.7 9.5 10 7.1 7.8 7.6
Salary increases 3.5 6.25 6.25 4.0 4.5 4.5
Contributions are made by the group, on actuarial advice, to provide assets sufficient to cover the benefit entitlements of plan
participants. Generally, benefits are based on a formula recognising length of service and earnings close to retirement.
Postretirement benefits other than pensions The group also operates a number of plans, primarily in the United States, which
provide employees with postretirement insurance. The plans are generally unfunded. The liability in respect of these benefits is
assessed by qualified independent actuaries under the projected unit method and is included in other long term liabilities.

      The postretirement medical and life insurance costs for the plans in the United States, calculated in accordance with SFAS No.
106,were as follows:

2003 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

Service cost (1) (2) (3)
Interest cost (6) (9) (15)
Expected return on assets 2 1 1
Amortisation of unrecognised net gain � 1 2
Disposal of Pillsbury � 174 �
Other terminations, curtailments and settlements 4 � �
Postretirement (charge)/income (1) 165 (15)
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32 Reconciliation to US generally accepted accounting principles continued
2003 2002

£ million £ million
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligations at beginning of the year 76 227
Exchange adjustments (6) (10)
Service cost 1 2
Interest cost 6 9
Canadian plan not previously disclosed 5 �
Plan amendments � 5
Actuarial loss/(gain) 19 (3)
Benefits and expenses paid (5) (9)
Disposal of Pillsbury � (145)
Other disposals (18) �
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligations at end of the year 78 76
Plan assets at fair value at beginning of the year 15 15
Exchange adjustments (1) (1)
Actual return on plan assets (1) 1
Contributions by the group 4 9
Benefits and expenses paid (5) (9)
Settlements (10) �
Plan assets at fair value at end of the year 2 15
Excess of benefit obligations over plan assets (76) (61)
Unrecognised prior service cost 4 4
Unrecognised net gain/(loss) 12 (6)
Accrued postretirement benefits at end of the year (60) (63)
The weighted average discount rate used for determining the obligations of postretirement medical plans is 5.9% (2002 � 7.5%;
2001 � 7.5%). Medical inflation for beneficiaries is 9% reducing by 1% per year to 5%.

     The impact on the service and interest cost of the postretirement cost and the accumulated postretirement benefit obligations of
a 1% increase and a 1% decrease in future medical care inflation is as follows:

2003 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million

Impact of 1% increase in medical care inflation rates:
Aggregate of service cost and interest cost 1 1 2
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligations at end of the year 8 8 15
Impact of 1% decrease in medical care inflation rates:
Aggregate of service cost and interest cost (1) (1) (1)
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligations at end of the year (7) (7) (14)
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Principal group companies

The companies listed below include those which principally affect the profits and assets of the group. The operating companies
listed below may carry on the business described in the countries listed in conjunction with their subsidiaries and other group
companies. A full list of subsidiaries, all of which are consolidated, will be included in the company�s next annual return having
made use of the exemption in Section 231 of the Companies Act 1985.

Country of Country of
Percentage

of

incorporation operation
equity
owned Business description

Premium drinks
Diageo Ireland Ireland Worldwide 100% Production, marketing and

(formerly Guinness UDV Ireland)
distribution of premium
drinks.

Diageo Great Britain Limited England Worldwide 100% Production, marketing and

(formerly Guinness United Distillers
distribution of premium
drinks.

& Vintners Limited)
Diageo Scotland Limited Scotland Worldwide 100% Production, marketing and

(formerly Guinness United Distillers
distribution of premium
drinks.

& Vintners Scotland Limited)
Guinness United Distillers & Vintners BV Netherlands Worldwide 100% Production, marketing and

distribution of premium
drinks.

Guinness United Distillers & Vintners Netherlands Worldwide 100% Production, marketing and

Amsterdam BV
distribution of premium
drinks.

Diageo North America, Inc
United
States Worldwide 100% Production, importing and

(formerly Guinness UDV North America,
Inc)

marketing of premium
drinks.

Joseph E Seagram & Sons, Inc
United
States Worldwide 100% Production, marketing and

(merged into Diageo North America, Inc
distribution of premium
drinks.

on 16 December 2002)
Quick service restaurants

Burger King Corporation
United
States Worldwide 100% Quick service restaurants.

(disposed of on 13 December 2002)
Corporate

Diageo Capital plc (a) Scotland
United

Kingdom 100%
Financing company for the
group.

Diageo Finance plc (a) England
United

Kingdom 100%
Financing company for the
group.

Diageo Investment Corporation
United
States

United
States 100%

Financing company for US
group.

Associates
Moët Hennessy, SNC (b) France Worldwide 34% Production and distribution

of premium drinks.
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General Mills, Inc (c)
United
States Worldwide 21% Manufacture and marketing

of consumer food products.
(a) Directly owned by Diageo plc.
(b) French partnership.
(c) The group owns 79 million shares of common stock (par value $0.10 each) in General Mills, Inc.
All percentages, unless otherwise stated, relate to holdings of ordinary share capital and are equivalent to the percentages of
voting rights held by the group.
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Unaudited computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges and preferred share
dividends

Under UK GAAP (unaudited)

Year ended 30 June
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

£
million £ million £ million £ million £ million

Earnings
Income before taxes on income, and minority interests 654 2,336 1,722 1,451 1,467
Loss/(income) from discontinued operations
before taxes on income and minority interests 1,235 (606) (536) (581) (527)
Less: Share of associates income other than 50% associates (379) (200) (169) (161) (152)
Add: Dividend income receivable from associates other than
50% associates 57 76 84 44 41
Add: Fixed charges 574 563 498 515 475
Less: Preferred share dividends payable (35) (38) (37) (37) (36)

2,106 2,131 1,562 1,231 1,268
Fixed charges
Interest payable 522 515 450 466 431
Add: Preferred share dividends payable 35 38 37 37 36
Add: Share of 50% associates interest payable � � 1 � 1
Add: One third of rental expense for continuing operations 17 10 10 12 7

574 563 498 515 475

ratio ratio ratio ratio ratio
Ratio 3.7 3.8 3.1 2.4 2.7

Under US GAAP (unaudited)

Year ended 30 June
2003

(restated) 2002 2001 2000 1999
£

million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Earnings
Net income from continuing operations 434 2,554 758 798 392
Add: Minority interest charges 92 87 80 74 85
Add: Taxes on income from continuing operations 502 706 309 317 286
Less: Share of unconsolidated affiliates
income other than 50% unconsolidated affiliates (384) (239) (106) (142) (229)
Add: Dividend income receivable from
unconsolidated affiliates other than 50% unconsolidated affiliates 57 76 84 44 41
Add: Fixed charges 672 1,029 545 552 499
Less: Preferred share dividends payable (35) (38) (37) (37) (36)

1,338 4,175 1,633 1,606 1,038
Fixed charges
Interest payable 609 950 461 469 433
Add: Preferred share dividends payable 35 38 37 37 36
Add: Share of 50% unconsolidated affiliates interest payable 1 1 2 2 1
Add: One third of rental expense for continuing operations 27 40 45 44 29

672 1,029 545 552 499
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ratio ratio ratio ratio ratio
Ratio 2.0 4.1 3.0 2.9 2.1

As described in note 32 of the consolidated financial statements US GAAP net income from continuing operations and taxes on
income from continuing operations have been reduced and increased by £53 million, respectively.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant certifies that it meets all of the
requirements for filing on Form 20-F/A and has duly caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorised.

Diageo plc
(Registrant)
/s/ NC ROSE

NC Rose
Chief Financial Officer
4 February 2004
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Exhibits

1.1 Memorandum and Articles of Association of Diageo plc (incorporated by reference to Diageo plc�s Form 6-K filed on 15
November 2002)

2.1 Indenture, among Diageo Capital plc, Diageo plc and Citibank N.A., dated as of 3 August 1998 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.1 to Diageo plc�s Registration Statement on Form F-3 (File No. 333-8874))

2.2 Indenture, among Diageo Investment Corporation, Diageo plc and Citibank N.A., dated as of 1 June 1999 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.2 to Diageo plc�s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 30 June 2001 (File No. 1-10691))

2.3 Indenture, among Diageo Finance B.V., Diageo plc and Citibank N.A., dated as of 8 December 2003 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 1 to Diageo plc�s Form 6-K filed on 9 December 2003)

4.1 Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Agreement among Gramet Holdings Corp., Diageo plc and Delaware Champion
Acquisition Corporation, dated as of 13 December 2002 (incorporated by reference to Diageo plc�s Form 6-K filed on 10
January 2003)

4.2 First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated 12 April 2001 by and among General Mills, Inc., General Mills
North American Businesses, Inc., Diageo plc and The Pillsbury Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
Diageo plc�s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 30 June 2001 (Commission File No. 1-10691))

4.3 Second Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of 31 October 2001 by and among General Mills, Inc.,
General Mills North American Businesses, Inc., Diageo plc and The Pillsbury Company (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 to Diageo plc�s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 30 June 2001 (Commission File No. 1-10691))

4.4 Stockholders Agreement, dated 31 October 2001 by and among General Mills, Inc., Gramet Holdings Corporation and
Diageo plc (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Diageo plc�s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 30
June 2001 (Commission File No. 1-10691))

4.5 Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement among Vivendi Universal S.A., Pernod Ricard S.A. and Diageo plc, dated as of 19
December 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Registration Statement on Form F-4 (No. 333-55000) filed by
Vivendi Universal) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to Diageo plc�s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended
30 June 2001 (Commission File No. 1-10691))

4.6 SOFIA: an agreement relating to the termination of the Framework and Implementation Agreement between Diageo plc
and Pernod Ricard S.A., dated 21 December 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to Diageo plc�s Annual Report
on Form 20-F for the year ended 30 June 2003 (Commission File No. 1-10691))

4.7 Service Agreement, among Diageo plc and Paul Walsh, dated 7 October 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to
Diageo plc�s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 30 June 2001 (Commission File No. 1-10691))

4.8 Service Agreement, among Diageo plc and Nicholas Rose, dated 1 October 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7
to Diageo plc�s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 30 June 2001 (Commission File No. 1-10691))

4.9 Letter Agreement, among Diageo plc and Lord Blyth of Rowington, dated 7 October 1999 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.8 to Diageo plc�s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 30 June 2001 (Commission File No. 1-10691))

4.10 Letter of Agreement, among Diageo plc and Lord Blyth of Rowington, dated 7 March 2002 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.10 to Diageo plc�s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 30 June 2003 (Commission File No. 1-10691))

4.11 Letter of Agreement, among Diageo plc and Lord Blyth of Rowington, dated 10 September 2003 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.11 to Diageo plc�s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 30 June 2003 (Commission File
No. 1-10691))

Edgar Filing: DIAGEO PLC - Form 20-F/A

Table of Contents 179



4.12 Form of Service Agreement for Diageo plc�s executives in the United Kingdom (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.12 to
Diageo plc�s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 30 June 2003 (Commission File No. 1-10691))

4.13 Form of Service Agreement for Diageo plc�s executives in the United States (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.13 to
Diageo plc�s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 30 June 2003 (Commission File No. 1-10691))

4.14 The Diageo plc Senior Executive Share Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Diageo plc�s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-11462))

4.15 The Diageo plc Executive Share Option Plan Rules (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Diageo plc�s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-11460))

4.16 The Diageo plc Associated Companies Share Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to Diageo plc�s Annual
Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 30 June 2001 (File No. 1-10691))

4.17 Diageo plc Long Term Incentive Plan Rules (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to Diageo plc�s Annual Report on
Form 20-F for the year ended 30 June 2001 (File No. 1-10691))

4.18 The Diageo plc Share Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to Diageo plc�s Annual Report on Form 20-F
for the year ended 30 June 2001 (File No. 1-10691))

8.1 Principal group companies (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 8.1 to Diageo plc�s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the
year ended 30 June 2003 (Commission File No. 1-10691))

12.1 Certification of Paul S. Walsh filed pursuant to 17 CFR 240.13a-14(a)

12.2 Certification of Nicholas C. Rose filed pursuant to 17 CFR 240.13a-14(a)

13.1 Certification of Paul S. Walsh furnished pursuant to 17 CFR 240.13a-14(b) and 18 U.S.C./1350(a) and (b)

13.2 Certification of Nicholas C. Rose furnished pursuant to 17 CFR 240.13a-14(b) and 18 U.S.C./1350 (a) and (b)

14.1 Consent of independent auditor
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Cross reference to Form 20-F/A

The information in this document that is referenced in the following table and the cautionary statement concerning forward-looking
statements on page 18 is included in Diageo�s 2003 Form 20-F and is filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

* This Item has been amended in this Form 20-F/A as stated in the Explanatory Note.
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Glossary of terms and US equivalents

In this document the following words and expressions shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the following meanings:

Term used in UK annual report US equivalent or definition
Accounts Financial statements
Acquisition accounting Purchase accounting
Associates Affiliated companies
American Depositary Receipt (ADR) Receipt evidencing ownership of an ADS
American Depositary Share (ADS) Registered negotiable security, listed on the New York Stock

Exchange, representing four Diageo plc ordinary shares of 28
101/108 pence each

Called up share capital Common stock
Capital allowances Tax depreciation
Capital redemption reserve Other additional capital
Company Diageo plc
Creditors Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Debtors Receivables
Employee share schemes Employee stock benefit plans
Employment or staff costs Payroll costs
Equivalent units Equivalent units are calculated as follows: beer in hectolitres

divide by 0.9, wine in nine litre cases divide by five, ready to
drink in nine litre cases divide by 10. An equivalent unit
represents approximately 272 servings. A serving comprises
33ml of spirits; 165ml of wine; or 330ml of ready to drink or
beer.

Euro, � Euro currency
Exceptional items Items that, in management�s judgement, need to be disclosed

separately by virtue of their size or incidence. Exceptional
items under UK GAAP do not represent extraordinary items
under US GAAP

Finance lease Capital lease
Financial year Fiscal year
Fixed asset investments Non-current investments
Free cash flow Net cash flow arising from operating activities, dividends

received from associates, returns on investments and
servicing of finance, taxation, and capital expenditure and
financial investment

Freehold Ownership with absolute rights in perpetuity
GAAP Generally accepted accounting principles
GrandMet Grand Metropolitan Public Limited Company and its

consolidated subsidiaries
GrandMet PLC Grand Metropolitan Public Limited Company
Group and Diageo Diageo plc and its consolidated subsidiaries
Guinness Group Former Guinness PLC and its consolidated subsidiaries
Impact An international drinks magazine that is independent from

industry participants
Interests in associates and joint ventures Investment in joint ventures
Loans to associates and joint ventures Indebtedness to joint ventures
Merger Merger of Grand Metropolitan Public Limited Company and

Guinness PLC, effective 17 December 1997
Merger accounting Pooling of interests
Net asset value Book value
Net sales (after deducting excise duties) Turnover less excise duties
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Noon buying rate Buying rate at noon in New York City for cable transfers in
pounds sterling as certified for customs purposes by the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York

Operating profit Net operating income
Operating margin Operating profit before exceptional items divided by turnover
Organic movement At level exchange and after adjusting for acquisitions and

disposals for continuing operations
Own shares Treasury stock
Pillsbury The Pillsbury Company
Pound sterling, sterling, £, pence, p UK currency
Profit Earnings
Profit and loss account Income statement/statement of operations
Profit for financial year Net income
Profit on sale of fixed assets Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Provisions Accruals for losses/contingencies
Recognised gains and losses Comprehensive income
Redundancy charges Early release scheme expenses
Reserves Accumulated earnings
RPI UK retail price index
Scrip dividend Stock dividend
Share premium account Additional paid-in capital or paid-in surplus
Shareholders� funds Shareholders� equity
Shares Common stock
Shares and ordinary shares Diageo plc�s ordinary shares
Shares in issue Shares issued and outstanding
Stocks Inventories
Tangible fixed assets Property, plant and equipment
Trade debtors Accounts receivable (net)
Turnover Revenue/sales
US dollars, US$, $, ¢ US currency
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